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CAUTIONARY NOTICE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

Statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q include certain forward-looking statements, which include statements regarding our intent, belief or 
expectations and all statements other than those made solely with respect to historical fact. Actual results could differ materially from those reflected by the 
forward-looking statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and a number of factors may adversely affect the forward-looking statements and our 
future results, liquidity, capital resources or prospects. These include, but are not limited to, risks related to public health and safety issues, including, for 
example, risks related to COVID-19; disruptions to our business, sales, supply chain and financial results; the level of consumer spending on our 
merchandise and interest in our brands and in general, the level and timing of promotional activity necessary to maintain inventories at appropriate levels; 
our ability to pass on price increases to our customers; the timing and amount of any share repurchases by us; risks related to doing business internationally, 
including the manufacturing of a portion of our products in China; the imposition of tariffs on products imported by us or our vendors as well as the ability 
and costs to move production of products in response to tariffs; our ability to obtain from suppliers products that are in-demand on a timely basis and 
effectively manage disruptions in product supply or distribution; unfavorable trends in fuel costs, foreign exchange rates, foreign labor and material costs; a 
disruption in shipping or increase in cost of our imported products, and other factors affecting the cost of products; our dependence on third-party vendors 
and licensors for the products we sell; the effects of the withdrawal of the United Kingdom ("U.K.") from the European Union ("Brexit"), impacts of the 
Russia-Ukraine war, and other sources of market weakness in the U.K. and the Republic of Ireland (the “ROI”); the effectiveness of our omnichannel 
initiatives; costs associated with changes in minimum wage and overtime requirements; wage pressure in the U.S. and the U.K.; labor shortages; the effects 
of inflation, including our ability to pass increased cost on to consumers; effects resulting from wars and other military operations; the evolving regulatory 
landscape related to our use of social media; the establishment and protection of our intellectual property; weakness in the consumer economy and retail 
industry; competition and fashion trends in our markets, including trends with respect to the popularity of casual and dress footwear; weakness in shopping 
mall traffic; any failure to increase sales at our existing stores, given our high fixed expense cost structure, and in our e-commerce businesses; risks related 
to the potential for terrorist events; changes in buying patterns by significant wholesale customers; changes in consumer preferences; our ability to continue 
to complete and integrate acquisitions; our ability to expand our business and diversify our product base; impairment of goodwill in connection with
acquisitions; payment related risks that could increase our operating cost, expose us to fraud or theft, subject us to potential liability and disrupt our 
business; retained liabilities associated with divestitures of businesses including potential liabilities under leases as the prior tenant or as a guarantor of 
certain leases; and changes in the timing of holidays or in the onset of seasonal weather affecting period-to-period sales comparisons.  Additional factors 
that could cause differences from expectations include our ability to open additional retail stores, renew leases in existing stores, control or lower 
occupancy costs, to conduct required remodeling or refurbishment on schedule and at expected expense levels; realize anticipated cost savings, including 
rent savings; realize any anticipated tax benefits in both the amount and timeframe anticipated, and achieve expected digital gains and gain market share; 
deterioration in the performance of individual businesses or of our market value relative to our book value, resulting in impairments of fixed assets, 
operating lease right of use assets or intangible assets or other adverse financial consequences and the timing and amount of such impairments or other 
consequences; unexpected changes to the market for our shares or for the retail sector in general; our ability to meet our sustainability, stewardship, 
emission and diversity, equity and inclusion related ESG projections, goals and commitments; costs and reputational harm as a result of disruptions in our 
business or information technology systems either by security breaches and incidents or by potential problems associated with the implementation of new 
or upgraded systems, and the cost and outcome of litigation, investigations and environmental matters that involve us. For a full discussion of risk factors, 
see Item 1A, "Risk Factors".

Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on forward-looking statements as such statements speak only as of the date they were made and involve 
risks and uncertainties that could cause actual events or results to differ materially from the events or results described in the forward-looking statements. 
The most important factors which could cause our actual results to differ from our forward-looking statements are set forth in our description of risk factors 
in Item 1A contained in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 29, 2022,  which should be read in conjunction with the 
forward-looking statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date they are made, and we do not
undertake any obligation to update any forward-looking statement.

The events described in the forward-looking statements might not occur or might occur to a different extent or at a different time than we have described. 
As a result, our actual results may differ materially from the results contemplated by these forward-looking statements. 

We maintain a website at www.genesco.com where investors and other interested parties may obtain, free of charge, press releases and other information as 
well as gain access to our periodic filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). The information contained on this website should not be 
considered to be a part of this or any other report filed with or furnished to the SEC.
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PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Financial Statements (unaudited)

 
Genesco Inc. and Subsidiaries

Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In thousands, except share amounts)

 
Assets  October 29, 2022   January 29, 2022   October 30, 2021  
Current Assets:          
Cash  $ 32,113   $ 320,525   $ 282,764  
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $5,910 at October 29, 2022,          
   $4,656 at January 29, 2022 and $4,947 at October 30, 2021   48,670    39,509    36,991  
Inventories   563,490    278,200    339,198  
Prepaids and other current assets   37,575    71,564    85,476  
Total current assets   681,848    709,798    744,429  
Property and equipment, net   221,207    216,308    207,489  
Operating lease right of use assets   483,403    543,789    573,842  
Non-current prepaid income taxes   52,319    —    —  
Goodwill   37,903    38,556    38,864  
Other intangibles   26,208    29,855    30,592  
Deferred income taxes   12,168    1,466    —  
Other noncurrent assets   21,937    22,327    21,593  
Total Assets   1,536,993    1,562,099    1,616,809  
Liabilities and Equity          
Current Liabilities:          
Accounts payable   223,404    152,484    196,024  
Current portion - long-term debt   3,484    —    —  
Current portion - operating lease liabilities   136,294    145,088    144,453  
Other accrued liabilities   82,193    134,156    133,569  
Total current liabilities   445,375    431,728    474,046  
Long-term debt   85,904    15,679    15,610  
Long-term operating lease liabilities   413,096    471,878    490,330  
Other long-term liabilities   33,275    40,346    44,399  
Total liabilities   977,650    959,631    1,024,385  
Commitments and contingent liabilities          
Equity          

Non-redeemable preferred stock   817    827    827  
Common equity:          

Common stock, $1 par value:          
Authorized: 80,000,000 shares          
 Issued common stock   13,101    14,256    15,071  

Additional paid-in capital   301,692    291,444    288,813  
Retained earnings   307,921    350,206    339,447  
Accumulated other comprehensive loss   (46,331 )   (36,408 )   (33,877 )
Treasury shares, at cost (488,464 shares)   (17,857 )   (17,857 )   (17,857 )

Total equity   559,343    602,468    592,424  
Total Liabilities and Equity  $ 1,536,993   $ 1,562,099   $ 1,616,809  
 
The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Genesco Inc. and Subsidiaries

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

 
 
  Three Months Ended   Nine Months Ended  
 

 
October 29, 

2022   
October 30, 

2021   
October 29, 

2022   
October 30, 

2021  
Net sales  $ 603,788   $ 600,546   $ 1,659,868   $ 1,694,424  
Cost of sales   309,981    305,345    860,303    869,039  
Gross margin   293,807    295,201    799,565    825,385  
Selling and administrative expenses   267,734    251,131    756,318    743,147  
Asset impairments and other, net   —    314    (154 )   10,054  
Operating income   26,073    43,756    43,401    72,184  
Other components of net periodic benefit cost   50    55    198    72  
Interest expense, net   906    585    1,608    1,931  
Earnings from continuing operations before income taxes   25,117    43,116    41,595    70,181  
Income tax expense   4,693    10,135    8,551    17,432  
Earnings from continuing operations   20,424    32,981    33,044    52,749  
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax   (48 )   (86 )   (78 )   (39 )
Net Earnings  $ 20,376   $ 32,895   $ 32,966   $ 52,710  
              
Basic earnings per common share:             

Continuing operations  $ 1.68   $ 2.30   $ 2.61   $ 3.69  
Discontinued operations   —    —    —    (0.01 )
Net earnings  $ 1.68   $ 2.30   $ 2.61   $ 3.68  

             
Diluted earnings per common share:             

Continuing operations  $ 1.66   $ 2.26   $ 2.56   $ 3.60  
Discontinued operations   (0.01 )   (0.01 )   —    —  
Net earnings  $ 1.65   $ 2.25   $ 2.56   $ 3.60  
             

Weighted average shares outstanding:             
Basic   12,138    14,314    12,637    14,313  
Diluted   12,326    14,616    12,901    14,643  

 
The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Genesco Inc. and Subsidiaries

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
(In thousands)

 
 
  Three Months Ended   Nine Months Ended  
  

October 29, 2022  
 October 30, 

2021  
 

October 29, 2022  
 October 30, 

2021  
Net earnings  $ 20,376   $ 32,895   $ 32,966   $ 52,710  
Other comprehensive income (loss):             

Postretirement liability adjustments, net of tax   13    21    76    (2 )
Foreign currency translation adjustments   (4,420 )   (470 )   (9,999 )   1,184  
Total other comprehensive income (loss)   (4,407 )   (449 )   (9,923 )   1,182  

Comprehensive Income  $ 15,969   $ 32,446   $ 23,043   $ 53,892  
 
The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Genesco Inc. and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(In thousands)
 
  Nine Months Ended  
  October 29, 2022   October 30, 2021  
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:       
Net earnings  $ 32,966   $ 52,710  
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash provided by (used in)       

operating activities:       
Depreciation and amortization   31,901    32,258  
Deferred income taxes   (10,728 )   (11,101 )
Impairment of long-lived assets   542    2,049  
Share-based compensation expense   10,464    6,476  
Other   999    1,103  

Changes in working capital and other assets and liabilities, net of 
   acquisitions/dispositions:

 
  

 
  

Accounts receivable   (10,224 )   (5,458 )
Inventories   (293,904 )   (48,131 )
Prepaids and other current assets   33,133    44,711  
Accounts payable   70,312    46,314  
Other accrued liabilities   (45,194 )   53,515  
Other assets and liabilities   (64,237 )   (22,332 )

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities   (243,970 )   152,114  
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:       

Capital expenditures   (39,845 )   (34,507 )
Proceeds from asset sales   —    12  
Other   —    74  

Net cash used in investing activities   (39,845 )   (34,421 )
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:       

Borrowings under revolving credit facility   212,086    25,279  
Payments on revolving credit facility   (136,375 )   (42,935 )
Shares repurchased related to share repurchase plan   (77,470 )   (28,474 )
Shares repurchased related to taxes for share-based awards   (3,942 )   (4,076 )
Change in overdraft balances   4,052    (459 )
Other   2    (35 )

Net cash used in financing activities   (1,647 )   (50,700 )
Effect of foreign exchange rate fluctuations on cash   (2,950 )   680  
Net increase (decrease) in cash   (288,412 )   67,673  
Cash at beginning of period   320,525    215,091  
Cash at end of period  $ 32,113   $ 282,764  
Supplemental information:       

Interest paid  $ 1,276   $ 1,714  
Income taxes paid (refunded)   33,941    (20,916 )
Cash paid for amounts included in measurement of operating lease liabilities   135,116    152,240  
Operating lease assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liabilities   71,598    68,773  

 
The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Genesco Inc. and Subsidiaries

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Equity
(In thousands)

 

 

Non-
Redeemable

Preferred
Stock  

Common
Stock  

Additional
Paid-In
Capital  

Retained
Earnings  

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss  

Treasury
Shares  

Total
Equity  

Balance January 30, 2021 $ 1,009  $ 15,438  $ 282,308  $ 320,920  $ (35,059 ) $ (17,857 ) $ 566,759  
Net earnings  —   —   —   8,878   —   —   8,878  
Other comprehensive income  —   —   —   —   1,458   —   1,458  
Share-based compensation expense  —   —   1,912   —   —   —   1,912  
Other  (181 )  6   176   —   —   —   1  
Balance May 1, 2021  828   15,444   284,396   329,798   (33,601 )  (17,857 )  579,008  
Net earnings  —   —   —   10,937   —   —   10,937  
Other comprehensive income  —   —   —   —   173   —   173  
Share-based compensation expense  —   —   2,055   —   —   —   2,055  
Restricted stock issuance  —   219   (219 )  —   —   —   —  
Restricted shares withheld for taxes  —   (64 )  64   (4,076 )  —   —   (4,076 )
Other  —   (2 )  2   —   —   —   —  
Balance July 31, 2021  828   15,597   286,298   336,659   (33,428 )  (17,857 )  588,097  
Net earnings  —   —   —   32,895   —   —   32,895  
Share-based compensation expense  —   —   2,509   —   —   —   2,509  
Shares repurchased  —   (522 )  —   (30,107 )  —   —   (30,629 )
Other comprehensive loss  —   —   —   —   (449 )  —   (449 )
Other  (1 )  (4 )  6   —   —   —   1  
Balance October 30, 2021 $ 827  $ 15,071  $ 288,813  $ 339,447  $ (33,877 ) $ (17,857 ) $ 592,424  

               
               
 Non-

Redeemable
Preferred

Stock  
Common

Stock  

Additional
Paid-In
Capital  

Retained
Earnings  

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss  

Treasury
Shares  

Total
Equity  

Balance January 29, 2022 $ 827  $ 14,256  $ 291,444  $ 350,206  $ (36,408 ) $ (17,857 ) $ 602,468  
Net earnings  —   —   —   4,947   —   —   4,947  
Other comprehensive loss  —   —   —   —   (3,817 )  —   (3,817 )
Share-based compensation expense  —   —   3,239   —   —   —   3,239  
Restricted stock issuance  —   78   (78 )  —   —   —   —  
Shares repurchased  —   (104 )  —   (6,396 )  —   —   (6,500 )
Other  (9 )  (13 )  23   —   —   —   1  
 Balance April 30, 2022  818   14,217   294,628   348,757   (40,225 )  (17,857 )  600,338  
Net earnings  —   —   —   7,643   —   —   7,643  
Other comprehensive loss  —   —   —   —   (1,699 )  —   (1,699 )
Share-based compensation expense  —   —   3,549   —   —   —   3,549  
Restricted stock issuance  —   239   (239 )  —   —   —   —  
Shares repurchased  —   (826 )  —   (44,596 )  —   —   (45,422 )
Restricted shares withheld for taxes  —   (72 )  72   (3,875 )  —   —   (3,875 )
Other  —   (1 )  —   —   —   —   (1 )
Balance July 30, 2022  818   13,557   298,010   307,929   (41,924 )  (17,857 )  560,533  
Net earnings  —   —   —   20,376   —   —   20,376  
Other comprehensive loss  —   —   —   —   (4,407 )  —   (4,407 )
Share-based compensation expense  —   —   3,676   —   —   —   3,676  
Restricted shares withheld for taxes  —   (2 )  2   (67 )  —   —   (67 )
Shares repurchased  —   (451 )  —   (20,317 )  —   —   (20,768 )
Other  (1 )  (3 )  4   —   —   —   —  
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Balance October 29, 2022 $ 817  $ 13,101  $ 301,692  $ 307,921  $ (46,331 ) $ (17,857 ) $ 559,343  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Genesco Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited)

 
 
Note 1
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes contained in this report are unaudited but reflect all adjustments, including normal recurring 
adjustments, necessary for a fair presentation of the results for the interim periods of the fiscal year ending January 28, 2023 ("Fiscal 2023") and of the 
fiscal year ended January 29, 2022 ("Fiscal 2022"). All subsidiaries are consolidated in the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements. All significant 
intercompany transactions and accounts have been eliminated.  The results of operations for any interim period are not necessarily indicative of results for 
the full year. The Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements and the related Notes have been prepared in accordance with the instructions to Form 10-Q 
and do not include all of the information and footnotes required by U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”) for complete financial 
statements. The Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet as of January 29, 2022 has been derived from the audited financial statements at that date. These 
Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements should be read in conjunction with our Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes for Fiscal 2022, which 
are contained in our Annual Report on Form 10-K as filed with the SEC on March 23, 2022.

Nature of Operations

Genesco Inc. and its subsidiaries (collectively the "Company", "Genesco," "we", "our", or "us") business includes the sourcing and design, marketing and 
distribution of footwear and accessories through retail stores in the U.S., Puerto Rico and Canada primarily under the Journeys®, Journeys Kidz®, Little 
Burgundy® and Johnston & Murphy® banners and under the Schuh® banner in the United Kingdom (“U.K.”) and the Republic of Ireland (“ROI”); through 
catalogs and e-commerce websites including the following: journeys.com, journeyskidz.com, journeys.ca, littleburgundyshoes.com, schuh.co.uk, schuh.ie, 
schuh.eu, johnstonmurphy.com, johnstonmurphy.ca, nashvilleshoewarehouse.com and dockersshoes.com and at wholesale, primarily under our Johnston & 
Murphy brand, the licensed Levi's® brand, the licensed Dockers® brand, the licensed G.H. Bass® brand and other brands that we license for footwear.  At 
October 29, 2022, we operated 1,404 retail stores in the U.S., Puerto Rico, Canada, the U.K. and the ROI.

During the three and nine months ended October 29, 2022 and October 30, 2021, we operated four reportable business segments (not including corporate):
(i) Journeys Group, comprised of the Journeys, Journeys Kidz and Little Burgundy retail footwear chains and e-commerce operations; (ii) Schuh Group, 
comprised of the Schuh retail footwear chain and e-commerce operations; (iii) Johnston & Murphy Group, comprised of Johnston & Murphy retail 
operations, e-commerce operations and wholesale distribution of products under the Johnston & Murphy brand; and (iv) Licensed Brands, comprised of the 
licensed Dockers, Levi's, and G.H. Bass brands, as well as other brands we license for footwear.

Selling and Administrative Expenses

Wholesale costs of distribution are included in selling and administrative expenses on the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations in the amount 
of $3.7 million and $2.7 million for the third quarters of Fiscal 2023 and Fiscal 2022, respectively, and $9.5 million and $9.9 million for the first nine 
months of Fiscal 2023 and Fiscal 2022, respectively. 

Retail occupancy costs recorded in selling and administrative expense were $77.5 million and $75.0 million for the third quarters of Fiscal 2023 and Fiscal 
2022, respectively, and $231.8 million and $220.9 million for the first nine months of Fiscal 2023 and Fiscal 2022, respectively.  Fiscal 2022 included 
COVID-related rent credits and government property tax relief.
 
Advertising Costs

Advertising costs were $31.3 million and $27.0 million for the third quarters of Fiscal 2023 and Fiscal 2022, respectively, and $81.4 million and $71.6 
million for the first nine months of Fiscal 2023 and Fiscal 2022, respectively. 

Vendor Allowances

Vendor reimbursements of cooperative advertising costs recognized as a reduction of selling and administrative expenses were $5.0 million and $2.3 
million for the third quarters of Fiscal 2023 and Fiscal 2022, respectively, and $11.7 million and $7.7 million for the first nine months of Fiscal 2023 and 
Fiscal 2022, respectively.   During the first nine months of each of Fiscal 2023 and Fiscal 2022, our cooperative advertising reimbursements received were 
not in excess of the costs incurred.
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Genesco Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited)

 
 
 
Note 1
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, Continued
 
Income Taxes

In the fourth quarter of Fiscal 2021, we implemented tax strategies allowed under the 5-year carryback provisions in the CARES Act which we believed 
would generate approximately $55 million of net tax refunds.  We received approximately $26 million of such net tax refunds in Fiscal 2022 and 
anticipated receipt of the remaining outstanding net tax refund in Fiscal 2023. However, in the third quarter of Fiscal 2023, we were notified the IRS would 
conduct an audit of the periods related to the outstanding net tax refund. While we do not believe any uncertainty with the technical merits of the positions 
generating the net tax refunds exists, we do anticipate the timing of the net tax refund will be extended as a result of the audit process.  Accordingly, we 
have adjusted the presentation of the outstanding refund to non-current prepaid income taxes on the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets for Fiscal 
2023.
 
COVID-19 Pandemic

The COVID-19 pandemic has created significant public health concerns as well as economic disruption, uncertainty, and volatility which may negatively 
affect our business operations. As a result, if the pandemic persists or worsens, our accounting estimates and assumptions could be impacted in subsequent 
interim reports and upon final determination at year-end, and it is reasonably possible such changes could be significant.

New Accounting Pronouncements

We do not currently have any new accounting pronouncements pending adoption.

Note 2
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by segment were as follows:
 

(In thousands)

 
Journeys

Group  

 Licensed
Brands
Group  

 
Total

Goodwill  
Balance, January 29, 2022  $ 10,087   $ 28,469   $ 38,556  
Effect of foreign currency exchange rates   (637 )   (16 )   (653 )
Balance, October 29, 2022  $ 9,450   $ 28,453   $ 37,903  
   

Other intangibles by major classes were as follows:
 
  Trademarks  Customer Lists   Other   Total  

(In thousands)
 Oct. 29, 

2022  
 Jan. 29,

2022  
Oct. 29, 

2022  
 Jan. 29,

2022  
 Oct. 29, 

2022  
 Jan. 29,

2022  
 Oct. 29, 

2022   
Jan. 29,

2022  
Gross other intangibles  $ 22,713   $ 25,935  $ 6,393   $ 6,586   $ 400   $ 400   $ 29,506   $ 32,921  
Accumulated amortization   —    —   (2,898 )   (2,666 )   (400 )   (400 )   (3,298 )   (3,066 )
Net Other Intangibles  $ 22,713   $ 25,935  $ 3,495   $ 3,920   $ —   $ —   $ 26,208   $ 29,855  
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Genesco Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited)

 
 
 

Note 3
Asset Impairments and Other Charges 

Asset impairment and other charges for the first nine months ended October 29, 2022 are not considered material.

We recorded pretax charges of $0.3 million in the third quarter of Fiscal 2022, including $0.1 million for professional fees related to actions of an activist 
shareholder and $0.2 for retail store asset impairments.  We recorded charges of $10.1 million in the first nine months of Fiscal 2022, including $8.6 million 
for professional fees related to actions of an activist shareholder and $2.0 million for retail store asset impairments, partially offset by a $0.6 million 
insurance gain. 
 

Note 4
Inventories
 
Inventories
 
(In thousands)  October 29, 2022   January 29, 2022  
Wholesale finished goods  $ 71,425   $ 28,432  
Retail merchandise   492,065    249,768  
Total Inventories  $ 563,490   $ 278,200  
 
Note 5
Fair Value

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts and fair values of our financial instruments at October 29, 2022 and January 29, 2022 are as follows:

 
Fair Values    
(In thousands)  October 29, 2022   January 29, 2022  

  
Carrying
Amount   

Fair
Value   

Carrying
Amount   

Fair
Value  

U.S. Revolver Borrowings  $ 85,904   $ 85,716   $ 15,679   $ 15,679  
U.K. Revolver Borrowings   3,484    3,413    —    —  
 
Debt fair values were determined using a discounted cash flow analysis based on current market interest rates for similar types of financial instruments and 
would be classified in Level 2 within the fair value hierarchy. 
 
As of October 29, 2022, we have $10.5 million of investments held and used which were measured using Level 1 inputs within the fair value hierarchy.  
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Note 6
Earnings Per Share

Weighted-average number of shares used to calculate earnings per share are as follows:

 
  Three Months Ended   Nine Months Ended  

(Shares in thousands)  October 29, 2022   October 30, 2021   October 29, 2022   October 30, 2021  
Weighted-average number of shares - basic   12,138    14,314    12,637    14,313  
Common stock equivalents   188    302    264    330  
Weighted-average number of shares - diluted   12,326    14,616    12,901    14,643  

We repurchased 451,343 shares during the third quarter of Fiscal 2023 at a cost of $20.8 million, or $46.01 per share and repurchased 1,380,272 shares
during the first nine months of Fiscal 2023 at a cost of $72.7 million, or $52.66 per share. We accrued $4.8 million of share repurchases in the fourth 
quarter of Fiscal 2022 due to timing of the cash settlement which are included on the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the nine 
months ended October 29, 2022. We have $34.1 million remaining as of October 29, 2022 under our expanded share repurchase authorization announced in 
February 2022. We repurchased 521,693 shares during the third quarter and first nine months of Fiscal 2022 at a cost of $30.6 million, or $58.71 per share.  
We accrued $2.1 million for share repurchases as of October 30, 2021. During the fourth quarter of Fiscal 2023, through December 7, 2022, we have not 
repurchased any shares. 

Note 7
Long-Term Debt
 
(In thousands)  October 29, 2022   January 29, 2022  
U.S. revolver borrowings  $ 85,904   $ 15,679  
U.K. revolver borrowings   3,484    —  
Total long-term debt   89,388    15,679  
Current portion   3,484    —  
Total Noncurrent Portion of Long-Term Debt  $ 85,904   $ 15,679  
 
The revolver borrowings outstanding under the Credit Facility as of October 29, 2022 included $72.2 million U.S. revolver borrowings and $13.7 million 
(£11.8 million) related to Genesco (UK) Limited. In addition, revolver borrowings outstanding under Schuh's Facility Letter were $3.5 million (£3.0 
million). We were in compliance with all the relevant terms and conditions of the Credit Facility and Facility Letter as of October 29, 2022.  Excess 
availability under the Credit Facility was $237.0 million at October 29, 2022.
 
On November 2, 2022, Schuh entered into a facility agreement (the "Facility Agreement") with Lloyds Bank PLC ("Lloyds") for a £19.0 million revolving 
credit facility. The Facility Agreement expires November 2, 2025, with options to request two one-year extensions to this termination date subject to lender 
approval, and bears interest at 2.35% over the Bank of England Base Rate.  This Facility Agreement replaces Schuh's Facility Letter that would have 
expired in October 2023.  The Facility Agreement includes certain financial covenants specific to Schuh. Following certain customary events of default 
outlined in the Facility Agreement, payment of outstanding amounts due may be accelerated or the commitments may be terminated. The Facility 
Agreement is secured by charges over all of the assets of Schuh, and Schuh's subsidiary, Schuh (ROI) Limited.  Pursuant to a Guarantee in favor of Lloyds 
in its capacity as security trustee, Genesco Inc. has guaranteed the obligations of Schuh under the Facility Agreement and certain existing ancillary facilities 
on an unsecured basis.
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Note 8
Legal Proceedings 

Environmental Matters

The Company has legacy obligations including environmental monitoring and reporting costs related to: (i) a 2016 Consent Judgment entered into with the 
United States Environmental Protection Agency involving the site of a knitting mill operated by a former subsidiary of ours from 1965 to 1969 in Garden 
City, New York; and (ii) a 2010 Consent Decree with the Michigan Department of Natural Resources and Environment relating to our former Volunteer 
Leather Company facility in Whitehall, Michigan. We do not expect that future obligations related to either of these sites will have a material effect on our 
consolidated financial condition or results of operations.
 
Accrual for Environmental Contingencies

Related to all outstanding environmental contingencies, we had accrued $1.4 million as of each of October 29, 2022, January 29, 2022 and October 30, 
2021.  All such provisions reflect our estimates of the most likely cost (undiscounted, including both current and noncurrent portions) of resolving the 
contingencies, based on facts and circumstances as of the time they were made.  There is no assurance that relevant facts and circumstances will not 
change, necessitating future changes to the provisions.  Such contingent liabilities are included in the liability arising from provision for discontinued 
operations on the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets because they relate to former facilities operated by us. We have made pretax 
accruals for certain of these contingencies which were not material for the first nine months of Fiscal 2023 or Fiscal 2022. These charges are included in 
loss from discontinued operations, net in the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations and represent changes in estimates.

In addition to the matters specifically described in this Note, we are a party to other legal and regulatory proceedings and claims arising in the ordinary 
course of our business. While management does not believe that our liability with respect to any of these other matters is likely to have a material effect on 
our condensed consolidated financial statements, legal proceedings are subject to inherent uncertainties, and unfavorable rulings could have a material 
adverse impact on our condensed consolidated financial statements.
 
Note 9
Commitments
 
As part of our Licensed Brands business, we have a commitment to Samsung C&T America, Inc. (“Samsung”) related to the ultimate sale and valuation of 
inventories owned by Samsung.  If product is sold below Samsung’s cost, we are required to pay to Samsung the difference between the sales price and its 
cost.  At October 29, 2022, the inventory owned by Samsung had a historical cost of $19.8 million. As of October 29, 2022, we believe that we have 
appropriately accounted for any differences between the fair value of the Samsung inventory and Samsung's historical cost. 
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Note 10
Business Segment Information
 
Three Months Ended 
October 29, 2022             

(In thousands)
Journeys

Group  
Schuh
Group  

Johnston
& Murphy

Group  
Licensed
Brands  

Corporate
& Other  Consolidated  

Sales $ 380,619  $ 104,809  $ 79,614  $ 40,661  $ —  $ 605,703  
Intercompany sales  —   —   —   (1,915 )  —   (1,915 )
Net sales to external 
customers  380,619   104,809   79,614   38,746   —   603,788  
Operating income (loss)  27,083   5,912   3,494   (1,927 )  (8,489 )  26,073  
Other components of net 
periodic benefit cost  —   —   —   —   (50 )  (50 )
Interest expense, net  —   —   —   —   (906 )  (906 )
Earnings (loss) from 
continuing operations before 
income taxes $ 27,083  $ 5,912  $ 3,494  $ (1,927 ) $ (9,445 ) $ 25,117  
Total assets $ 841,021  $ 206,996  $ 193,039  $ 72,586  $ 223,351  $ 1,536,993  
Depreciation and amortization  6,849   1,485   1,092   214   1,032   10,672  
Capital expenditures  4,638   2,405   1,719   370   1,708   10,840  
 
(1) Of our $704.6 million of long-lived assets, $89.3 million and $18.5 million relate to long-lived assets in the U.K. and Canada, respectively.
 
Three Months Ended October 30, 
2021             

(In thousands)
Journeys

Group  
Schuh
Group  

Johnston
& Murphy

Group  
Licensed
Brands  

Corporate
& Other  Consolidated  

Sales
$ 379,927  $

119,79
1  $ 66,835  $ 34,154  $ —  $ 600,707  

Intercompany sales  —   —   —   (161 )  —   (161 )
Net sales to external customers

 379,927   
119,79

1   66,835   33,993   —   600,546  
Segment operating income (loss)  43,403   9,701   1,641   (132 )  (10,543 )  44,070  
Asset impairments and other  —   —   —   —   (314 )  (314 )
Operating income (loss)  43,403   9,701   1,641   (132 )  (10,857 )  43,756  
Other components of net periodic 
benefit cost  —   —   —   —   (55 )  (55 )
Interest expense, net  —   —   —   —   (585 )  (585 )
Earnings (loss) from continuing 
operations before income taxes $ 43,403  $ 9,701  $ 1,641  $ (132 ) $ (11,497 ) $ 43,116  

Total assets $ 760,370  $
229,34

7  $ 131,378  $ 53,310  $ 442,404  $ 1,616,809  
Depreciation and amortization  7,160   1,675   1,148   266   375   10,624  
Capital expenditures  4,645   718   1,104   270   8,225   14,962  
 
(1) Asset impairments and other includes a $0.1 million charge for professional fees related to the actions of an activist shareholder and a $0.2 million 
charge for retail store asset impairments, which includes $0.2 million in Journeys Group.

(2) Of our $781.3 million of long-lived assets, $120.3 million and $29.1 million relate to long-lived assets in the U.K. and Canada, respectively.
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Note 10
Business Segment Information, Continued
 
Nine Months Ended October 29, 
2022             

(In thousands)
Journeys

Group  
Schuh
Group  

Johnston
& Murphy

Group  
Licensed
Brands  

Corporate
& Other  Consolidated  

Sales $ 1,016,396  $ 294,486  $ 225,448  $ 126,442  $ —  $ 1,662,772  
Intercompany sales  —   —   —   (2,904 )  —   (2,904 )
Net sales to external customers  1,016,396   294,486   225,448   123,538   —   1,659,868  
Segment operating income (loss)  51,235   5,260   7,256   2,551   (23,055 )  43,247  
Asset impairments and other  —   —   —   —   154   154  
Operating income (loss)  51,235   5,260   7,256   2,551   (22,901 )  43,401  
Other components of net periodic 
benefit cost  —   —   —   —   (198 )  (198 )
Interest expense, net  —   —   —   —   (1,608 )  (1,608 )
Earnings (loss) from continuing
   operations before income taxes $ 51,235  $ 5,260  $ 7,256  $ 2,551  $ (24,707 ) $ 41,595  
Depreciation and amortization $ 21,060  $ 4,607  $ 3,271  $ 692  $ 2,271  $ 31,901  
Capital expenditures  15,539   6,278   5,528   1,033   11,467   39,845  
 
(1) Net sales in North America and in the United Kingdom, which includes the Republic of Ireland, accounted for 82% and 18%, respectively, of our net 
sales for the nine months ended October 29, 2022.
 
(2) Asset impairments and other includes a $0.5 million charge for asset impairments, which includes $0.2 million in Journeys Group, $0.2 million in Schuh 
Group and $0.1 million in Licensed Brands, partially offset by a $0.7 million gain on the termination of the pension plan.
 
Nine Months Ended October 30, 
2021             

(In thousands)
Journeys

Group  
Schuh
Group  

Johnston
& Murphy

Group  
Licensed
Brands  

Corporate
& Other  Consolidated  

Sales $ 1,102,750  $ 294,581  $ 176,756  $ 120,952  $ —  $ 1,695,039  
Intercompany sales  —   —   —   (615 )  —   (615 )
Net sales to external 
customers  1,102,750   294,581   176,756   120,337   —  $ 1,694,424  
Segment operating income (loss)  106,895   9,477   2,412   3,420   (39,966 ) $ 82,238  
Asset impairments and other  —   —   —   —   (10,054 )  (10,054 )
Operating income (loss)  106,895   9,477   2,412   3,420   (50,020 )  72,184  
Other components of net periodic 
benefit cost  —   —   —   —   (72 )  (72 )
Interest expense  —   —   —   —   (1,931 )  (1,931 )
Earnings (loss) from continuing
   operations before income 
taxes $ 106,895  $ 9,477  $ 2,412  $ 3,420  $ (52,023 ) $ 70,181  
Depreciation and amortization $ 21,549  $ 5,356  $ 3,460  $ 820  $ 1,073  $ 32,258  
Capital expenditures  18,418   1,945   3,666   750   9,728   34,507  
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(1) Net sales in North America and in the United Kingdom, which includes the Republic of Ireland, accounted for 83% and 17%, respectively, of our net 
sales for the nine months ended October 30, 2021.
 
(2) Asset impairments and other includes an $8.6 million charge for professional fees related to the actions of an activist shareholder and a $2.0 million 
charge for retail store asset impairments, which includes $1.0 million in Journeys Group, $0.8 million in Schuh Group and $0.2 million in the Johnston & 
Murphy Group, partially offset by a $0.6 million insurance gain.
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Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

This section discusses management’s view of the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Company. This section should be read in 
conjunction with the information contained in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 29, 2022, including the Risk Factors 
section, and information contained elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements and 
notes to those financial statements. The results of operations for any interim period may not necessarily be indicative of the results that may be expected for 
any future interim period or the entire fiscal year.

Summary of Results of Operations
Our net sales increased 1% to $603.8 million for the third quarter of Fiscal 2023 compared to $600.5 million for the third quarter of Fiscal 2022. The sales 
increase was driven by increased wholesale sales and a total comparable sales increase of 3%, partially offset by the unfavorable impact of $21.1 million in 
sales due primarily to foreign exchange pressure on the Schuh business from the strengthening dollar. Johnston & Murphy Group sales increased 19% and 
Licensed Brands sales increased 14%, while Journeys Group sales were flat and Schuh Group sales decreased 13% for the third quarter of Fiscal 2023 
compared to the third quarter of Fiscal 2022. Without the impact of foreign exchange, Schuh's sales increased 4% on a local currency basis for the third 
quarter of Fiscal 2023.

Gross margin as a percentage of net sales decreased to 48.7% during the third quarter of Fiscal 2023, compared to 49.2% for the third quarter of Fiscal 
2022. This reflects decreased gross margin as a percentage of net sales in all of our operating business units due primarily to a more normalized 
promotional environment for all retail divisions, except Johnston & Murphy where a decrease in inventory reserves last year as the brand began to recover 
from the pandemic make a difficult comparison this year, and increased freight expense as well as better than anticipated loyalty program sign-ups at Schuh 
as new members used their sign-up incentives, which should provide long-term growth. Altogether, freight and logistics costs put approximately $3.3 
million of pressure on total gross margin comparison of the third quarter of Fiscal 2023 to the third quarter of Fiscal 2022.

Selling and administrative expenses as a percentage of net sales increased to 44.3% of net sales during the third quarter of Fiscal 2023 from 41.8% for the 
third quarter of Fiscal 2022, reflecting increased expenses as a percentage of net sales at Journeys Group, Schuh Group and Licensed Brands, partially 
offset by decreased expenses as a percentage of net sales at Johnston & Murphy Group. The overall increase in expenses as a percentage of net sales is due 
in large part to one-time benefits for rent credits and government relief in the third quarter last year. Excluding these one-time benefits last year, deleverage 
in marketing expenses, compensation expense and selling salaries more than offset leverage from decreased occupancy and performance-based 
compensation expenses.

Operating margin was 4.3% for the third quarter of Fiscal 2023 compared to 7.3% in the third quarter of Fiscal 2022, reflecting decreased operating margin 
in all our operating business units, except Johnston & Murphy Group. The decrease in operating margin for the third quarter this year compared to the third 
quarter last year was driven by decreased gross margin as a percentage of net sales, reflecting the more normalized promotional environment and increased 
freight expense, and increased expenses as a percentage of net sales, reflecting the one-time benefits for rent credits and government relief in the prior year.

Critical Accounting Estimates

We discuss our critical accounting estimates in Item 7, "Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations", in our 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 29, 2022. We describe our significant accounting policies in Note 1, "Summary of 
Significant Accounting Policies", of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended 
January 29, 2022. There have been no other significant changes in our definition of significant accounting policies or critical accounting estimates since the 
end of Fiscal 2022.

Key Performance Indicators

In assessing the performance of our business, we consider a variety of performance and financial measures. The key performance indicators we use to 
evaluate the financial condition and operating performance of our business are comparable sales, net sales, gross margin, operating income and operating 
margin. These key performance indicators should not be considered superior to, as a substitute for or as an alternative to, and should be considered in 
conjunction with, the U.S. GAAP financial measures presented herein. These measures may not be comparable to similarly titled performance indicators 
used by other companies.
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Comparable Sales

We consider comparable sales to be an important indicator of our current performance, and investors may find it useful as such. Comparable sales results 
are important to achieve leveraging of our costs, including occupancy, selling salaries, depreciation, etc. Comparable sales also have a direct impact on our 
total net revenue, cash and working capital. We define "comparable sales" as sales from stores open longer than one year, beginning with the first day a 
store has comparable sales (which we refer to as "same store sales"), and sales from websites operated longer than one year and direct mail catalog sales 
(which we refer to in this report as "comparable direct sales"). Temporarily closed stores are excluded from the comparable sales calculation if closed for 
more than seven days. Expanded stores are excluded from the comparable sales calculation until the first day an expanded store has comparable prior year 
sales. Current year foreign exchange rates are applied to both current year and prior year comparable sales to achieve a consistent basis for comparison. We 
have disclosed comparable sales for the second and third quarters of Fiscal 2023 but did not disclose comparable sales for the first quarter and first nine 
months of Fiscal 2023 due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and related extensive store closures during the first quarter of Fiscal 2022.  We believe 
that overall sales is a more meaningful metric during the first quarter and first nine months of Fiscal 2023.

Results of Operations – Third Quarter of Fiscal 2023 Compared to Third Quarter of Fiscal 2022

Our net sales increased 1% to $603.8 million for the third quarter of Fiscal 2023 compared to $600.5 million for the third quarter of Fiscal 2022. The sales 
increase was driven by increased wholesale sales and a total comparable sales increase of 3%, partially offset by the unfavorable impact of $21.1 million in 
sales due primarily to foreign exchange pressure on the Schuh business from the strengthening dollar. Johnston & Murphy Group sales increased 19% and 
Licensed Brands sales increased 14%, while Journeys Group sales were flat and Schuh Group sales decreased 13% for the third quarter of Fiscal 2023 
compared to the third quarter of Fiscal 2022. Without the impact of foreign exchange, Schuh's sales increased 4% on a local currency basis for the third 
quarter of Fiscal 2023. 

Gross margin decreased 0.5% to $293.8 million in the third quarter of Fiscal 2023 from $295.2 million in the third quarter of Fiscal 2022 and decreased as a 
percentage of net sales from 49.2% to 48.7%. This reflects decreased gross margin as a percentage of net sales in all of our operating business units due 
primarily to a more normalized promotional environment for all retail divisions, except Johnston & Murphy where a decrease in inventory reserves last 
year as the brand began to recover from the pandemic make a difficult comparison this year, and increased freight expense, as well as better than anticipated
loyalty program sign-ups at Schuh as new members used their sign-up incentives, which should provide long-term growth. Altogether, freight and logistics 
costs put approximately $3.3 million of pressure on total gross margin comparison of the third quarter of Fiscal 2023 to the third quarter of Fiscal 2022.

Selling and administrative expenses in the third quarter of Fiscal 2023 increased 6.6% and increased as a percentage of net sales from 41.8% to 44.3%, 
reflecting increased expenses as a percentage of net sales at Journeys Group, Schuh Group and Licensed Brands, partially offset by decreased expenses as a 
percentage of net sales at Johnston & Murphy Group. The overall increase in expenses as a percentage of net sales is due in large part to one-time benefits 
for rent credits and government relief in the third quarter last year. Excluding these one-time benefits last year, deleverage in marketing expenses, 
compensation expense and selling salaries more than offset leverage from decreased occupancy and performance-based compensation expenses. 
Explanations of the changes in results of operations are provided by business segment in discussions following these introductory paragraphs.

Earnings from continuing operations before income taxes (“pretax earnings”) for the third quarter of Fiscal 2023 were $25.1 million compared to $43.1 
million for the third quarter of Fiscal 2022. Pretax earnings for the third quarter of Fiscal 2022 included asset impairments and other charges of $0.3 million 
for professional fees related to the actions of an activist shareholder and retail store asset impairments. 

We recorded an effective income tax rate of 18.7% and 23.5% in the third quarter of Fiscal 2023 and Fiscal 2022, respectively. The lower tax rate for the 
third quarter this year compared to the third quarter last year reflects a reduction in the effective tax rate that we expect for jurisdictions in which we are 
profitable. 

Net earnings for the third quarter of Fiscal 2023 were $20.4 million, or $1.65 diluted earnings per share compared to $32.9 million, or $2.25 diluted 
earnings per share, for the third quarter of Fiscal 2022.
 

Journeys Group

  Three Months Ended     

  
October 29, 

2022   October 30, 2021   
%

Change  
  (dollars in thousands)     
Net sales  $ 380,619   $ 379,927    0.2 %
Operating income  $ 27,083   $ 43,403    (37.6 )%
Operating margin   7.1 %  11.4 %   
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Net sales from Journeys Group increased 0.2% to $380.6 million for the third quarter of Fiscal 2023, compared to $379.9 million for the third quarter of 
Fiscal 2022 primarily due to a total comparable sales increase of 1% driven by increased e-commerce sales, while the average number of stores decreased 
1% for the third quarter this year.  Journeys Group operated 1,123 stores at the end of the third quarter of Fiscal 2023, including 230 Journeys Kidz stores, 
45 Journeys stores in Canada and 35 Little Burgundy stores in Canada, compared to 1,137 stores at the end of the third quarter of last year, including 229 
Journeys Kidz stores, 47 Journeys stores in Canada and 37 Little Burgundy stores in Canada.

Journeys Group had operating income of $27.1 million for the third quarter of Fiscal 2023 compared to $43.4 million for the third quarter of Fiscal 2022. 
The decrease of 37.6% in operating income for Journeys Group was due to (i) decreased gross margin as a percentage of net sales reflecting increased 
markdowns with a return to a more normalized promotional environment and (ii) increased selling and administrative expenses as a percentage of net sales 
reflecting the deleverage of expenses, especially marketing and selling salaries as sales were effectively flat for the third quarter this year compared to the 
third quarter last year, as well as one-time benefits for rent credits in the third quarter last year.

Schuh Group
  Three Months Ended     

  
October 29, 

2022   October 30, 2021   
%

Change  
  (dollars in thousands)     

Net sales  $ 104,809   $ 119,791    (12.5 )%
Operating income  $ 5,912   $ 9,701    (39.1 )%
Operating margin   5.6 %  8.1 %   

 
Net sales from Schuh Group decreased 12.5% to $104.8 million for the third quarter of Fiscal 2023 compared to $119.8 million for the third quarter of 
Fiscal 2022, primarily due to an unfavorable impact of $19.7 million due to changes in foreign exchange rates, partially offset by increased total 
comparable sales of 3% driven by increased comparable store sales. Without the impact of foreign exchange, Schuh's sales increased 4% on a local 
currency basis for the third quarter of Fiscal 2023. Schuh Group operated 122 stores at the end of the third quarter of Fiscal 2023, compared to 123 stores at 
the end of the third quarter of Fiscal 2022.

Schuh Group had operating income of $5.9 million for the third quarter of Fiscal 2023 compared to $9.7 million for the third quarter of Fiscal 2022. The 
39.1% decrease in operating income for Schuh Group reflects (i) decreased gross margin as a percentage of net sales reflecting a return to a more 
normalized promotional environment and better than anticipated loyalty program sign-ups as new members used their sign-up incentives, which should 
provide long-term growth and (ii) increased selling and administrative expenses as a percentage of net sales for the third quarter of Fiscal 2023 compared to 
the third quarter of Fiscal 2022, reflecting more normalized operating expenses due to the one-time benefits for rent credits and government property tax 
relief and other government relief related to the COVID-19 pandemic in the U.K. in the third quarter last year. Excluding these one-time benefits last year, 
decreased occupancy and marketing expenses more than offset deleverage in selling salaries and professional fees. In addition, operating income included 
an unfavorable impact of $1.1 million due to changes in foreign exchange rates compared to last year. 

Johnston & Murphy Group
  Three Months Ended     

  
October 29, 

2022   October 30, 2021   
%

Change  
  (dollars in thousands)     

Net sales  $ 79,614   $ 66,835    19.1 %
Operating income  $ 3,494   $ 1,641    112.9 %
Operating margin   4.4 %  2.5 %   

 
Johnston & Murphy Group net sales increased 19.1% to $79.6 million for the third quarter of Fiscal 2023 from $66.8 million for the third quarter of Fiscal 
2022, primarily due to a 20% increase in comparable sales and increased wholesale sales. Johnston & Murphy has repositioned its brand to offer more 
casual and comfortable footwear and apparel in this post-pandemic environment, which in addition to recovery from the pandemic, has fueled top line 
growth. Retail operations accounted for 72.9% of Johnston & Murphy Group's sales in the third quarter of Fiscal 2023, down from 75.4% in the third 
quarter of Fiscal 2022. The store count for Johnston & Murphy retail operations at the end of the third quarter of Fiscal 2023 was 159 stores, including six 
stores in Canada, compared to 174 stores, including eight stores in Canada, at the end of the third quarter of Fiscal 2022.
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Johnston & Murphy Group operating income of $3.5 million for the third quarter of Fiscal 2023 increased 112.9% compared to $1.6 million in the third 
quarter of Fiscal 2022. The increase was primarily due to (i) increased net sales and (ii) decreased selling and administrative expenses due to greater 
leverage of expenses as a result of revenue growth, partially offset by increased marketing expense. Gross margin decreased as a percentage of net sales as 
increased freight and logistics costs as well as a difficult comparison to last year with the decrease in inventory reserves as the brand began to recover from 
the pandemic, more than offset otherwise increased gross margin.

Licensed Brands
  Three Months Ended     

  
October 29, 

2022   October 30, 2021   
%

Change  
  (dollars in thousands)     

Net sales  $ 38,746   $ 33,993    14.0 %
Operating loss  $ (1,927 )  $ (132 )  NM  
Operating margin   (5.0 )%  (0.4 )%   

 
Licensed Brands' net sales increased 14.0% to $38.7 million for the third quarter of Fiscal 2023 from $34.0 million for the third quarter of Fiscal 2022 
primarily reflecting an increase in sales of Dockers footwear.
 
Licensed Brands' operating loss was $1.9 million for the third quarter of Fiscal 2023 compared to a loss of $0.1 million in the third quarter of Fiscal 2022.  
The increase in operating loss was primarily due to (i) decreased gross margin as a percentage of net sales driven by increased freight and logistics costs 
more than offsetting a favorable sales mix and (ii) increased selling and administrative expenses as a percentage of net sales reflecting deleverage of 
expenses as a result of the change in sales mix, partially offset by decreased performance-based compensation expense. 

Corporate, Interest Expenses and Other Charges

Corporate and other expense for the third quarter of Fiscal 2023 was $8.5 million compared to $10.9 million for the third quarter of Fiscal 2022. Corporate 
expense in the third quarter of Fiscal 2022 included a $0.3 million charge in asset impairment and other charges for professional fees related to the actions 
of an activist shareholder and retail store asset impairments. The corporate expense decrease, excluding asset impairment and other charges, primarily 
reflected decreased performance-based compensation expense. 

Net interest expense increased 54.9% to $0.9 million for the third quarter of Fiscal 2023 compared to net interest expense of $0.6 million for the third 
quarter of Fiscal 2022 primarily reflecting increased average borrowings in the third quarter this year along with increased interest rates this year.

Results of Operations – Nine Months of Fiscal 2023 Compared to Nine Months of Fiscal 2022

Our net sales in the first nine months of Fiscal 2023 decreased 2.0% to $1.660 billion compared to $1.694 billion in the first nine months of Fiscal 2022. 
The sales decrease was driven by an unfavorable impact of $41.5 million in sales due primarily to foreign exchange pressure on the Schuh business from 
the strengthening dollar and decreased comparable direct sales, partially offset by increased sales in the wholesale channel. 

Gross margin decreased 3.1% to $799.6 million in the first nine months of Fiscal 2023 from $825.4 million in the first nine months of Fiscal 2022 and 
decreased as a percentage of net sales from 48.7% to 48.2%, reflecting decreased gross margin as a percentage of net sales in Journeys Group, Johnston & 
Murphy Group and Licensed Brands, partially offset by increased gross margin as a percentage of net sales in Schuh Group.  The overall decrease in gross 
margin as a percentage of net sales is primarily due to increased markdowns in our Journeys business and increased freight and logistics costs as well as the 
decrease in inventory reserves in the Johnston & Murphy business last year making for difficult comparisons this year, partially offset by lower shipping 
and warehouse expense as a result of lower e-commerce penetration. Altogether, freight and logistics costs put approximately $14.7 million of pressure on 
total gross margin comparison of the first nine months of Fiscal 2023 to the first nine months of Fiscal 2022.

Selling and administrative expenses in the first nine months of Fiscal 2023 increased 1.8% and increased as a percentage of net sales from 43.9% to 45.6%, 
reflecting increased expenses as a percentage of net sales at Journeys Group, Schuh Group and Licensed Brands, partially offset by decreased expenses as a 
percentage of net sales at Johnston & Murphy Group. The overall increase in expenses as a percentage of net sales is due to more normalized occupancy 
expense as a result of the one-time benefits for rent credits and government tax relief related to the COVID-19 pandemic in the U.K. in the first nine 
months last year, as well as increased selling salaries and compensation and marketing expenses, partially offset by decreased performance-based 
compensation expense. Explanations of the changes in results of operations are provided by business segment in discussions following these introductory 
paragraphs.

21



 
 

Pretax earnings for the first nine months of Fiscal 2023 were $41.6 million compared to $70.2 million for the first nine months of Fiscal 2022. Pretax 
earnings for the first nine months of Fiscal 2023 included an asset impairment and other gain of $0.2 million for a gain on the termination of the pension 
plan, partially offset by asset impairments. Pretax earnings for the first nine months of Fiscal 2022 included asset impairments and other charges of $10.1 
million for professional fees related to the actions of an activist shareholder and retail store asset impairments, partially offset by an insurance gain.

We recorded an effective income tax rate of 20.6% and 24.8% in the first nine months of Fiscal 2023 and Fiscal 2022, respectively. The tax rate for the first 
nine months of Fiscal 2023 is lower than Fiscal 2022, reflecting a reduction in the effective tax rate we expect for jurisdictions in which we are profitable 
combined with the impact of foreign activity for which we have historically been unable to recognize a tax benefit.

Net earnings for the first nine months of Fiscal 2023 were $33.0 million, or $2.56 diluted earnings per share compared to $52.7 million, or $3.60 diluted 
earnings per share, for the first nine months of Fiscal 2022.

 
Journeys Group

  Nine Months Ended     
 

 October 29, 2022   October 30, 2021   
%

Change  
  (dollars in thousands)     
Net sales  $ 1,016,396   $ 1,102,750    (7.8 )%
Operating income  $ 51,235   $ 106,895    (52.1 )%
Operating margin   5.0 %  9.7 %   
 
Net sales from Journeys Group decreased 7.8% to $1.0 billion for the first nine months of Fiscal 2023, compared to $1.1 billion for the first nine months of 
Fiscal 2022, primarily due to decreased store sales and decreased digital comparable sales. We believe the Journeys consumer benefitted most from the 
government stimulus in the first nine months of Fiscal 2022 and is currently more affected by the U.S. macro-economic environment than customers of our 
other North American businesses. 

Journeys Group had operating income of $51.2 million for the first nine months of Fiscal 2023 compared to $106.9 million for the first nine months of 
Fiscal 2022. The decrease of 52.1% in operating income for Journeys Group was due to (i) decreased net sales, (ii) decreased gross margin as a percentage 
of net sales reflecting increased markdowns with a return to a more normalized promotional environment and lower initial mark-ons, partially offset by 
lower shipping and warehouse expense and (iii) increased selling and administrative expenses as a percentage of net sales reflecting the deleverage of 
expenses, especially selling salaries, occupancy and marketing expenses as a result of decreased revenue in the first nine months this year, partially offset 
by decreased performance-based compensation expense. 

Schuh Group
  Nine Months Ended     
 

 October 29, 2022   October 30, 2021   
%

Change  
  (dollars in thousands)     
Net sales  $ 294,486   $ 294,581    (0.0 )%
Operating income  $ 5,260   $ 9,477    (44.5 )%
Operating margin   1.8 %  3.2 %   
 
Net sales from Schuh Group were effectively flat at $294.5 million for the first nine months of Fiscal 2023 compared to $294.6 million for the first nine 
months of Fiscal 2022.  Store sales increased as Schuh stores were only open 73% of possible days in the first nine months of Fiscal 2022 versus 100% of 
possible days in the first nine months of Fiscal 2023, offset by an unfavorable impact of $38.7 million due to changes in foreign exchange rates and 
decreased digital comparable sales. Schuh stores benefitted from pent up demand as the U.K. economy further re-opened this year and more people 
resumed normal pre-pandemic activities.  

Schuh Group had operating income of $5.3 million for the first nine months of Fiscal 2023 compared to $9.5 million for the first nine months of Fiscal
2022. The decrease of 44.5% in operating income for Schuh Group reflects increased selling and administrative expenses as a percentage of net sales for 
the first nine months of Fiscal 2023 compared to the first nine months of Fiscal 2022, reflecting more normalized operating expenses due to the one-time 
benefits for rent credits and government property tax relief and other government relief related to the COVID-19 pandemic in the U.K. in the first nine 
months last year. Excluding these one-time benefits last year, decreased occupancy, marketing and performance-based compensation expenses more than 
offset the deleverage in selling salaries. In addition, operating income included an unfavorable impact of $1.3 million due to changes in foreign exchange 
rates compared to last year. Gross margin increased as a percentage of net sales, reflecting decreased shipping and warehouse expense driven by lower e-
commerce penetration. 
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Johnston & Murphy Group
  Nine Months Ended     

  October 29, 2022   October 30, 2021   
%

Change  
  (dollars in thousands)     

Net sales  $ 225,448   $ 176,756    27.5 %
Operating income  $ 7,256   $ 2,412    200.8 %
Operating margin   3.2 %  1.4 %   

 
Johnston & Murphy Group net sales increased 27.5% to $225.4 million for the first nine months of Fiscal 2023 from $176.8 million for the first nine 
months of Fiscal 2022, primarily due to increased wholesale sales, store sales and e-commerce sales. Johnston & Murphy has repositioned its brand to offer 
more casual and comfortable footwear and apparel in this post-pandemic environment, which in addition to recovery from the pandemic, has fueled top line 
growth. Retail operations accounted for 73.0% of Johnston & Murphy Group's sales in the first nine months of Fiscal 2023, down from 77.1% in the first 
nine months of Fiscal 2022. 

Johnston & Murphy Group operating income increased to $7.3 million for the first nine months of Fiscal 2023 compared to $2.4 million in the first nine 
months of Fiscal 2022. The increase of 200.8% was primarily due to (i) increased net sales and (ii) decreased selling and administrative expenses as a 
percentage of net sales due to greater leverage of expenses as a result of revenue growth, especially occupancy expense, selling salaries and compensation, 
partially offset by increased marketing expense. Gross margin as a percentage of net sales decreased for the first nine months of Fiscal 2023 compared to 
the first nine months of Fiscal 2022 reflecting increased freight and logistic costs and the channel mix of more wholesale sales as well as a difficult 
comparison to last year with the decrease in inventory reserves last year as the brand began to recover from the pandemic, partially offset by price increases 
and decreased retail markdowns.

Licensed Brands
  Nine Months Ended     
 

 October 29, 2022   October 30, 2021   
%

Change  
  (dollars in thousands)     
Net sales  $ 123,538   $ 120,337    2.7 %
Operating income  $ 2,551   $ 3,420    (25.4 )%
Operating margin   2.1 %  2.8 %   
 
Licensed Brands' net sales increased 2.7% to $123.5 million for the first nine months of Fiscal 2023, from $120.3 million for the first nine months of Fiscal 
2022 primarily reflecting an increase in sales of private label and Dockers footwear, partially offset by repositioning the distribution of the mix of the Levi's 
brand to rely less on the value channel.
 
Licensed Brands' operating income was $2.6 million for the first nine months of Fiscal 2023 compared to $3.4 million in the first nine months of Fiscal 
2022.  The 25.4% decrease in operating income was primarily due to (i) a decrease in gross margin as a percentage of net sales due to increased freight and 
logistics costs partially offset by favorable changes in sales mix and (ii) increased selling and administrative expenses as a percentage of net sales reflecting 
deleverage of expenses as a result of changes in sales mix, partially offset by decreased shipping and warehouse and performance-based compensation 
expenses. 

Corporate, Interest Expenses and Other Charges

Corporate and other expense for the first nine months of Fiscal 2023 was $22.9 million compared to $50.0 million for the first nine months of Fiscal 2022. 
Corporate expense in the first nine months of Fiscal 2023 included a gain of $0.2 million in asset impairment and other charges from a gain on the 
termination of the pension plan, partially offset by asset impairments. Corporate expense in the first nine months of Fiscal 2022 included a $10.1 million 
charge in asset impairment and other charges for professional fees related to the actions of an activist shareholder and retail store asset impairments, 
partially offset by an insurance gain. The corporate expense decrease, excluding asset impairment and other charges, primarily reflected decreased 
performance-based compensation expense. 

Net interest expense decreased to $1.6 million for the first nine months of Fiscal 2023 compared to net interest expense of $1.9 million for the first nine 
months of Fiscal 2022.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Working Capital

Our business is seasonal, with our investment in working capital normally reaching peaks in the summer and fall of each year in anticipation of the back-to-
school and holiday selling seasons. Historically, cash flows from operations typically have been generated principally in the fourth quarter of each fiscal 
year.
 

  Nine Months Ended  

Cash flow changes:  
October 29, 

2022   October 30, 2021   
Increase

(Decrease)  
(in thousands)    
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities  $ (243,970 )  $ 152,114   $ (396,084 )
Net cash used in investing activities   (39,845 )   (34,421 )   (5,424 )
Net cash used in financing activities   (1,647 )   (50,700 )   49,053  
Effect of foreign exchange rate fluctuations on cash   (2,950 )   680    (3,630 )
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  $ (288,412 )  $ 67,673   $ (356,085 )

 
Reasons for the major variances in cash used in the table above are as follows:  

Cash used in operating activities was $396.1 million higher for the first nine months of Fiscal 2023 compared to the first nine months of Fiscal 2022,
reflecting primarily the following factors:
  
• a $245.8 million decrease in cash flow from changes in inventory, primarily reflecting increased inventory growth in all of our business units in the 

first nine months of Fiscal 2023 as we rebuilt inventory levels following the significant supply chain disruptions resulting from the COVID-19 
pandemic;

• a $98.7 million decrease in cash flow from changes in other accrued liabilities, primarily reflecting the payment of Fiscal 2022 performance-based 
compensation accruals in the first nine months of Fiscal 2023 and significantly lower performance-based compensation accruals for the first nine 
months of Fiscal 2023 compared to Fiscal 2022; 

• a $53.5 million decrease in cash flow from changes in other assets and liabilities and prepaids and other current assets combined, primarily reflecting 
income taxes paid in the first nine months of Fiscal 2023 compared to a tax refund in the first nine months of Fiscal 2022; and

• a $19.7 million decrease in net earnings; partially offset by
• a $24.0 million increase in cash flow from changes in accounts payable, primarily reflecting changes in buying patterns in the first nine months of 

Fiscal 2023 and the increase in inventory.   
 
   
Cash used in investing activities was $5.4 million higher for the first nine months of Fiscal 2023 as compared to the first nine months of Fiscal 2022 
reflecting increased capital expenditures primarily related to investments in retail stores, partially offset by decreased capital expenditures for digital and 
omnichannel initiatives.
 
Cash used in financing activities was $49.1 million lower for the first nine months of Fiscal 2023 as compared to the first nine months of Fiscal 2022 
reflecting increased borrowings this year compared to the same period last year, partially offset by share repurchases and the payment of Fiscal 2022 share 
repurchase accruals of $77.5 million in the first nine months of Fiscal 2023 compared to share repurchases of $28.5 million  in the first nine months of 
Fiscal 2022.

Sources of Liquidity and Future Capital Needs

We have three principal sources of liquidity: cash flow from operations, cash and cash equivalents on hand and our credit facilities discussed in Item 8, 
Note 9, "Long-Term Debt", to our Consolidated Financial Statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for Fiscal 2022. 

As of October 29, 2022, we have borrowed $85.9 million under our Credit Facility, which includes $72.2 million in U.S. revolver borrowings and $13.7 
million (£11.8 million) in Genesco (UK) Limited. In addition, we borrowed $3.5 million (£3.0 million) under our Schuh Facility Letter. We were in 
compliance with all the relevant terms and conditions of the Credit Facility and Facility Letter as of October 29, 2022. 
 
On November 2, 2022, Schuh entered into a facility agreement (the "Facility Agreement") with Lloyds Bank PLC ("Lloyds") for a £19.0 million revolving 
credit facility. The Facility Agreement expires November 2, 2025, with options to request two one-year extensions to this termination date subject to lender 
approval, and bears interest at 2.35% over the Bank of England Base Rate. This Facility Agreement replaces Schuh's Facility Letter that would have 
expired in October 2023.
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We believe that cash on hand, cash provided by operations and borrowings under our amended Credit Facility and the new Schuh Facility Agreement will 
be sufficient to support our liquidity needs in Fiscal 2023 and the foreseeable future.

During the remainder of Fiscal 2023, we expect our primary cash requirements to be directed towards funding operating activities. We expect our end of 
year cash balance to return to a more normalized level. While the timing and amount of any common stock repurchases will depend on a variety of factors 
including price, corporate and regulatory requirements, capital availability and other market conditions, we will also consider returning cash to our 
shareholders through opportunistic share repurchases pursuant to our repurchase authorization described in more detail below.

In the fourth quarter of Fiscal 2021, we implemented tax strategies allowed under the 5-year carryback provisions in the CARES Act which we believed 
would generate approximately $55 million of net tax refunds.  We received approximately $26 million of such net tax refunds in Fiscal 2022 and 
anticipated receipt of the remaining outstanding net tax refund in Fiscal 2023. However, in the third quarter of Fiscal 2023, we were notified the IRS would 
conduct an audit of the periods related to the outstanding net tax refund. While we do not believe any uncertainty with the technical merits of the positions 
generating the net tax refunds exists, we do anticipate the timing of the net tax refund will be extended as a result of the audit process.  Accordingly, we 
have adjusted the presentation of the outstanding refund to non-current prepaid income taxes on the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets for Fiscal 
2023.

Contractual Obligations 

Our contractual obligations at October 29, 2022 decreased 11% compared to January 29, 2022, primarily due to decreased operating lease obligations, 
partially offset by increased long-term debt and purchase obligations.

We do not currently have any longer-term capital expenditures or other cash requirements other than as set forth above and in the contractual obligations 
table as disclosed in Item 7 of our Fiscal 2022 Form 10-K. We also do not currently have any off-balance sheet arrangements.

Capital Expenditures

Total capital expenditures in Fiscal 2023 are expected to be approximately $50 million to $55 million of which approximately 54% is for new stores and 
remodels and 46% is for computer hardware, software and warehouse enhancements for initiatives to drive traffic and omni-channel capabilities.  Planned 
capital expenditures excludes approximately $11 million, or $9 million net of tenant allowances, for the new corporate headquarters building.  In January of 
Fiscal 2022, as part of our continuing efforts to optimize our distribution center footprint, we sold a distribution warehouse for $20 million.

Common Stock Repurchases  

We repurchased 451,343 shares during the third quarter of Fiscal 2023 at a cost of $20.8 million, or $46.01 per share and repurchased 1,380,272 shares 
during the first nine months of Fiscal 2023 at a cost of $72.7 million, or $52.66 per share. There were $4.8 million share repurchases accrued in the fourth 
quarter of Fiscal 2022 included on the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the nine months ended October 29, 2022. We have $34.1 
million remaining as of October 29, 2022 under our expanded share repurchase authorization announced in February 2022. We repurchased 521,693 shares 
during the third quarter and first nine months of Fiscal 2022 at a cost of $30.6 million, or $58.71 per share. During the fourth quarter of Fiscal 2023, 
through December 7, 2022, we have not repurchased any shares. 

Environmental and Other Contingencies

We are subject to certain loss contingencies related to environmental proceedings and other legal matters, including those disclosed in Item 1, Note 8, 
"Legal Proceedings", to our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

New Accounting Pronouncements

Descriptions of recently issued accounting pronouncements, if any, and the accounting pronouncements adopted by us during the third quarter of Fiscal 
2023 are included in Note 1 to our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

We incorporate by reference the information regarding market risk appearing in Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition 
and Results of Operations” under the heading “Financial Market Risk” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 29, 2022.  
There have been no material changes to our exposure to market risks from those disclosed in the Form 10-K.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We have established disclosure controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us, including our consolidated 
subsidiaries, in the reports we file or submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), is made known to the officers 
who certify our financial reports and to other members of senior management. Any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can 
provide only reasonable assurance of achieving desired objectives.

Based on their evaluation as of October 29, 2022, the principal executive officer and principal financial officer of the Company have concluded that our 
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) promulgated under the Exchange Act) were effective to ensure that the 
information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is (i) recorded, processed, summarized and reported 
within time periods specified in SEC rules and forms and (ii) accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive officer 
and principal financial officer, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during our third quarter of Fiscal 2023 that have materially affected, or 
are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II - OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

We incorporate by reference the information regarding legal proceedings in Item 1, Note 8, “Legal Proceedings”, to our Condensed Consolidated Financial 
Statements included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

Item 1A. Risk Factors 

You should carefully consider the risk factors discussed in Part I, “Item 1A. Risk Factors” in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended 
January 29, 2022, and in the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended October 29, 2022 (the “Quarterly Report”), which could materially affect 
our business, financial condition or future results. The risks described in this report, in our Annual Report and the Quarterly Report are not the only risks 
facing our Company. Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently deem to be immaterial also may materially adversely 
affect our business, financial condition and/or operating results.
 
Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds 
 
Repurchases (shown in thousands except share and per share amounts):
 

ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES  
             

Period  

(a) Total
 Number of
 Shares

 Purchased   

(b) Average
Price

 Paid
 per Share   

(c) Total
 Number of
 Shares

 Purchased 
 as Part

 of Publicly
 Announced
 Plans or

 Programs   

(d) Maximum
 Number

 (or Approximate
 Dollar Value)

 of Shares that
 May Yet Be

 Purchased
 Under the
 Plans or

 Programs  
August 2022             
7-31-22 to 8-27-22   —   $ —    —   $ 54,904  
              
September 2022             
8-28-22 to 9-24-22   431,343   $ 46.24    431,343   $ 34,961  
              
October 2022             
9-25-22 to 10-29-22   20,000   $ 41.20    20,000   $ 34,137  
9-25-22 to 10-29-22   1,518   $ 41.79    —    —  
Total   452,861   $ 46.00    451,343   $ 34,137  
             

 Share repurchases were made pursuant to a $100.0 million share repurchase program approved by the Board of Directors in September 2019. In 
February 2022, the Board of Directors approved an additional $100.0 million be added to the prior authorization. We expect to implement the balance of 
the repurchase program through purchases made from time to time either in the open market or through private transactions, in accordance with the 
regulations of the SEC and other applicable legal requirements.

 

             
 These shares represent shares withheld from vested restricted stock to satisfy the minimum withholding requirement for federal and state taxes.  
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Item 6. Exhibits
 

Exhibit Index  
 
 

(3.1)
  

Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of Genesco Inc. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company's Current Report on 
Form 8-K filed November 1, 2022 (file No. 1-3083)

(3.2)  

Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of Genesco Inc., redlined for amendments effective October 27, 2022. Incorporated by reference 
to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed November 1, 2022 (file No. 1-3083)

(3.3)  Restated Charter of Genesco Inc., as amended.
(3.4)  Restated Charter of Genesco Inc., as amended, redlined for amendments effective June 23, 2022.
(31.1)    Certification of the Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

   

(31.2)    Certification of the Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
   

(32.1)
   

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.

   

(32.2)
   

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.

   

101.INS
   

Inline XBRL Instance Document (The instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are 
embedded within the Inline XBRL document.)

   

101.SCH    Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
   

101.CAL    Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
   

101.DEF    Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
   

101.LAB    Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
   

101.PRE    Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
   

104   Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)
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RESTATED CHARTER

 
OF

 
GENESCO INC.

 
UNDER SECTION 48-20-107 OF THE

TENNESSEE BUSINESS CORPORATION ACT
 

 Pursuant to the provisions of Section 48-20-17 of the Tennessee Business Corporation Act, the undersigned Corporation  
adopts the following restated charter:
 
PART I:
 
 FIRST: The name of the Corporation is Genesco Inc.
 
 SECOND: The duration of the Corporation is perpetual.
 
 THIRD: The address of the principal office of the Corporation in the State of Tennessee shall be Genesco Park, City of  
Nashville, County of Davidson.
 
 FOURTH: The Corporation is for profit.
 
 FIFTH: The purpose or purposes for which the Corporation is organized are:
 
 (1) to manufacture, buy or otherwise acquire and to hold, sell or otherwise dispose of goods, products, merchandise and  
other personal property of every nature and description, including, but not limited to, boots, shoes and other articles of wearing 
apparel.
 
 (2) to buy or otherwise acquire and to hold, sell or otherwise dispose of the stocks, bonds and other securities of any  
corporation, domestic or foreign; to exercise any and all rights, powers and privileges of individual ownership or interest in 
respect of any and all such securities; to manage and to aid in any manner, by loan, guaranty or otherwise, any corporation or 
corporations of which any securities are held by this corporation; and do any acts or things necessary, expedient or calculated to 
protect, preserve or enhance the value of any such securities.
 
 SIXTH: The maximum number of shares of stock which the Corporation is authorized to have outstanding at any time is  
eighty million (80,000,000) shares of Common Stock of the par value of one dollar ($1.00) per share (hereinafter sometimes 
called “Common Stock”); three thousand seven hundred five (3,705) shares of Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock without 
nominal or par value (hereinafter sometimes called “Convertible Preferred Stock”); four hundred ninety nine thousand six 
hundred ten (499,610) shares of Subordinated Cumulative Convertible Preference Stock without nominal or par value (hereinafter 
sometimes called “Subordinated Preference Stock”); three million (3,000,000) shares of Subordinated Serial Preferred Stock 
without nominal or par value (hereinafter sometimes called “Serial Preferred Stock”); five million (5,000,000) shares of 
Subordinated Cumulative Preferred Stock without nominal or par value 
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(hereinafter sometimes called “Cumulative Preferred Stock”); and five million (5,000,000) shares of Employees’ Subordinated 
Convertible Preferred Stock without nominal or par value (hereinafter sometimes called “Employees’ Preferred Stock”).  The 
Subordinated Preference Stock shall consist of three separate classes (such separate classes being herein for convenience 
sometimes referred to as “Series”) designated Subordinated Cumulative Convertible Preference Stock, Series A (hereinafter 
sometimes called “Series A Subordinated Preference Stock”) of which sixty eight thousand nine hundred forty three (68,943)
shares have been authorized; Subordinated Cumulative Convertible Preference Stock, Series B (hereinafter sometimes called 
“Series B Subordinated Preference Stock”) of which one hundred sixty one thousand three hundred seventy six (161,376) shares
have been authorized; and Subordinated Cumulative Convertible Preference Stock, Series C (hereinafter sometimes called 
“Series C Subordinated Preference Stock”) of which two hundred sixty nine thousand two hundred ninety one (269,291) shares 
have been authorized.  The Serial Preferred Stock shall consist of such number of classes (such separate classes being herein for 
convenience sometimes referred to as “Series”) containing such number of shares and having such distinctive designations and 
provisions as the Board of Directors, acting pursuant to the power delegated to them by the stockholders in accordance with 
Section 48-16-102 of the Tennessee Business Corporation Act as set forth in Section (5) of Part C-I of this Article Sixth, shall 
determine.
 
  No holder of any class of stock of the Corporation shall be entitled as of right to purchase or subscribe for any part of 
any class of stock of the Corporation now authorized or hereafter authorized by or pursuant to any amendment to the charter of 
the Corporation, or of any bonds, certificates of indebtedness, debentures, or other securities convertible into or evidencing rights 
to purchase or subscribe for any stock of the Corporation; and any stock now authorized or any such additional authorized issue 
of any stock or any securities convertible into or evidencing rights to purchase or subscribe for stock may be issued and disposed 
of by the Board of Directors to such firms, persons, corporations or associations for such consideration and upon such terms and 
in such manner as the Board of Directors may in their discretion determine without offering any thereof on the same terms, or on 
any terms, to the stockholders, or to any class of stockholders.  The Board of Directors shall have authority to the extent 
permitted by law to determine that only a part of the consideration which shall be received by the Corporation for any of the 
shares of its stock which it shall issue from time to time shall be capital.
 
  The preferences, restrictions and qualifications applicable to the Convertible Preferred Stock, all classes or Series of the 
Subordinated Preference Stock, all classes or Series of the Serial Preferred Stock, the Cumulative Preferred Stock, the 
Employees’ Preferred Stock and Common Stock are as follows:
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PART A — CUMULATIVE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK

 
 (1) Dividends.  The holders of shares of Convertible Preferred Stock shall be entitled to receive dividends at the rate of 
$4.50 per share per annum, when and as declared by the Board of Directors, before any dividends are paid on the Subordinated 
Preference Stock of any Series, Serial Preferred Stock of any Series, Cumulative Preferred Stock, or the Common Stock.  Such 
dividends shall be payable quarterly on the last days of January, April, July and October of each year and shall be cumulative 
from the initial date on which shares are issued.
 
  Dividends on the Convertible Preferred Stock shall be cumulative so that if, for any previous or then current dividend 
period, dividends (whether or not earned) shall not have been paid, or declared and set apart for payment, upon all outstanding 
shares of Convertible Preferred Stock, the deficiency shall be fully paid, or declared and set apart for payment, before any 
dividends are paid or declared upon the Subordinated Preference Stock of any Series, Serial Preferred Stock of any Series, 
Cumulative Preferred Stock, or the Common Stock.  Accumulated dividends shall not bear interest.  Subject to the provisions of 
this Part A, whenever full cumulative dividends on the Convertible Preferred Stock for all previous dividend periods and for any 
then current dividend period shall have been paid, or declared and set apart for payment, the Board of Directors may declare, 
subject to the other provisions of this Article Sixth, dividends upon the Subordinated Preference Stock, Serial Preferred Stock, 
Cumulative Preferred Stock and the Common Stock payable then or thereafter, and no holder of any shares of Convertible 
Preferred Stock, as such, shall be entitled to share therein.
 
 (2) Liquidation.  Upon any dissolution, liquidation or winding up of the Corporation, whether voluntary or involuntary, the 
holders of the Convertible Preferred Stock shall be entitled to be paid from the assets (whether capital or surplus) of the 
Corporation the following amounts:
 
  (i) upon involuntary dissolution, liquidation or winding up, $100 per share,
 
  (ii) upon voluntary dissolution, liquidation or winding up, an amount per share equal to the redemption price  

prevailing on the date on which such dissolution shall have become legally effective or such liquidation or winding up 
shall have been authorized,

 
plus, in every case, an amount equal to all accumulated and unpaid dividends accrued to the date fixed for final distribution to 
such holders, whether or not earned or declared, before any payment or distribution shall be made to the holders of the 
Subordinated Preference Stock of any Series, Serial Preferred Stock of any Series, Cumulative Preferred Stock, Employees’ 
Preferred Stock, or the Common Stock.  After payment in full of such amounts to the holders of the Convertible Preferred Stock, 
the holders of the Convertible Preferred Stock, as such, shall have no right or claim to any of the remaining assets of the 
Corporation and the same shall be distributed to the holders of the Subordinated Preference Stock, Serial Preferred Stock,
Cumulative Preferred Stock, Employees’ Preferred Stock, and the Common Stock in accordance with their respective rights 
hereunder.
 
 (3) Redemption.  Subject to the restrictions set forth in this Section (3), the Corporation may at any time redeem the 
Convertible Preferred Stock, or any part thereof, either at the option of the 
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Board of Directors or pursuant to the sinking fund provided for in Section (5) of this Part A at the then applicable redemption 
price plus an amount equal to all accumulated and unpaid dividends accrued to the redemption date on the shares redeemed, 
whether or not earned or declared, provided, however that not less than 30 nor more than 60 days prior to the date fixed for 
redemption, a notice specifying the time and place of redemption and the redemption price shall be given to the holders of record 
of the Shares to be redeemed by publication of such notice in one newspaper published and of general circulation in the City of 
Nashville, Tennessee, and in one newspaper published and of general circulation in the Borough of Manhattan, the City of New 
York, and by mailing such notice to such holders at their addresses, if any, as the same appear upon the stock registry books; 
provided, however, that if all shares of Convertible Preferred Stock are to be redeemed, no failure so to mail such notice nor any 
defect therein or in the mailing thereof shall affect the validity of such redemption.
 
  The redemption price of shares of Convertible Preferred Stock redeemed at the option of the Board of Directors shall be 
$104.50 per share if redeemed on or prior to January 31, 1968; $103.50 per share if redeemed after January 31, 1968, but on or 
prior to January 31, 1973; $102.50 per share if redeemed after January 31, 1973, but on or prior to January 31, 1978; $101.50 if 
redeemed after January 31, 1978, but on or prior to January 31, 1983; and $100.00 per share if redeemed thereafter.  The 
redemption price of shares of Convertible Preferred Stock redeemed pursuant to the Sinking Fund provided for in Section (5) of 
this Part A shall be $100.00 per share.
 
  If less than all outstanding shares of Convertible Preferred Stock are to be redeemed and except as otherwise hereinafter 
required by the provisions of this Section (3), the shares to be redeemed may be selected by the Board of Directors by lot or in 
any other manner which the Board of Directors in its unrestricted discretion may deem to be fair and, in such case, the notice of 
redemption mailed as aforesaid shall inform each registered holder of shares called for redemption of the total number of shares 
registered in his name that have been called for redemption, but the notice of redemption to be published as aforesaid need not 
contain such information.  At any time after notice of redemption shall have been given as hereinabove provided, or after the 
Corporation shall have given to the bank or trust company hereinafter referred to irrevocable authorization to give or complete the 
giving of such notice, the Corporation may deposit authorization to give or complete the giving of such notice, the Corporation 
may deposit or cause to be deposited in trust, to be applied to the redemption of the shares of Convertible Preferred Stock so 
called for redemption, with a bank or trust company organized and doing business under the laws of the United States of America 
or the State of New York and having capital, surplus and undivided profits aggregating at least Ten Million Dollars ($10,000,000) 
and having its principal office in the Borough of Manhattan, the City of New York, the aggregate amount to be paid on 
redemption to the holders of the shares so to be redeemed upon surrender of the certificates for such shares; and upon the deposit 
of such money as aforesaid, or, if no such deposit is made then, from and after said redemption date, unless default is made in the 
payment of the redemption price when due, the shares so called for redemption shall cease to be outstanding, and the holders 
thereof shall cease to be stockholders with respect to such shares and shall have no interest in or claim against the Corporation 
with respect to such shares other than to receive such moneys on or after the date fixed for redemption as aforesaid from the said 
bank or trust company or from the Corporation, as the case may be, without interest thereon, upon surrender of their certificates 
(with endorsement thereof if required).  In case any holder of shares of Convertible Preferred Stock which shall have 
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been called for redemption shall not, within six (6) years after any such deposit, have claimed the amount deposited with respect 
to the redemption thereof, such bank or trust company, upon demand, shall pay over to the Corporation such unclaimed amount 
and shall thereupon be relieved of all responsibility in respect thereof to such holder, and such holder shall look only to the 
Corporation for the payment thereof.  Any interest accrued on funds so deposited shall be paid to the Corporation from time to 
time.
 
  So long as any shares of Convertible Preferred Stock remain outstanding, all shares of Convertible Preferred Stock  
redeemed pursuant to the provisions of this Section (3), either at the option of the Board of Directors or pursuant to the Sinking 
Fund provided for in Section (5) of this Part A, or for which credit shall have been taken against such Sinking Fund, or 
surrendered upon conversion pursuant to Section (6) of this Part A and all shares of any other class of stock ranking equally as to 
dividends or assets with the Convertible Preferred Stock purchased or redeemed at the option of the Board of Directors or 
pursuant to the provisions of any sinking fund or purchase or redemption account for the purchase or redemption of such shares 
or for which credit shall have been taken against any such sinking fund, purchase or redemption account, or surrendered in 
exchange for shares of Convertible Preferred Stock, shall be cancelled and shall not thereafter be reissued or sold or otherwise 
disposed of.  The Corporation agrees, subject to obtaining any necessary vote of stockholders, from time to time, to effect the 
retirement of all such shares and to reduce the amount of its authorized capital stock accordingly.
 
  If at any time the Corporation shall have failed to pay dividends in full on all shares of Convertible Preferred Stock and 
any class of stock of the Corporation ranking as to dividends or assets equally with the Convertible Preferred Stock, or shall be in 
default in respect of its obligations under any sinking fund or purchase or redemption account for the purchase or redemption of 
Convertible Preferred Stock or any such pari passu stock, then, and until all arrearages of such dividends for all preceding 
dividend periods and for any current dividend period or periods shall have been paid or declared and set apart for payment and all 
such defaults under such sinking funds or purchase or redemption accounts shall have been remedied, neither the Corporation or 
any subsidiary shall purchase or redeem, at the option of the Board of Directors or pursuant to the provisions of any such sinking 
fund or purchase or redemption account (except, if all such dividend arrearages shall then have been paid or provided for, to the 
extent required to cure such defaults in such sinking funds or purchase or redemption accounts, in amounts proportionate to the
amounts due respectively thereunder) or otherwise acquire for value any shares of Convertible Preferred Stock or any class of 
stock of the Corporation ranking as to dividends or assets equally with or junior to the Convertible Preferred Stock and the 
Corporation shall not declare or pay any dividend or make any other distribution on any shares of such junior stock.
 
 (4) Voting Powers.  (a)  Except as herein or by statute specifically provided, the holders of Convertible Preferred Stock 
shall have no voting powers, nor shall they be entitled to notice of any meeting of stockholders of the Corporation.  If at any time 
the Corporation shall be in arrears in dividends on any shares of Convertible Preferred Stock in an amount equal to four full 
quarterly dividends thereon, then, until all arrearages of dividends accumulated on all shares of Convertible Preferred Stock for 
all preceding and the then current dividend periods shall have been paid or declared and set apart for payment, or if at any time 
the Corporation shall be in default with respect 
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to the sinking fund redemption requirements of Section (5) of this Part A, then, until such requirement has been complied with, 
and no longer, the holders of the Convertible Preferred Stock, voting separately as a class, shall have the sole right, to the 
exclusion of any other class of stock, at all annual and special meetings of the stockholders of the Corporation at which directors 
are to be elected, to vote for and elect two (2) directors.  At all annual or special meetings for election of directors so long as such 
right to elect directors shall continue, the holders of the Convertible Preferred Stock, voting separately as a class, shall vote for 
and elect the directors which they are entitled to elect as aforesaid, and thereafter the holders of the Common Stock and of any 
other stock of the Corporation having voting powers, in accordance with their respective rights, shall vote for and elect the 
remaining directors.  At any meeting of the stockholders at which the holders of the Convertible Preferred Stock shall have the 
right to vote, they shall have one vote for each share.  The holders of the Convertible Preferred Stock shall be entitled to notice of 
any meeting of the stockholders called for the election of directors at which such holders shall be entitled to vote as in this
Section (4) provided, and at any such election the holders of the shares of Convertible Preferred Stock represented at the meeting 
shall constitute a quorum for the election of the directors whom the holders of shares of Convertible Preferred Stock are entitled 
to elect, and a plurality of all votes of the Convertible Preferred Stock represented at the meeting shall be sufficient to elect such 
directors.
 
  Whenever all arrearages of dividends on the Convertible Preferred Stock as aforesaid shall have been paid or declared 
and set apart for payment, and all redemptions required by the Sinking Fund provided for in Section (5) of this Part A have been 
made or funds sufficient for such purposes have been deposited in accordance with the provisions of Section (3) of this Part A, all 
powers of the holders of the Convertible Preferred Stock to vote for directors shall terminate and the terms of office of all 
directors elected by them shall forthwith automatically come to an end.
 
  If the date upon which such right of the holders of the Convertible Preferred Stock shall become vested shall be more 
than one hundred twenty days preceding the date of the next ensuing annual meeting of stockholders as fixed by the Bylaws of 
the Corporation, the President of the Corporation shall, as promptly as practicable after delivery to the Corporation at its principal 
office of a request to such effect signed by the holders of at least five percent (5%) of the Convertible Preferred Stock then 
outstanding, call a special meeting of the holders of the stock of the Corporation entitled to vote for the election of directors, to be 
held within fifty days after the delivery of such request, for the purpose of electing a new Board of Directors to serve until the 
next annual meeting and until their successors shall be elected and shall qualify.  Notice of such meeting shall be mailed to each 
such stockholder not less than ten days prior to the date of such meeting.  The term of office of all directors of the Corporation 
shall terminate at the time of any such meeting held for the purpose of electing a new Board of Directors, notwithstanding that the 
term for which such directors had been elected shall not then have expired.
 
  Whenever the holders of Convertible Preferred Stock shall be entitled to elect two directors, any holder of such  
Convertible Preferred Stock shall have the right, during regular business hours, in person or by duly authorized representative, to 
examine and to make transcripts of the stock records of the Corporation for the Convertible Preferred Stock for the purpose of 
communicating with other holders of such Convertible Preferred Stock with respect to the exercise of such right of election.
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  If, during any interval between annual meetings of stockholders for the election of directors and while the holders of the 
Convertible Preferred Stock shall be entitled to elect two directors, the number of directors in office who have been so elected by 
the holders of the Convertible Preferred Stock or who succeeded a director so elected shall, by reason of resignation, death or 
removal, be less than two, such vacancy shall be filled by vote of the remaining director then in office who was elected by vote of 
the holders of the Convertible Preferred Stock or succeeded a director so elected or, if there be no such remaining director then in 
office or if such vacancy or vacancies be not so filled within forty days after the creation thereof, the President of the Corporation 
shall promptly call a special meeting of the holders of the Convertible Preferred Stock and such vacancy or vacancies shall be 
filled by vote at such special meeting.
 
  Any director elected by the holders of the Convertible Preferred Stock or who succeeded a director so elected may be 
removed from office by vote of the holders of a majority of the shares of such stock.  A special meeting of the holders of shares 
of such stock may be called by a majority vote of the Board of Directors for the purpose of removing such a director.  The 
President of the Corporation shall, as promptly as practicable after delivery to the Corporation at its principal office of a request 
to such effect signed by the holders of at least five percent (5%) of the outstanding shares of Convertible Preferred Stock, call a 
special meeting of the holders of such stock for such purpose to be held within fifty days after the delivery of such request.
 
  (b) So long as any Convertible Preferred Stock shall be outstanding, the Corporation shall not without the affirmative
vote of the holders of at least sixty-six and two-thirds percent (66 2/3%) of all shares of Convertible Preferred Stock at the time 
outstanding (but may do so with such vote when so authorized by its Board of Directors and also by vote of the holders of any 
other class of stock which may then be required) (i) authorize or create or increase the authorized amount of any stock ranking as 
to dividends or assets prior to the Convertible Preferred Stock or any security convertible into or exchangeable for or carrying 
rights to purchase any such prior stock, or (ii) otherwise alter, change or cancel any of the provisions, preferences, rights or 
powers of any shares of Convertible Preferred Stock in any manner which will adversely affect any shares of Convertible 
Preferred Stock then outstanding.
 
  (c) So long as any Convertible Preferred Stock shall be outstanding, the Corporation shall not without the affirmative
vote of the holders of at least fifty percent (50%) of all shares of Convertible Preferred Stock at the time outstanding (but may do 
so with such vote when so authorized by its Board of Directors and also by vote of the holders of any other class of stock which 
may then be required) (i) authorize or create or increase the authorized amount of any other class of stock ranking as to dividends 
or assets equally with the Convertible Preferred Stock or any security convertible into or exchangeable for or carrying rights to 
purchase any such pari passu stock, or increase the authorized amount of the Convertible Preferred Stock or (ii) merge or 
consolidate with or into any other corporation or transfer or lease its property and assets as an entirety or substantially as an 
entirety; provided, however, that this restriction shall to apply to, nor shall it operate to prevent, the consolidation or merger of the 
Corporation with or into another corporation if none of the provisions, preferences, rights or powers of the Convertible Preferred 
Stock or the holders thereof will be adversely affected thereby and if the corporation resulting from or surviving such 
consolidation or merger is a corporation organized under the laws of the United 
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States of America or any state thereof and operating primarily in the United States of America, and will have authorized and 
outstanding, after such consolidation or merger, no stock of any class or other securities ranking prior to or on a parity with the 
Convertible Preferred Stock (except the same number of shares of stock and the same amount of other securities with the same 
rights and preferences as the stock and securities of the Corporation authorized and outstanding immediately preceding such 
consolidation or merger) and if each holder of Convertible Preferred Stock at the time of such consolidation or merger will 
receive or retain the same number of shares, with the same provisions, preferences, rights and powers, of the resulting or 
surviving corporation as he held of the Convertible Preferred Stock.
 
 (5) Sinking Fund.  (a)  On December 31, 1974, and on each December 31 thereafter until all outstanding shares of 
Convertible Preferred Stock have been redeemed, the Corporation will redeem at the Sinking Fund redemption price stated in 
Section (3) of this Part A a number of shares of Convertible Preferred Stock equal to five percent (5%) of the number of shares of 
Convertible Preferred Stock outstanding on December 31, 1973, each such redemption to be made upon the notice and with the 
effect specified in Section (3) of this Part A; provided, however, that the Corporation may at its option and on a cumulative basis 
credit against such required redemption shares of Convertible Preferred Stock which have been (1) converted into shares of 
Common Stock or (2) purchased or redeemed other than pursuant to the Sinking Fund after December 31, 1973, and not 
previously credited against such required redemptions.
 
  (b) The Corporation shall in no event be obligated to apply to the redemption of Convertible Preferred Stock any  
funds not legally available therefor under the laws of the State of Tennessee but any such redemptions so deferred shall be made 
promptly after, and to the full extent that, any funds of the Corporation become legally available for such purpose thereafter.  If at 
any time the Corporation shall, for any reason, have failed to effect the redemption pursuant to Paragraph (a) of this Section (5) of 
the total number of shares of Convertible Preferred Stock theretofore required to be redeemed by the provisions of such 
paragraph, the Corporation shall be deemed to be in default in its Sinking Fund obligations for the purposes of Sections (3) and 
(4) of this Part A.
 
 (6) Conversion.  (a)  At the option of the holder thereof, each share of Convertible Preferred Stock may be converted at 
any time on or prior to the date fixed for the redemption thereof into a number of fully paid and nonassessable shares of Common 
Stock of the Corporation determined by dividing $100 by the conversion price per share of Common Stock in effect at the time of 
such conversion.
 
  (b) The initial conversion price per share of Common Stock for the conversion of shares of the Convertible Preferred 
Stock shall be $40.00.  Such conversion price shall be subject to adjustment from time to time as follows:
 
  (1) Except as provided in Subsection (b)(3) of this Section (6), if the Corporation shall issue or sell any shares of  
Common Stock for a consideration per share less than the conversion price in effect at the time of issue, or without consideration, 
the conversion price shall forthwith be adjusted to a price determined by dividing:
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   (i) an amount equal to the sum of (1) the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding on the date of 

initial issue of shares of Convertible Preferred Stock, multiplied by the initial conversion price 
determined by the Board of Directors as above provided, plus (2) the sum of the consideration, if any, 
received by the Corporation upon such issuance or sale of common stock and the aggregate 
consideration received by the Corporation (computed as herein provided) for all other shares of its 
Common Stock issued after the date of initial issue of shares of Convertible Preferred Stock, up to the 
time of such issuance or sale, minus (3) the aggregate amount of all dividends and other distributions 
paid or made on the Common Stock after the date of initial issue of the Convertible Preferred Stock, 
other than in cash out of the earned surplus of the Corporation or in Common Stock or options or rights 
to subscribe for Common Stock, by

 
   (ii) the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding immediately after such issuance or sale  

including shares held in the Corporation’s treasury.
 
Except as provided in Subsection (b)(3) of this Section, upon each such subsequent issue and sale of shares of Common Stock of 
the Corporation for a consideration per share less than the conversion price in effect at the time of issue, or without consideration, 
then the conversion price as so adjusted shall be forthwith adjusted in the same manner as specified above. Adjustments resulting 
from the issuance of additional shares of Common Stock shall require a change in the conversion price only when and each time 
the accumulative net effect of all such adjustments not theretofore taken into account would cause the conversion price then in 
effect to be reduced by 25 cents per share or more.  Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, no adjustment of the conversion 
price shall be made if, under the terms thereof, the adjusted conversion price as so computed would equal or exceed the 
conversion price in effect at the time of such issue.
 
  For the purpose of this subsection, the following provisions shall be applicable:
 
  (A) In the case of issuance or sale of shares of Common Stock for cash, the consideration shall be deemed to be the  

cash proceeds received by the Corporation before deducting any usual and customary commissions or other expenses 
incurred in connection therewith.

 
  (B) In the case of issuance or sale of shares of Common Stock (otherwise than upon conversion or exchange of  

securities by their terms convertible or exchangeable into Common Stock) for a consideration other than cash, the 
amount of such consideration shall be deemed to be the fair value thereof (as determined by the Board of Directors of the 
Corporation) irrespective of the accounting treatment thereof. In the case of any dividend or distribution on the Common 
Stock, other than in cash or Common Stock or options or rights to subscribe for Common Stock, the amount of such 
dividend or distribution shall be deemed to be the fair value thereof (as determined by the Board of Directors of the 
Corporation) irrespective of the accounting treatment thereof.
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  (C) In the case of issuance of shares of Common Stock as a stock dividend, the shares shall be deemed to have been  

issued without consideration at the close of business on the dividend record date.  If no dividend record date is fixed, the 
last business day preceding the first day during which the transfer books of the Corporation shall be closed in connection 
with the dividend shall be treated as the dividend record date.  For the purposes of this Section (6), a stock dividend shall 
consist of a distribution of Common Stock of the Corporation in connection with which the Corporation shall capitalize 
earned surplus in an amount approximately equal to the market value of such Common Stock at the date of declaration.  
Any other dividend in Common Stock of the Corporation shall be considered a subdivision of its outstanding shares of 
Common Stock under subsection (b)(2) and adjustment shall be made under subsection (b)(2) accordingly.

 
  (D) If the Corporation shall have outstanding options or rights to subscribe for shares of Common Stock or shall have 

outstanding any securities by their terms convertible into or exchangeable for shares of Common Stock (excluding shares 
which may be issued or sold pursuant to subsection (b)(3) without the reduction of the conversion price);

 
  (i) the aggregate number of shares of Common Stock deliverable under such options or rights shall be considered to  

be outstanding and to have been issued or sold at the time such options or rights were issued and the maximum 
number of shares of Common Stock initially deliverable upon conversion of or in exchange for any such 
convertible or exchangeable securities shall be considered to be outstanding and to have been issued or sold at 
the time of issuance or sale of such securities; and the conversion price shall be adjusted upon the issue of any 
such options, rights or securities in accordance with this subsection (b) and in such adjustment and for the 
purposes of all computations under this subsection (b) the consideration for any such shares of Common Stock 
considered to be outstanding shall be considered to be (x) in the case of options or rights, the minimum purchase 
price provided in such options or rights, plus the consideration, if any, received by the Corporation for such 
rights; and (y) in the case of convertible or exchangeable securities, the consideration, if any, received for such 
securities before deducting usual and customary commissions and expenses in connection with the sale thereof 
plus the minimum additional consideration receivable by the Corporation upon the conversion or exchange, in 
each case computing such consideration in the manner provided by paragraphs (A) and (B) above; provided, 
that there shall be excluded from any such computation any share of Common Stock so issuable and the 
consideration so considered to have been received therefor where such consideration for such share amounts to 
more than the conversion price immediately prior to the computation;

 
  (ii) on the expiration of such options or rights, or the termination of such right to convert or exchange, the conversion 

price shall forthwith be adjusted to reflect the fact that such options or rights are no longer outstanding or the 
termination of such right to convert or exchange; and
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  (iii) in the event that, prior to the expiration of such options or rights or the termination of such right to convert or  

exchange, the consideration payable on the issuance, sale or delivery of the shares of Common Stock shall 
increase or decrease, or the number of shares of Common Stock shall increase or decrease, or the number of 
shares of Common Stock deliverable upon conversion of or in exchange for any such convertible or 
exchangeable security shall increase or decrease, the conversion price shall forthwith be readjusted to such 
conversion price as would have been obtained had the adjustment made upon issuance of such options, rights or 
convertible or exchangeable securities been made upon the basis of such increased or decreased consideration 
payable or increased or decreased number of shares deliverable.

 
 (E) In the case of issuance of shares of Common Stock (i) on the exercise of options or rights the consideration for such  

shares shall be considered to be the consideration received by the Corporation for such options or rights plus the 
additional consideration received by the Corporation on exercise and (ii) on conversions of securities of the Corporation 
convertible into shares of Common Stock of the Corporation the consideration for such shares shall be considered to be 
the consideration received by the Corporation for such convertible securities before deducting usual and customary 
commissions and expenses in connection with the sale thereof and the additional consideration, if any, received by the 
Corporation on such conversion; in each case computing such consideration in the manner provided in paragraphs (A) 
and (B) above.

 
  (2) If the Corporation shall, after January 7, 1963 (i) subdivide its outstanding shares of Common Stock; (ii) combine 
its outstanding shares of Common Stock into a smaller number of shares, or (iii) issue by reclassification of its shares of Common 
Stock any shares of the Corporation, the conversion price shall be immediately proportionately adjusted and the conversion price 
recomputed so that the holder of any Convertible Preferred Stock thereafter surrendered for conversion shall be entitled to receive 
the number of shares of Common Stock of the Corporation which he would have owned or have been entitled to receive after the 
happening of the events described above, had such Convertible Preferred Stock been converted immediately prior to such event.  
Such adjustments shall become effective immediately after the close of business on the effective or record date of or for any such 
event.
 
  (3) For the purpose of subsection (b)(1), the consideration received or to be received on account of the issuance
 
  (A) of shares of Common Stock on conversion of the Convertible Preferred Stock;
 
  (B) of a maximum of 400,000 shares of Common Stock on the exercise of stock options heretofore or hereafter issued 

which constitute Restricted Stock Options for the purpose of Section 421 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954 or any 
substantially similar provisions of the Internal Revenue Code in effect at the time such options are granted, or sold to 
employees under the Corporation’s various employee stock purchase plans at a sale price not less than 90% of the 
average market value during the Calendar month preceding the sale;
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  (C) of a maximum of 161,397 shares of Common Stock in connection with the acquisition of capital stock or assets of 

Flagg-Utica Corporation and The Gidding Company;
 
  (D) of shares of Common Stock on conversion of the Corporation’s 4 3/4% Convertible Subordinated Notes due July  

31, 1982;
 
  (E) of shares of Common Stock issued by way of dividend or other distribution on shares of Common Stock which  

may be issued pursuant to the foregoing clauses (A), (B), (C) and (D) or this clause (E) or on shares of Common Stock 
resulting from any subdivision or combination of shares of Common Stock so issued;

 
and the shares of Common Stock so issued shall be disregarded and not be included in the computation thereunder.
 
  (c) In the event of any capital reorganization or classification of the Common Stock of the Corporation (except those  
for which provision is made in subsection (b)(2)), or the consolidation or merger of the Corporation into or with another 
corporation, or the sale, conveyance, lease or other transfer by the Corporation of all or substantially all of its property to any 
other corporation, pursuant to which the then outstanding shares of Common Stock become exchangeable for other shares of
stock or securities or cash or other property, the holders of Convertible Preferred Stock shall have the right thereafter to convert 
the shares of Convertible Preferred Stock into the kind and amount of shares or stock, other securities, cash or property receivable 
upon such reorganization, reclassification, consolidation, merger or transfer by a holder of the number of shares of Common 
Stock of the Corporation into which such shares might have been converted immediately prior to such reorganization, 
reclassification, consolidation, merger or transfer, at the conversion price in effect immediately preceding such reorganization, 
reclassification, consolidation, merger or transfer. Such right shall be subject to further future adjustments of the conversion price 
which are as nearly equivalent as may be practicable to the adjustment provided in subsection (b).  The above provisions of this 
subsection (c) shall similarly apply to successive reorganizations, reclassifications, consolidations, mergers or transfers.
 
  (d) Whenever the conversion price of shares of Common Stock issuable on conversion of the Convertible Preferred  
Stock shall be adjusted pursuant to any of the provisions hereof, the Corporation shall forthwith cause to be published at least 
once in a daily newspaper of general circulation in the Borough of Manhattan, City and State of New York and cause to be mailed 
to the holders of the outstanding shares of Convertible Preferred Stock, at their respective addresses appearing on the stock 
registry books of the Corporation, a notice setting forth the adjustment in such conversion price and shall also file with the 
transfer agency for the Convertible Preferred Stock in said City and in the City of Nashville, Tennessee, a copy of such notice and 
a statement showing in reasonable detail the facts upon which such adjustment is based.  All calculations under this Section (6) 
shall be made to the nearest cent or to the nearest one-hundredth of a share, as the case may be.
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  (e) Such option to convert may be exercised by surrendering to the Corporation for such purpose at its transfer agency
for the Convertible Preferred Stock in the City of Nashville, Tennessee or in the Borough of Manhattan, City and State of New 
York (which transfer agency shall be maintained by the Corporation so long as any shares of Convertible Preferred Stock are 
outstanding), the certificates for the shares of Convertible Preferred Stock so to be converted properly endorsed in blank or 
accompanied by proper instruments of assignment.  Upon the conversion of any shares of Convertible Preferred Stock into 
Common Stock, no adjustment shall be made for dividends on the Convertible Preferred Stock payable to holders of record after 
the date of surrender of such shares for conversion or for dividends payable to holders of Common Stock of record prior to the 
date of surrender for conversion.  Shares shall be deemed to have been converted immediately prior to the close of business on 
the day of surrender of said shares for conversion and the person entitled to receive the Common Stock issuable upon such 
conversion shall be treated for all purposes as the record holder of such Common Stock at such time.  In case shares of 
Convertible Preferred Stock are called for redemption, the right to convert such shares shall cease and terminate at the close of 
business on that date fixed for redemption, unless default shall be made in payment of the redemption price.
 
 (f) No fractional shares or scrip representing fractional shares shall be issued upon conversion of any share of Convertible 
Preferred Stock.  If the conversion of any share of Convertible Preferred Stock results in a fractional share of Common Stock, an 
amount equal to such fractional share multiplied by the value of one share of the Common Stock on the conversion date shall be 
paid to the holder in cash.  Such value shall be the last sales price, regular way, of the Common Stock of the Corporation on the 
New York Stock Exchange (or such other exchange on which such stock shall be listed) on the conversion date or, in case no sale 
takes place on such date, the average of the closing bid and asked prices, regular way, on such exchange on such date or, if such 
stock shall not then be listed on any exchange, the market price per share (as determined by the Board of Directors) at the close of 
business on the conversion date.  The Corporation shall at all times reserve and keep available, free from preemptive rights, out of 
its authorized but unissued Common Stock for the purpose of effecting the conversion of the shares of Convertible Preferred 
Stock, the full number of shares of Common Stock then deliverable upon conversion of all shares of Convertible Preferred Stock 
then outstanding.  The Corporation covenants that all shares of Common Stock issued upon conversion of Convertible Preferred 
Stock will, upon issue, be legally issued and will be fully paid and nonassessable and that the Corporation will take no action 
which will reduce the conversion price below the then par value of the Common Stock.
 
 (g) In case (i) the Corporation shall declare a dividend or other distribution on its Common Stock payable otherwise than in 
cash out of its earned surplus, or (ii) the Corporation shall authorize the granting to the holders of its Common Stock of rights to 
subscribe for or purchase any shares of capital stock of any class or of any other rights, or (iii) of any reclassification of the 
capital stock of the Corporation (other than a subdivision or combination of its outstanding shares of Common Stock) or of any 
consolidation or merger to which the Corporation is a party and for which approval of any stockholders of the Corporation is 
required or of the sale or transfer of the property and assets of the Corporation as an entirety or substantially as an entirety, or (iv) 
of any voluntary or involuntary dissolution, liquidation or winding up of the Corporation, then the Corporation shall cause to be 
mailed by a transfer agency for the Convertible Preferred Stock to the holders of record of such stock, at least twenty days (or ten 
days in any case specified in clause 

-13-



 
(i) or clause (ii) above) prior to the applicable record date hereinafter specified, a notice stating the date on which a record is to be 
taken for the purpose of such dividend, distribution or rights or, if a record is not to be taken, the date as of which the holders of 
Common Stock of record to be entitled to such dividend, distribution or rights are to be determined, or the date on which such 
reclassification, consolidation, merger, sale, transfer, dissolution, liquidation or winding up is expected to become effective and 
the date as of which it is expected that holders of Common Stock of record shall be entitled to exchange their shares of the 
Common Stock for securities or other property deliverable thereupon.
 
 (h) For the purposes of this Section (6), the sale by the Corporation of shares of Common Stock held in its treasury which 
were acquired after the date of initial issue of shares of Convertible Preferred Stock shall not be considered an issuance or sale of 
shares of Common Stock and the consideration received on any such sale shall be disregarded.
 

PART B-I — SUBORDINATED CUMULATIVE CONVERTIBLE
PREFERENCE STOCK — GENERAL PROVISIONS

 
 (1) Dividends.  The holders of shares of Subordinated Preference Stock of each Series shall be entitled, before any 
dividends are declared or paid on the Serial Preferred Stock of any Series, or on the Cumulative Preferred Stock or on the 
Common Stock, but subject to the prior rights of the Convertible Preferred Stock to dividends and to the sinking fund provisions 
with respect thereto, to receive dividends, when and as declared by the Board of Directors, at the respective rates hereinafter set 
forth in Parts B-II, B-III and B-IV of this Article Sixth.  Such dividends shall be payable quarterly on the last days of January,
April, July and October.  Dividends with respect to each Series of Subordinated Preference Stock shall be cumulative from such 
date or dates as shall have been fixed with respect to such Series as hereinafter provided.
 
  The Series A Subordinated Preference Stock shall be prior in right to dividends to the Series B Subordinated Preference 
Stock and the Series C Subordinated Preference Stock; the Series B Subordinated Preference Stock shall be prior in right to 
dividends to the Series C Subordinated Preference Stock.  Thus, no dividends shall be declared on any outstanding shares of 
Series C Subordinated Preference Stock in respect of any dividend period unless there shall likewise be or have been declared on 
all shares of Series A Subordinated Preference Stock and Series B Subordinated Preference Stock at the time outstanding full 
cumulative dividends at the respective annual dividend rates fixed therefor as hereinafter provided; and no dividends shall be 
declared on any outstanding shares of Series B Subordinated Preference Stock in respect of any dividend period unless there shall 
likewise be or have been declared on all shares of Series A Subordinated Preference Stock at the time outstanding full cumulative 
dividends at the annual dividend rate fixed therefor as hereinafter provided, in each case for all previous dividend periods and for 
any then current dividend period.
 
  Dividends with respect to each Series of Subordinated Preference Stock shall be cumulative so that if, for any previous 
or then current dividend period, dividends shall not have been paid, or declared and set apart for payment, upon all outstanding 
shares of such Series of Subordinated Preference Stock at the rate per annum fixed and determined for the shares of such Series 
as hereinafter set forth, the deficiency shall be fully paid, or declared and set apart for 

-14-



 
payment, before any dividends are paid or declared upon any subordinate Series of Subordinated Preference Stock or upon any 
Series of Serial Preferred Stock, or upon the Cumulative Preferred Stock or upon the Common Stock.  Accumulated dividends 
shall not bear interest.  Whenever full cumulative dividends on all Series of Subordinated Preference Stock for all previous 
dividend periods and for any then current period or periods shall have been paid, or declared and set apart for payment, the Board 
of Directors may declare dividends upon the Serial Preferred Stock of any Series, the Cumulative Preferred Stock or the Common 
Stock, payable then or thereafter, and no holder of any shares of any Series of Subordinated Preference Stock, as such, shall be 
entitled to share therein.
 
 (2) Liquidation.  Upon any dissolution, liquidation or winding up of the Corporation, the holders of each Series of 
Subordinated Preference Stock shall be entitled to be paid from the assets (whether capital or surplus) of the Corporation, subject 
to and after prior payment of the amounts payable with respect to the Convertible Preferred Stock, the amounts hereinafter set 
forth in Parts B-II, B-III and B-IV of this Article Sixth, plus in every case an amount equal to all accumulated and unpaid 
dividends accrued to the date fixed for final distribution to such holders, whether or not earned or declared, before any payment 
or distribution shall be made to the holders of the Serial Preferred Stock of any Series, Cumulative Preferred Stock, Employees’ 
Preferred Stock or the Common Stock.
 
  If, in the event of any such dissolution, liquidation or winding up, the assets of the Corporation are not sufficient to pay 
in full to the holders of shares of all Series of Subordinated Preference Stock the respective amounts which shall have been fixed 
and determined with respect thereto as hereinafter provided, no payment shall be made to the holders of the Series C 
Subordinated Preference Stock unless and until all amounts payable to the holders of the Series A Subordinated Preference Stock 
and the Series B Subordinated Preference Stock have been discharged in full, and no payments shall be made to the holders of the 
Series B Subordinated Preference Stock unless and until all amounts payable to the holders of the Series A Subordinated 
Preference Stock have been discharged in full.  After payment in full of such amounts to the holders of each Series of 
Subordinated Preference Stock, such shareholders, as such, shall have no right or claim to any of the remaining assets of the
Corporation, and the same shall be distributed among the holders of the Serial Preferred Stock of any Series, the Cumulative 
Preferred Stock, the Employees’ Preferred Stock and the Common Stock in accordance with their respective rights hereunder.
 
 (3) Redemption.  At the option of the Board of Directors, the Corporation, subject to the restrictions set forth in this 
Section (3) and subject to any restrictions hereinafter set forth in Parts B-II, B-III and B-IV of this Article Sixth, may at any time 
redeem the Subordinated Preference Stock, or any Series or part thereof, at the applicable redemption price hereinafter set forth in 
Parts B-II, B-III and B-IV of this Article Sixth, plus in every case an amount equal to all accumulated and unpaid dividends 
accrued to the redemption date on the shares redeemed, whether or not earned or declared; provided, however, that no less than 
30 nor more than 60 days prior to the date fixed for redemption, a notice specifying the time and place of redemption and the 
redemption price shall be given to the holders of record of the shares to be redeemed by publication of such notice in one 
newspaper published and of general circulation in the City of Nashville, Tennessee, and in one newspaper published and of 
general circulation in the Borough of Manhattan, the City 
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of New York, and by mailing such notice to such holders at their addresses, if any, as the same appear upon the stock registry 
books.
 
  If less than all outstanding shares of Subordinated Preference Stock of any Series are to be redeemed, and except as  
otherwise hereinafter required by the provisions of this Section (3), the shares to be redeemed may be selected by the Board of 
Directors by lot or in any other manner which the Board of Directors in its unrestricted discretion may determine to be fair, and in 
such case the notice of redemption mailed as aforesaid shall inform each registered holder of shares called for redemption of the 
total number or proportion of shares registered in his name that have been called for redemption, but the notice of redemption to 
be published as aforesaid need not contain such information.
 
  From and after the redemption date, unless default is made in the payment of the redemption price when due, the shares 
so called for redemption shall cease to be outstanding and the holders thereof shall cease to be stockholders with respect to such 
shares and shall have no interest in or claim against the Corporation with respect to such shares other than to receive the 
redemption price on and after the date fixed for redemption without interest thereon, upon surrender of their certificates with 
endorsement thereof if required.  Shares of Subordinated Preference Stock redeemed pursuant to this Section (3) shall be 
cancelled and shall not thereafter be reissued, sold or otherwise disposed of.
 
  At any time after notice of redemption shall have been given as hereinabove provided, the Corporation may deposit or 
cause to be deposited in trust, to be applied to the redemption of the shares of Subordinated Preference Stock so called for 
redemption, with some bank or trust company organized and doing business under the laws of the United States of America or the 
State of New York and having capital surplus and undivided profits aggregating at least Ten Million Dollars ($10,000,000), and 
having its principal office in the Borough of Manhattan, City and State of New York, the aggregate amount to be paid on 
redemption to the holders of the shares so to be redeemed upon surrender of the certificates for such shares.  In case any holder of 
shares of Subordinated Preference Stock which shall have been called for redemption shall not, within six (6) years after such 
deposit, have claimed the amount deposited with respect to the redemption thereof, such bank or trust company, upon demand, 
shall pay over to the Corporation such unclaimed amount and shall thereupon be relieved of all responsibility in respect thereof to 
such holder, and such holder shall look only to the Corporation for the payment thereof.  Any interest accrued on funds so 
deposited shall be paid to the Corporation from time to time.
 
  If at any time the Corporation shall have failed to pay dividends in full on all shares of Subordinated Preference Stock 
of any Series outstanding and on all shares of Convertible Preference Stock and each other class of stock of the Corporation, 
including shares of Subordinated Preference Stock of other Series, ranking as to dividends or assets prior to or equally with the 
Subordinated Preference Stock of such Series, or shall be in default in respect of its obligations under any sinking fund or 
purchase or redemption account for the purchase or redemption of such Series of Subordinated Preference Stock and any such 
senior or pari passu stock, then and until all arrearages of such dividends for all preceding dividend periods and for any current 
dividend period or periods shall have been paid, or declared and set apart for payment, and all defaults under all such sinking 
funds or purchase or redemption accounts shall have been remedied, neither the 
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Corporation nor any subsidiary shall purchase or redeem, at the option of the Board of Directors or pursuant to the provisions of 
any such sinking fund or purchase or redemption account (except, if all such dividend arrearages shall then have been paid or 
provided for, to the extent required to cure such defaults in such sinking funds or purchase or redemption accounts, in amounts 
proportionate to the amounts due respectively thereunder), or otherwise acquire for value any shares of Subordinated Preference 
Stock of such Series or any class of stock of the Corporation, including shares of Subordinated Preference Stock of other Series, 
ranking as to dividends or assets equally with or junior to the Subordinated Preference Stock of such Series, and the Corporation 
shall not declare or pay any dividend or make any other distribution on any shares of such junior stock.
 
 (4) Conversion.  (a)  At the option of the holder thereof, and at such time or times hereinafter set forth in Parts B-II, B-III 
and B-IV of this Article Sixth, each share of Subordinated Preference Stock may be converted into a number of fully paid and 
nonassessable shares of the Common Stock of the Corporation determined by dividing $100 by the conversion price per share of 
Common Stock in effect for the Subordinated Preference Stock of such Series at the time of such conversion.
 
  (b) The initial conversion price for each series of Subordinated Preference Stock shall be as hereinafter set forth in  
Parts B-II, B-III and B-IV of this Article Sixth.  Such conversion price shall be subject from time to time to such adjustments as 
may be occasioned by future issuances of securities of the Corporation to the extent and in the manner hereinafter set forth in 
Parts B-II, B-III and B-IV of this Article Sixth.
 
  (c) In the event of any capital reorganization or reclassification of the Common Stock of the Corporation (except those 
for which provision is made pursuant to subsection (b)), or the consolidation or merger of the Corporation into or with another 
corporation, or the sale, conveyance, lease or other transfer by the Corporation of all or substantially all of its property to any 
other corporation, pursuant to which the then outstanding shares of Common Stock become exchangeable for other shares of
stock or securities or cash or other property, the holders of the Subordinated Preference Stock of each Series shall have the right 
thereafter to convert such shares into the kind and amount of shares of stock, other securities, cash or property receivable upon 
such reorganization, reclassification, consolidation, merger or transfer by a holder of the number of shares of Common Stock of 
the Corporation into which such shares might have been converted immediately prior to such reorganization, reclassification, 
consolidation, merger or transfer, at the conversion price for such Series in effect immediately preceding such reorganization, 
reclassification, consolidation, merger or transfer.  Such right shall be subject to further future adjustments of the conversion price 
for such Series which are as nearly equivalent as may be practicable to the adjustments provided pursuant to subsection (b).  The 
above provisions of this subsection (c) shall similarly apply to successive reorganizations, reclassifications, consolidations, 
mergers or transfers.
 
  (d) Whenever the conversion price of shares of Common Stock issuable on conversion of the Subordinated Preference 
Stock of any Series shall be adjusted pursuant to any of the provisions hereof, the Corporation shall forthwith cause to be 
published at least once in a daily newspaper of general circulation in the Borough of Manhattan, City and State of New York, and 
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cause to be mailed to the holders of the outstanding shares of Subordinated Preference Stock of such Series, at their respective 
addresses appearing on the stock registry books of the Corporation, a notice setting forth the adjustment in such conversion price 
and shall also file with the transfer agency, if any, for the Subordinated Preference Stock of such Series in said City and in the 
City of Nashville, Tennessee, a copy of such notice and a statement showing in reasonable detail the facts upon which such 
adjustment is based.  All calculations under this Section (4) shall be made to the nearest cent or to the nearest one-hundredth of a 
share, as the case may be.
 
  (e) Such option to convert may be exercised by surrendering to the Corporation for such purpose at its principal office 
or at its transfer agency, if any, for the Subordinated Preference Stock of such Series in the City of Nashville, Tennessee or in the 
Borough of Manhattan, City and State of New York, the certificates for the shares of Subordinated Preference Stock so to be 
converted properly endorsed in blank or accompanied by proper instruments of assignment.  Upon the conversion of any shares 
of Subordinated Preference Stock into Common Stock, no adjustment shall be made for dividends on the Subordinated Preference 
Stock payable to holders of record after the date of surrender of such shares for conversion or for dividends payable to holders of 
Common Stock of record prior to the date of surrender for conversion.  Shares shall be deemed to have been converted 
immediately prior to the closing of business on the day of surrender of said shares for conversion and the person entitled to 
receive the Common Stock issuable upon such conversion shall be treated for all purposes as the record holder of such Common 
Stock at such time.  In case shares of Subordinated Preference Stock are called for redemption, the right to convert such shares 
shall cease and terminate at the close of business on the date fixed for redemption, unless default shall be made in payment of the 
redemption price.
 
  (f) No fractional shares or scrip representing fractional shares shall be issued upon conversion of any share of  
Subordinated Preference Stock.  If the conversion of any share of Subordinated Preference Stock results in a fractional share of 
Common Stock, an amount in cash equal to such fraction multiplied by the value of one share of the Common Stock on the 
conversion date shall be paid to the holder.  Such value shall be the last sales price, regular way, of the Common Stock of the 
Corporation on the New York Stock Exchange (or such other exchange on which such stock shall be listed) on the conversion 
date or, in case no sale takes place on such date, the average of the closing bid and asked prices, regular way, on such exchange
on such date or, if such stock shall not then be listed on any exchange, the market price per share (as determined by the Board of 
Directors) at the close of business on the conversion date.  The Corporation shall at all times reserve and keep available, free from 
preemptive rights, out of its authorized but unissued Common Stock, for the purpose of effecting the conversion of the shares of 
Subordinated Preference Stock, the full number of shares of Common Stock then deliverable upon conversion of all shares of 
Subordinated Preference Stock of each Series then outstanding.  The Corporation covenants that all shares of Common Stock 
issued upon conversion of the Subordinated Preference Stock will, upon issue, be legally issued and will be fully paid and 
nonassessable by the Corporation and that the Corporation will take no action which will reduce the conversion price of any
Series below the then par value of the Common Stock.
 
  (g) In case (i) the Corporation shall declare a dividend or any other distribution on its Common Stock payable  
otherwise than in cash out of its earned surplus, or (ii) the Corporation shall authorize the granting to the holders of its Common 
Stock of rights to subscribe for or 
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purchase any shares of capital stock of any class or of any other rights, or (iii) of any reclassification of the capital stock of the 
Corporation (other than a subdivision or combination of its outstanding shares of Common Stock) or of any consolidation or 
merger to which the Corporation is a party and for which approval of any stockholders of the Corporation is required or of the 
sale or transfer of the property and assets of the Corporation as an entirety or substantially as an entirety, or (iv) of any voluntary 
or involuntary dissolution, liquidation or winding up of the Corporation, then the Corporation shall mail or cause to be mailed to 
the holders of record of the Subordinated Preference Stock of each Series outstanding at least twenty days (or ten days in any case 
specified in clause (i) or clause (ii) above) prior to the applicable record date hereinafter specified, a notice stating the date on 
which a record is to be taken for the purpose of such dividend, distribution or rights or, if a record is not to be taken, the date as of 
which the holders of Common Stock of record to be entitled to such dividend, distribution or rights are to be determined, or the 
date on which such reclassification, consolidation, merger, sale, transfer, dissolution, liquidation or winding up is expected to 
become effective and the date as of which it is expected that holders of Common Stock of record shall be entitled to exchange 
their shares of the Common Stock for securities or other property deliverable thereupon.
 
  (h) For the purposes of this Section (4), the sale by the Corporation of shares of Common Stock held in its treasury  
which were acquired after the date of initial issue of shares of Subordinated Preference Stock of any Series shall not be 
considered an issuance or sale of shares of Common Stock and the consideration received on any such sale shall be disregarded 
for purposes of determining the conversion price for such Series.
 
 (5) Reduction of Capital.  Without limiting the generality of Article Eighth of the Certificate of Incorporation, the Board of 
Directors is expressly authorized from time to time to effect the reduction of the capital of the Corporation by redeeming or 
purchasing and retiring all or any outstanding shares of any Series of Subordinated Preference Stock pursuant to any provisions 
of this Article Sixth or any amendment thereto.
 

PART B-II — SERIES A SUBORDINATED PREFERENCE STOCK
 
 The Series A Subordinated Preference Stock, consisting of 68,943 shares without nominal or par value, shall have, in  
addition to the rights and preferences granted by law and by Part B-I of this Article Sixth, the following distinguishing 
characteristics, rights, privileges and immunities:
 
 (1) Dividends.  Dividends shall be payable as hereafter provided on each outstanding share of Series A Subordinated 
Preference Stock at the rate of $4.25 per annum and shall be cumulative from February 1, 1967 and February 1, 1969 on shares 
which become convertible on April 15 of such years, respectively, and from May 1, 1968 and May 1, 1970 on shares which 
become convertible on April 15 of such years, respectively.  Dividends shall not be payable with respect to any dividend period 
prior to the date that such dividends become cumulative.
 
 (2) Redemption.  The redemption price of shares of Series A Subordinated Preference Stock redeemed at the option of the 
Board of Directors shall be $100 per share. Only those shares which have been convertible for at least two years may be 
redeemed.
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 (3) Liquidation.  The amount payable upon voluntary or involuntary dissolution, liquidation or winding up of the 
Corporation shall be $100 per share.
 
 (4) Conversion.  Each certificate representing shares of Series A Subordinated Preference Stock shall indicate the period 
during which such shares are convertible into Common Stock.  Such periods and the number of such shares of Series A 
Subordinated Preference Stock which are then convertible are as follows:
 
  (a) April 15, 1969 to April 14, 1972:  34,471 shares.
 
  (b) April 15, 1970 to April 14, 1973:  34,472 shares.
 
 The initial conversion price per share of Common Stock for the conversion of shares into Series A Subordinated Preference 
Stock shall be $33.33.  No adjustment will be made to the conversion price on account of subsequent issuances of securities 
except that, if the Corporation shall, after August 31, 1966, (i) issue shares as a stock dividend, or otherwise subdivide its 
outstanding shares of Common Stock, (ii) combine its outstanding shares of Common Stock into a smaller number of shares, or 
(iii) issue by reclassification of its shares of Common Stock any shares of the Corporation, the conversion price shall be 
immediately proportionately adjusted so that the holder of any Series A Subordinated Preference Stock thereafter surrendered for 
conversion in accordance with this Section (4) shall be entitled to receive the number of shares of the Corporation which he 
would have owned or have been entitled to receive after the happening of the events described above, had such Series A 
Subordinated Preference Stock been converted immediately prior to such event.  Such adjustments shall become effective
immediately after the close of business on the effective or record date of or for any such event.
 
 (5) Voting Powers.  Each share shall be entitled to three votes on all matters.
 

PART B-III — SERIES B SUBORDINATED PREFERENCE STOCK
 

 The Series B Subordinated Preference Stock, consisting of 161,376 shares without nominal or par value, shall have, in  
addition to the rights and preferences granted by law and by Part B-I of this Article Sixth, the following distinguishing 
characteristics, rights, privileges and immunities:
 
 (1) Dividends.  Dividends shall be payable on each outstanding share of Series B Subordinated Preference Stock at the rate 
of $6.00 per annum and shall be cumulative from the date of issuance thereof.
 
 (2) Redemption.  The redemption price of each share of Series B Subordinated Preference Stock redeemed at the option of 
the Board of Directors or pursuant to the Purchase Fund shall be $105 if redeemed on or after June 1, 1972 and before June 1, 
1973; $104 before June 1, 1974; $103 before June 1, 1975; $102 before June 1, 1976; $101 before June 1, 1977; and $100 
thereafter.  No shares may be redeemed prior to June 1, 1972.
 
 (3) Purchase Fund.  (a)  On December 31, 1976, and on each December 31 thereafter on which any shares of Series B 
Subordinated Preference Stock are outstanding, the Corporation will 
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offer to redeem at the then applicable redemption price stated in Section (2) of this Part B-III from each holder of Series B 
Subordinated Preference Stock a number of shares of Series B Subordinated Preference Stock equal to such stockholder’s pro rata 
portion of five percent (5%) of the number of shares of Series B Subordinated Preference Stock issued by the Corporation, and 
upon tender by a stockholder of his shares and payment by the Corporation of the redemption price, such shares shall cease to be 
outstanding and shall be cancelled, and may not thereafter be reissued or sold or otherwise disposed of by the Corporation; 
provided, however, that the Corporation may at its option and on a cumulative basis, credit against the number of shares it would 
otherwise be required to offer to redeem, shares of Series B Subordinated Preference Stock which shall have been (i) converted 
into shares of Common Stock or (ii) purchased, redeemed or otherwise acquired by the Corporation other than pursuant to the 
Purchase Fund and which have not previously been credited against such required redemptions.  Such offers will remain open for 
a period of sixty days.
 
  (b) The Corporation shall in no event be obligated to apply to the redemption of Series B Subordinated Preference  
Stock any funds not legally available therefor under the laws of the State of Tennessee but any such redemptions so deferred shall 
be made promptly after, and to the full extent that, any funds of the Corporation become legally available for such purpose
thereafter.  If at any time the Corporation shall, for any reason, have failed to effect the redemption pursuant to subsection (a) of 
this Section (3) of the total number of shares of Series B Subordinated Preference Stock theretofore required to be redeemed by 
the provisions of such subsection, the Corporation shall be deemed to be in default in its Purchase Fund obligations for the 
purposes of Section (3) of Part B-I.
 
 (4) Liquidation.  The amount payable upon voluntary or involuntary dissolution, liquidation or winding up of the 
Corporation shall be $100 per share.
 
 (5) Conversion.  The initial conversion price per share of Common Stock for the conversion of shares of Series B 
Subordinated Preference Stock shall be $41 2/3.  No adjustment will be made to the conversion price on account of subsequent 
issuances of securities except that, if the Corporation shall after January 31, 1967, (i) issue shares as a stock dividend, or 
otherwise subdivide its outstanding shares of Common Stock, (ii) combine its outstanding shares of Common Stock into a small 
number of shares, or (iii) issue by reclassification of its shares of Common Stock any shares of the Corporation, the conversion 
price shall be immediately proportionately adjusted so that the holder of any Series B Subordinated Preference Stock thereafter 
surrendered for conversion in accordance with this Section (5) shall be entitled to receive the number of shares of the Corporation 
which he would have owned or have been entitled to receive after the happening of the events described above, had such Series B 
Subordinated Preference Stock been converted immediately prior to such event.  Such adjustments shall become effective
immediately after the close of business on the effective or record date of or for any such event.
 
 (6) Voting Powers.  Each share shall be entitled to two votes on all matters.
 

PART B-IV — SERIES C SUBORDINATED PREFERENCE STOCK
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 The Series C Subordinated Preference Stock, consisting of not more than 269,291 shares without nominal or par value, shall 
have, in addition to the rights and preferences granted by law and by Part B-I of this Article Sixth, the following distinguishing 
characteristics, rights, privileges and immunities:
 
 (1) Dividends.  Dividends shall be payable on each outstanding share of Series C Subordinated Preference Stock at the rate 
of $6.00 per annum and shall be cumulative from the date of issuance thereof.
 
 (2) Redemption.  The redemption price of each share of Series C Subordinated Preference Stock redeemed at the option of 
the Board of Directors or pursuant to the Purchase Fund shall be $105 if redeemed on or after December 1, 1972 and before 
December 1, 1973; $104 before December 1, 1974; $103 before December 1, 1975; $102 before December 1, 1976; $101 before 
December 1, 1977; and $100 thereafter, plus in every case accumulated dividend arrears.  No shares may be redeemed prior to 
December 1, 1972.
 
 (3) Purchase Fund.  (a)  On June 30, 1977, and on each June 30 thereafter on which any shares of Series C Subordinated 
Preference Stock are outstanding, the Corporation will offer to redeem at the then applicable redemption price stated in Section 
(2) of this Part B‑IV from each holder of Series C Subordinated Preference Stock a number of shares of Series C Subordinated 
Preference Stock equal to such stockholder’s pro rata portion of five percent (5%) of the number of shares of Series C 
Subordinated Preference Stock issued by the Corporation, and upon tender by a stockholder of his shares and payment by the 
Corporation of the redemption price, such shares shall cease to be outstanding and shall be cancelled, and may not thereafter be 
reissued or sold or otherwise disposed of by the Corporation; provided, however, that the Corporation may at its option and on a 
cumulative basis, credit against the number of shares it would otherwise be required to offer to redeem, shares of Series C 
Subordinated Preference Stock which shall have been (i) converted into shares of Common Stock or (ii) purchased, redeemed or 
otherwise acquired by the Corporation other than pursuant to the Purchase Fund and which have not previously been credited 
against such required redemptions.  Such offers will remain open for a period of sixty days.
 
  (b) The Corporation shall in no event be obligated to apply to the redemption of Series C Subordinated Preference  
Stock any funds not legally available therefor under the laws of the State of Tennessee but any such redemptions so deferred shall 
be made promptly after, and to the full extent that, any funds of the Corporation become legally available for such purpose
thereafter.  If at any time the Corporation shall, for any reason, have failed to effect the redemption pursuant to subsection (a) of 
this Section (3) of the total number of shares of Series C Subordinated Preference Stock theretofore required to be redeemed by 
the provisions of such subsection, the Corporation shall be deemed to be in default in its Purchase Fund obligations for the 
purposes of Section (3) of Part B-I.
 
 (4) Liquidation.  The amount payable upon voluntary or involuntary dissolution, liquidation or winding up of the 
Corporation shall be $100 per share, plus in every case accumulated dividend arrears.
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 (5) Conversion.  The initial conversion price per share of Common Stock for the conversion of shares of Series C 
Subordinated Preference Stock shall be $45 5/11.  No adjustment will be made to the conversion price on account of subsequent 
issuances of securities except that, if the Corporation shall after August 31, 1967, (i) issue shares as a stock dividend, or 
otherwise subdivide its outstanding shares of Common Stock, (ii) combine its outstanding shares of Common Stock into a smaller 
number of shares, or (iii) issue by reclassification of, or in exchange for, its shares of Common Stock any securities of the 
Corporation, or in case of merger or consolidation, or sale of all the assets of the Corporation or distribution to holders of 
Common Stock by way of dividend or otherwise of property other than cash, then, in any of such events, the holder of any Series 
C Subordinated Preference Stock thereafter surrendered for conversion shall be entitled to receive the kind and amount of shares 
of stock and other securities and property receivable in lieu of Common Stock upon the happening of any such event.  Such 
adjustments shall become effective immediately after the close of business on the effective or record date of or for any such 
event.
 
 (6) Voting Powers.  Each share shall be entitled to two votes on all matters.

 
PART C-I — SUBORDINATED SERIAL PREFERRED STOCK—

GENERAL PROVISIONS
 
 (1) Dividends.  If, pursuant to the authority vested in them by Section (5) of this Part C-I, the Board of Directors 
determines that the holders of shares of any Series of Serial Preferred Stock shall be entitled to receive dividends, then such 
holders shall be entitled, before any dividends are declared or paid on any subordinate Series, if any, of Serial Preferred Stock or 
on the Cumulative Preferred Stock or on the Employees’ Preferred Stock or on the Common Stock, but subject to the prior rights 
of the Convertible Preferred Stock, the Subordinated Preference Stock of each Series and any senior Series, if any, of Serial 
Preferred Stock to dividends and to the sinking fund or purchase fund provisions with respect to such classes of Stock, to receive 
dividends, when and as declared by the Board of Directors, at the rate which shall have been fixed and determined by the Board 
of Directors with respect to such Series.
 
 (2) Liquidation.  Upon any dissolution, liquidation or winding up of the Corporation, the holders of each Series of Serial 
Preferred Stock shall be entitled to be paid from the assets (whether capital or surplus) of the Corporation, subject to and after 
prior payment of the amounts payable with respect to the Convertible Preferred Stock, the Subordinated Preference Stock of each 
Series and any senior Series, if any, of Serial Preferred Stock, the amounts which shall have been fixed and determined with 
respect to such Series by the Board of Directors pursuant to Section (5) of this Part C-I, before any payment or distribution shall 
be made to the holders of any subordinate Series, if any, of Serial Preferred Stock, the Cumulative Preferred Stock, Employees’ 
Preferred Stock or the Common Stock.
 
 (3) Redemption.  (a)  If, pursuant to the authority vested in them by Section (5) of this Part C-I, the Board of Directors 
determines that shares of any Series of Serial Preferred Stock shall be redeemable, then in addition to the terms and conditions 
pertaining to redemption of the shares of such Series as shall be fixed and determined by the Board of Directors and to the extent 
not in conflict with such terms and conditions, the provisions of this Section (3) shall be applicable to the redemption of shares of 
such Series.
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  (b) Not less than 30 nor more than 60 days prior to the date fixed for redemption, a notice specifying the time and  
place of redemption and the redemption price shall be given to the holders of record of the shares to be redeemed by mailing such 
notice to such holders as their names and addresses appear in the stock registry books.
 
  (c) If less than all outstanding shares of Serial Preferred Stock of such Series are to be redeemed, and except as  
otherwise hereinafter required by the provisions of this Section (3), the shares to be redeemed shall be selected by the Board of 
Directors by such method as the Board of Directors shall deem fair and appropriate, and in such case the notice of redemption 
mailed as aforesaid shall inform each registered holder of shares called for redemption of the total number or proportion of shares 
registered in his name that have been called for redemption, but the notice of redemption to be published as aforesaid need not 
contain such information.
 
  (d) From and after the redemption date, unless default is made in the payment of the redemption price when due, the  
shares so called for redemption shall cease to be outstanding, and the holders thereof shall cease to be stockholders with respect 
to such shares and shall have no interest in or claim against the Corporation with respect to such shares other than to receive the 
redemption price on and after the date fixed for redemption, without interest thereon, upon surrender of their certificates with 
endorsement thereof if required.
 
  (e) At any time after notice of redemption shall have been given as hereinabove provided, the Corporation may  
deposit or cause to be deposited in trust, to be applied to the redemption of the shares of Serial Preferred Stock of such Series so 
called for redemption, with some bank or trust company organized and doing business under the laws of the United States of 
America or the State of New York and having capital surplus and undivided profits aggregating at least Ten Million Dollars 
($10,000,000), and having its principal office in the Borough of Manhattan, City and State of New York, the aggregate amount to 
be paid on redemption to the holders of the shares so to be redeemed upon surrender of the certificates for such shares.  In case 
any holder of shares of Serial Preferred Stock of such Series which shall have been called for redemption shall not, within six (6) 
years after such deposit, have claimed the amount deposited with respect to the redemption thereof, such bank or trust company, 
upon demand, shall pay over to the Corporation such unclaimed amount and shall thereupon be relieved of all responsibility in 
respect thereof to such holder, and such holder shall look only to the Corporation for the payment thereof.  Any interest accrued 
on funds so deposited shall be paid to the Corporation from time to time as the Corporation shall direct.
 
  (f) If at any time the Corporation shall have failed to pay dividends in full on all shares of Serial Preferred Stock of  
such Series outstanding, on all shares of Convertible Preferred Stock, Subordinated Preference Stock of each Series and each 
other class of stock of the Corporation, including shares of Serial Preferred Stock of other Series, ranking as to dividends or 
assets prior to or equally with the Serial Preferred Stock of such Series, or shall be in default in respect of its obligations under 
any sinking fund or purchase or redemption account for the purchase or redemption of shares of Serial Preferred Stock of such 
Series and any such senior or pari passu stock, then and until all arrearages of such dividends for all preceding dividend periods 
and for any current dividend period or periods shall have been paid, or declared and set apart for payment, 
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and all defaults under all such sinking funds or purchase or redemption accounts shall have been remedied, neither the 
Corporation nor any subsidiary shall purchase or redeem, at the option of the Board of Directors or pursuant to the provisions of 
any such sinking fund or purchase or redemption account (except, if all such dividend arrearages shall then have been paid or 
provided for, to the extent required to cure such defaults in such sinking funds or purchase or redemption accounts, in amounts 
proportionate to the amounts due respectively thereunder), or otherwise acquire for value any shares of Serial Preferred Stock of 
such Series or any class of stock of the Corporation, including shares of Serial Preferred Stock of other Series, ranking as to 
dividends or assets equally with or junior to the Serial Preferred Stock of such Series, and the Corporation shall not declare or pay 
any dividend or make any other distribution on any shares of such junior stock.
 
 (4) Conversion.  (a)  If, pursuant to the authority vested in them by Section (5) of this Part C-I, the Board of Directors 
determines that shares of a Series of Serial Preferred Stock shall be convertible, then in addition to the terms and conditions 
pertaining to conversion of shares of such Series fixed and determined by the Board of Directors, and to the extent not in conflict 
with such terms and conditions, the provisions of this Section (4) shall be applicable to the conversion of shares of such Series.
 
  (b) If the Corporation shall, after the effective date of certification to the Secretary of State of Tennessee of the  
resolution referred to in Section (5) of this Part C-I relating to the distinguishing characteristics of such Series (i) issue shares of 
the capital stock of the Corporation into which the shares of Serial Preferred Stock of such Series are then convertible (the 
“Conversion Stock”) as a stock dividend or in a stock split, or otherwise subdivide its outstanding shares of Conversion Stock; or 
(ii) combine its outstanding shares of Conversion Stock into a smaller number of shares, the conversion price or ratio shall be 
proportionately adjusted so that the holder of any share of Serial Preferred Stock of such Series thereafter surrendered for 
conversion into the Conversion Stock in accordance with this Section (4) shall be entitled to receive the number of shares of 
Conversion Stock which he would have owned or been entitled to receive after the happening of the events described above, had 
such share of Serial Preferred Stock of such Series been converted into Conversion Stock immediately prior to such event.  Such 
adjustment shall become effective immediately after the close of business on the record date of or for any such event.
 
  (c) In the event of any capital reorganization or reclassification of the Conversion Stock (except those for which  
provision is made pursuant to subsection (b)), or the consolidation or merger of the Corporation into or with another corporation, 
or the sale, conveyance, lease or other transfer by the Corporation of all or substantially all of its property to any other 
corporation, pursuant to which the then outstanding shares of the Conversion Stock become exchangeable for other shares of 
stock or securities or cash or other property, the holders of the Serial Preferred Stock of such Series shall have the privilege 
thereafter to convert such shares into the kind and amount of shares of stock, other securities, cash or property receivable upon 
such reorganization, reclassification, consolidation, merger or transfer by a holder of the number of shares of the Conversion 
Stock of the Corporation into which such shares might have been converted immediately prior to such reorganization, 
reclassification, consolidation, merger or transfer, at the conversion price or ratio for such Series in effect immediately preceding 
such reorganization, reclassification, consolidation, merger or transfer.  Such privilege shall be subject to further future 
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adjustments of the conversion price or ratio for such Series which are as nearly equivalent as may be practicable to the 
adjustments provided pursuant to subsection (b).  The above provisions of this subsection (c) shall similarly apply to successive 
reorganizations, reclassifications, consolidations, mergers or transfers.
 
  (d) Whenever the conversion price or ratio for shares of the Serial Preferred Stock of such Series shall be adjusted  
pursuant to any of the provisions hereof, the Corporation shall forthwith cause to be published at least once in a daily newspaper
of general circulation in the Borough of Manhattan, City and State of New York, and cause to be mailed to the holders of the 
outstanding shares of Serial Preferred Stock of such Series, as their names and addresses appear in the stock registry books of the 
Corporation, a notice setting forth the adjustment in such conversion price or ratio and shall also file with the transfer agency, if 
any, for the Serial Preferred Stock of such Series in said City and in the City of Nashville, Tennessee, a copy of such notice and a 
statement showing in reasonable detail the facts upon which such adjustment is based.  All calculations under this Section (4) 
shall be made to the nearest cent or to the nearest one-hundredth of a share, as the case may be.
 
  (e) Such privilege to convert may be exercised by surrendering to the Corporation for such purpose at its principal  
office or at its transfer agency, if any, for the Serial Preferred Stock of such Series in the City of Nashville, Tennessee or in the 
Borough of Manhattan, City and State of New York, the certificates for the shares of the Serial Preferred Stock of such Series so 
to be converted properly endorsed in blank or accompanied by proper instruments of assignment.  Upon the conversion of shares 
of Serial Preferred Stock of such Series into the Conversion Stock, no adjustment shall be made for dividends on the Serial 
Preferred Stock of such Series payable to holders of record after the date of surrender of such shares for conversion or for 
dividends payable to holders of the Conversion Stock of record prior to the date of surrender for conversion.  Shares shall be 
deemed to have been converted immediately prior to the close of business on the day of surrender of such shares for conversion 
and the person entitled to receive the Conversion Stock issuable upon such conversion shall be treated for all purposes as the
record holder of such Conversion Stock at such time.  In case shares of Serial Preferred Stock of such Series are called for 
redemption, the privilege to convert such shares shall cease and terminate at the close of business on the second business day 
prior to the date fixed for redemption.
 
  (f) No fractional shares or scrip representing fractional shares shall be issued upon conversion of any share of Serial  
Preferred Stock of such Series.  If the conversion of any share of Serial Preferred Stock of such Series results in a fractional share 
of Conversion Stock, an amount in cash equal to such fraction multiplied by the value of one share of the Conversion Stock on 
the conversion date shall be paid to the holder.  Such value shall be the last sales price, regular way, of the Conversion Stock of 
the Corporation on the New York Stock Exchange (or such other exchange on which such stock shall be listed) on the conversion 
date or, in case no sale takes place on such date, the average of the closing bid and asked prices, regular way, on such exchange
on such date or, if such stock shall not then be listed on any exchange, the market price per share (as determined by the Board of 
Directors) at the close of business on the conversion date.  The Corporation shall at all times reserve and keep available, free from 
preemptive rights, out of its authorized but unissued Common Stock, for the purpose of effecting the conversion of the shares of 
Serial Preferred Stock of such Series, the full number of shares of Conversion Stock then 
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deliverable upon conversion of all shares of Serial Preferred Stock of such Series then outstanding.  The Corporation covenants 
that all shares of Conversion Stock issued upon conversion of Serial Preferred Stock of such Series will, upon issue, be legally 
issued and will be fully paid and nonassessable by the Corporation.
 
  (g) In case (i) the Corporation shall declare a dividend or other distribution on its Conversion Stock payable otherwise 
than in cash out of its earned surplus, or (ii) the Corporation shall authorize the granting to the holders of its Conversion Stock of 
rights to subscribe for or purchase any shares of capital stock of any class or of any other rights, or (iii) of any reclassification of 
the capital stock of the Corporation (other than a subdivision or combination of its outstanding shares of Conversion Stock) or of 
any consolidation or merger to which the Corporation is a party and for which approval of any stockholders of the Corporation is 
required or of the sale or transfer of the property and assets of the Corporation as an entirety or substantially as an entirety, or (iv) 
of any voluntary or involuntary dissolution, liquidation or winding up of the Corporation, then the Corporation shall mail or cause 
to be mailed to the holders of the outstanding shares of Serial Preferred Stock of such Series at least twenty days (or ten days in 
any case specified in clause (i) or clause (ii) above) prior to the applicable record date hereinafter specified, a notice stating the 
date on which a record is to be taken for the purpose of such dividend, distribution or rights or, if a record is not to be taken, the 
date as of which the holders of Conversion Stock of record to be entitled to such dividend, distribution or rights are to be 
determined, or the date on which such reclassification, consolidation, merger, sale, transfer, dissolution, liquidation or winding up 
is expected to become effective and the date as of which it is expected that holders of Conversion Stock of record shall be entitled 
to exchange their shares of the Conversion Stock for securities or other property deliverable thereupon.
 
 (5) Distinguishing Characteristics of the Series.  The Serial Preferred Stock may be issued, from time to time, in one or 
more Series each of which shall constitute a separate class.  The Board of Directors shall, by resolution adopted and certified to 
the Secretary of State pursuant to Section 48-16-102 of the Tennessee Business Corporation Act, fix and determine the 
distinguishing characteristics and rights, privileges and immunities of each Series of Serial Preferred Stock prior to the issuance 
of any shares of such Series.  The authority of the Board of Directors with respect to each Series shall include, but shall not be 
limited to, the determination or fixing of the following:
 
  (a) the number of shares constituting such Series and the distinctive designation of such Series;
 
  (b) the amounts, rates and kind of dividends, if any, to be paid on the shares of such Series, the dates on which such  
dividends shall be payable, whether or not dividends shall be cumulative and, if so, in what manner and from what date or dates;
 
  (c) whether or not the shares of such Series shall have voting rights and, if so, the terms of such voting rights;
 
  (d) whether or not the shares of such Series shall have conversion privileges and, if so, the terms and conditions of  
such conversion privileges, including provisions for adjustment of the conversion price or ratio in certain events;
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  (e) whether or not the shares of such Series shall be redeemable and, if so, the terms and conditions of such  
redemption, including the date or dates upon or after which such shares shall be redeemable, and the amount per share payable in 
case of redemption, which amount may vary under different conditions and at different redemption dates;
 
  (f) the rights of the shares of such Series in the event of voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding  
up of the Corporation;
 
  (g) whether or not shares of such Series shall be entitled to the benefit of a sinking or purchase fund for the purchase  
or redemption of such shares and, if so, the amount of such fund and the manner of its application;
 
  (h) the relative rights and preferences among different Series of Serial Preferred Stock; and
 
  (i) whether or not the shares of such Series which have been redeemed or converted, or purchased or otherwise  
acquired by the Corporation and cancelled, may be reissued as shares of the same or any other Series of Serial Preferred Stock.
 
  Each resolution adopted by the Board of Directors pursuant to the powers expressly delegated to it in this Section (5) of 
Part C-I of Article Sixth and pursuant to said Section 48-16-102 shall be certified to and filed with the Secretary of State of the 
State of Tennessee as an amendment to this Article Sixth.
 
  No such resolution adopted by the Board of Directors and certified to the Secretary of State as aforesaid may thereafter 
be amended, modified or rescinded by the Board of Directors except that, unless otherwise provided by the resolution creating 
such Series, authorized but unissued shares of a Series may, by resolution similarly adopted and certified, be removed from the 
authorized shares of such Series and may be authorized as shares of any other junior or pari passu Series; and no such resolution 
may alter or change any of the rights, privileges and immunities of any class of stock then outstanding so as adversely to affect 
such class.
 
 (6) Reduction of Capital.  Without limiting the generality of Article Eighth of the Charter, the Board of Directors is 
expressly authorized from time to time to effect the reduction of the capital of the Corporation by redeeming or purchasing and 
retiring all or any outstanding shares of any Series of Serial Preferred Stock pursuant to any provisions of this Article Sixth or any 
amendment thereto.
 

PART C-II — SUBORDINATED SERIAL PREFERRED STOCK, SERIES 1
 

 The first Series of Subordinated Serial Preferred Stock shall be known as “Subordinated Serial Preferred Stock, Series 1” 
(hereinafter referred to as “Series 1 Serial Preferred Stock”), shall consist of 64,368 shares, without nominal or par value, and 
shall have, in addition to the rights and preferences granted by law and by Part C-I of this Article Sixth, the following 
distinguishing characteristics, rights, privileges and immunities:

-28-



 
 
 (1) Dividends.  (a)  Dividends shall be payable quarterly on the last days of January, April, July and October on each 
outstanding share of Series 1 Serial Preferred Stock at the annual rate of $2.30.
 
  (b) The Series 1 Serial Preferred Stock shall rank equally in right to dividends with Series 2 Serial Preferred Stock but 
shall rank prior in right to dividends to any other Series of Serial Preferred Stock; therefore, no dividends shall be declared or 
paid on any outstanding share of any other Series of Serial Preferred Stock, other than Series 2 Serial Preferred Stock, in respect 
of any dividend period unless there shall likewise be or have been declared on all shares of Series 1 Serial Preferred Stock at the 
time outstanding full cumulative dividends, and no dividends shall be declared or paid on any outstanding share of Series 2 Serial 
Preferred Stock unless there shall likewise be or have been declared on all shares of Series 1 Serial Preferred Stock at the time 
outstanding a ratable dividend based upon the respective dividend rates of Series 1 and Series 2 Serial Preferred Stock at the time 
in effect.
 
  (c) Dividends with respect to shares of Series 1 Serial Preferred Stock shall be cumulative, whether or not earned,
from the date of issuance thereof, so that if, for any previous or then current dividend period, dividends shall not have been paid, 
or declared and set apart for payment, upon all outstanding shares of Series 1 Serial Preferred Stock, the deficiency shall be fully 
paid, or declared and set apart for payment, before any dividends are paid or declared upon any subordinate Series of Serial 
Preferred Stock or upon the Cumulative Preferred Stock, the Employees’ Preferred Stock or the Common Stock.  Accumulated 
dividends shall not bear interest.  Whenever full cumulative dividends on all shares of Series 1 Serial Preferred Stock for all 
previous dividend periods and for any then current period or periods shall have been paid or declared and set apart for payment, 
the Board of Directors may declare dividends upon any subordinate Series of Serial Preferred Stock, the Cumulative Preferred 
Stock or the Common Stock, payable then or thereafter, and no holder of any shares of Series 1 Serial Preferred Stock shall be 
entitled to share therein by virtue of such holding.
 
 (2) Liquidation.  (a)  The amount payable with respect to shares of Series 1 Serial Preferred Stock upon voluntary or 
involuntary dissolution, liquidation or winding up of the Corporation prior to November 1, 1973, shall be $40 per share and 
thereafter shall be the then prevailing redemption price for shares of such Series, plus in every case an amount equal to all 
accumulated and unpaid dividends, if any, accrued to the date fixed for final distribution to the holders of shares of Series 1 Serial 
Preferred Stock, whether or not earned or declared.
 
  (b) If, in the event of any such dissolution, liquidation or winding up, the assets of the Corporation are not sufficient to 
pay in full to the holders of shares of all Series of Serial Preferred Stock the respective amounts which shall have been fixed and 
determined with respect thereto, no payment shall be made to the holders of any other Series of Serial Preferred Stock, other than 
Series 2 Serial Preferred Stock, unless and until all amounts payable to the holders of Series 1 Serial Preferred Stock have been 
discharged in full.  In the event the assets of the Corporation are not sufficient to pay in full to the holders of shares of both Series 
1 and Series 2 Serial Preferred Stock the respective amounts to which they are entitled, then the shares of both Series 1 and Series 
2 shall share ratably according to their respective liquidation values.  After payment in full to the 
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holders of shares of Series 1 Serial Preferred Stock of the amounts set forth in subsection (a) of this Section (2), no holder of such 
shares shall have any right or claim to any of the remaining assets of the Corporation by virtue of such holding, and the same 
shall be distributed among the holders of the Serial Preferred Stock of subordinate Series, the Cumulative Preferred Stock, the 
Employees’ Preferred Stock and the Common Stock according to their respective rights hereunder.
 
 (3) Redemption.  The Corporation may, subsequent to October 31, 1973, at the option of the Board of Directors, redeem 
the Series 1 Serial Preferred Stock or, from time to time, any part thereof at the redemption prices hereinafter set forth, plus in 
every case an amount equal to all accumulated and unpaid dividends accrued to the redemption date on the shares redeemed, 
whether or not earned or declared.  The redemption price for each share of Series 1 Serial Preferred Stock redeemed at the option 
of the Board of Directors shall be $42.00 if redeemed prior to November 1, 1974, $41.60 if redeemed subsequent to October 31, 
1974 and prior to November 1, 1975, $41.20 if redeemed subsequent to October 31, 1975 and prior to November 1, 1976, $40.80 
if redeemed subsequent to October 31, 1976 and prior to November 1, 1977, $40.40 if redeemed subsequent to October 31, 1977 
and prior to November 1, 1978, and $40.00 if redeemed subsequent to October 31, 1978.
 
 (4) Conversion.  At the option of the holder thereof, each share of Series 1 Serial Preferred Stock may be converted into 
five-sixths (0.8333) of one fully paid and nonassessable share of Common Stock of the Corporation.  Such conversion ratio shall 
not be subject to adjustment except as provided in subsections (b) and (c) of Section (4) of Part C-I of this Article Sixth.
 
 (5) Voting Powers.  Each holder of shares of Series 1 Serial Preferred Stock shall be entitled to one vote on all matters for 
each shares of such stock standing in his name on the books of the Corporation.
 
 (6) Status of Unissued and Reacquired Shares.  Shares of Series 1 Serial Preferred Stock redeemed or converted, 
purchased or otherwise acquired by the Corporation and cancelled, shall have the status of authorized but unissued shares of such 
Series, but may not be reissued except as follows:  by resolution adopted by the Board of Directors and certified as provided in 
Section (5) of Part C-I of this Article Sixth, such shares, and any other authorized but unissued shares of Series 1 Serial Preferred 
Stock, may be removed from the authorized shares of such Series and be authorized and issued as shares of any junior Series of 
Serial Preferred Stock.
 
 (7) Exchanges for Junior Stock.  Notwithstanding the provisions of Part C-I(3)(f) of this Article Sixth, the Corporation or 
a subsidiary may from time to time after February 4, 1988 (i) purchase, redeem or otherwise acquire shares of Series 1 Serial 
Preferred Stock or of any other Series of Serial Preferred Stock ranking as to dividends or assets equally with or junior to the 
Series 1 Serial Preferred Stock in exchange for shares of Common Stock or of any other class of stock of the Corporation ranking 
as to dividends or assets junior to the Series 1 Serial Preferred Stock (including shares of other Series of Serial Preferred Stock) 
and cash payments in lieu of fractional shares and (ii) make cash payments to the holders of shares of Series 1 Serial Preferred 
Stock and to the holders of shares of other Series of Serial Preferred Stock ranking as to dividends or assets equally with or junior 
to the Series 1 Serial Preferred Stock who dissent to the amendments to the charter of the Corporation by which this Section (7) 
and similar Sections 
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applicable to such other Series are added to the charter and who become entitled by law to receive payment from the Corporation 
of the fair value of such shares.  Any exchanges permitted hereunder may be made pursuant to the conversion provisions 
applicable to the Series 1 Serial Preferred Stock or such other Series, in voluntary transactions with the holders of any such Series 
of Serial Preferred Stock or pursuant to an amendment to the charter.
 

PART C-III — SUBORDINATED SERIAL PREFERRED STOCK, SERIES 2
 

 The second Series of Subordinated Serial Preferred Stock shall be known as “Subordinated Serial Preferred Stock, Series 2” 
(hereinafter referred to as “Series 2 Serial Preferred Stock”), shall consist of 119,742 shares, without nominal or par value, and 
shall have, in addition to the rights and preferences granted by law and by Part C-I of this Article Sixth, the following 
distinguishing characteristics, rights, privileges and immunities:
 
 (1) Dividends.  (a)  Prior to November 1, 1973, dividends shall be payable on each outstanding share of Series 2 Serial 
Preferred Stock at the annual rate of $2.40 and thereafter at an annual rate equal to six percent (6%) of the then prevailing 
redemption price as specified in Section (3) of this Part C-III, and shall be payable quarterly on the last days of January, April, 
July and October.
 
  (b) The Series 2 Serial Preferred Stock shall rank equally in right to dividends with Series 1 Serial Preferred Stock but 
shall rank prior in right to dividends to any other Series of Serial Preferred Stock; therefore, no dividends shall be declared or 
paid on any outstanding share of any other Series of Serial Preferred Stock, other than Series 1 Serial Preferred Stock, in respect 
of any dividend period unless there shall likewise be or have been declared on all shares of Series 2 Serial Preferred Stock at the 
time outstanding full cumulative dividends, and no dividends shall be declared or paid on any outstanding share of Series 1 Serial 
Preferred Stock unless there shall likewise be or have been declared on all shares of Series 2 Serial Preferred Stock at the time 
outstanding a ratable dividend based upon the respective dividend rates of Series 2 and Series 1 Serial Preferred Stock at the time 
in effect.
 
  (c) Dividends with respect to shares of Series 2 Serial Preferred Stock shall be cumulative, whether or not earned,
from the date of issuance thereof, so that if, for any previous or then current dividend period, dividends shall not have been paid, 
or declared and set apart for payment, upon all outstanding shares of Series 2 Serial Preferred Stock, the deficiency shall be fully 
paid, or declared and set apart for payment, before any dividends are declared or paid upon any subordinate Series of Serial 
Preferred Stock or upon the Cumulative Preferred Stock, the Employees’ Preferred Stock or the Common Stock.  Accumulated 
dividends shall not bear interest.  Whenever full cumulative dividends on all shares of Series 2 Serial Preferred Stock for all 
previous dividend periods and for any then current period or periods shall have been paid or declared and set apart for payment, 
the Board of Directors may declare dividends upon any subordinate Series of Serial Preferred Stock, the Cumulative Preferred 
Stock or the Common Stock, payable then or thereafter, and no holder of any shares of Series 2 Serial Preferred Stock shall be 
entitled to share therein by virtue of such holding.
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 (2) Liquidation.  (a)  The amount payable with respect to shares of Series 2 Serial Preferred Stock upon voluntary or 
involuntary dissolution, liquidation or winding up of the Corporation prior to November 1, 1973, shall be $40 per share and 
thereafter shall be the then prevailing redemption price for shares of such Series, plus in every case an amount equal to all 
accumulated and unpaid dividends, if any, accrued to the date fixed for final distribution to holders of shares of Series 2 Serial 
Preferred Stock, whether or not earned or declared.
 
  (b) If, in the event of any such dissolution, liquidation or winding up, the assets of the Corporation are not sufficient to 
pay in full to the holders of shares of all Series of Serial Preferred Stock the respective amounts which shall have been fixed and 
determined with respect thereto, no payment shall be made to the holders of any other Series of Serial Preferred Stock, other than 
Series 1 Serial Preferred Stock, unless and until all amounts payable to the holders of Series 2 Serial Preferred Stock have been 
discharged in full.  In the event the assets of the Corporation are not sufficient to pay in full to the holders of shares of both Series 
2 and Series 1 Serial Preferred Stock the respective amounts to which they are entitled, then the shares of both Series 2 and Series 
1 shall share ratably according to their respective liquidation values.  After payment in full to the holders of shares of Series 2 
Serial Preferred Stock of the amounts set forth in subsection (a) of this Section (2), no holder of such shares shall have any right 
or claim to any of the remaining assets of the Corporation by virtue of such holding, and the same shall be distributed among the 
holders of the Serial Preferred Stock of subordinate Series, the Cumulative Preferred Stock, the Employees’ Preferred Stock and 
the Common Stock according to their respective rights hereunder.
 
 (3) Redemption.  The Corporation may, subsequent to October 31, 1973, at the option of the Board of Directors, redeem 
the Series 2 Serial Preferred Stock or, from time to time, any part thereof at the redemption prices hereinafter set forth, plus in 
every case an amount equal to all accumulated and unpaid dividends accrued to the redemption date on the shares redeemed, 
whether or not earned or declared.  The redemption price for each share of Series 2 Serial Preferred Stock redeemed at the option 
of the Board of Directors or pursuant to the Sinking Fund shall be $40 if redeemed prior to January 1, 1974, $45 if redeemed in 
the calendar year 1974 and shall increase by $2 per annum for each calendar year thereafter.
 
 (4) Sinking Fund.  (a)  So long as any shares of Series 2 Serial Preferred Stock shall be outstanding, and as and for a 
sinking fund for the redemption of shares of Series 2 Serial Preferred Stock, the Corporation shall, on or before January 1, 1974, 
and each January 1 thereafter, deposit or cause to be deposited in trust with some bank or trust company organized and doing 
business under the laws of the United States of America or the State of New York and having capital surplus and undivided 
profits aggregating at least Ten Million Dollars ($10,000,000) and having its principal office in the Borough of Manhattan, The 
City of New York, an amount of money sufficient to redeem 20% of the shares of Series 2 Serial Preferred Stock originally issued 
or outstanding on the sinking fund payment date, whichever is greater, at the redemption price stated in Section (3) of this Part C-
III prevailing during the calendar year in which such sinking fund payment is required to be made.
 
  (b) Moneys deposited in the sinking fund shall be applied on a pro rata basis to the redemption of shares of Series 2  
Serial Preferred Stock during the calendar year in which such 
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sinking fund payment is required to be made.  Until so applied such moneys may, at the option of the Corporation, be invested in 
obligations issued or guaranteed by the United States Government.
 
  (c) Any interest earned on moneys deposited in the sinking fund shall be paid to the Corporation free of any trust.
 
 (5) Conversion.  The shares of Series 2 Serial Preferred Stock shall not be convertible.
 
 (6) Voting Powers.  Each holder of shares of Series 2 Serial Preferred Stock shall be entitled to one vote on all matters for 
each share of such stock standing in his name on the books of the Corporation.
 
 (7) Status of Unissued and Reacquired Shares.  Shares of Series 2 Serial Preferred Stock redeemed or purchased or 
otherwise acquired by the Corporation and cancelled, shall have the status of authorized but unissued shares of such Series, but 
may not be reissued except as follows:  by resolution adopted by the Board of Directors and certified as provided in Section (5) of 
Part C-I of this Article Sixth, such shares, and any other authorized but unissued shares of Series 2 Serial Preferred Stock, may be 
removed from the authorized shares of such Series and be authorized and issued as shares of any junior Series of Serial Preferred 
Stock.
 
 (8) Exchanges for Junior Stock.  Notwithstanding the provisions of Part C-I(3)(f) of this Article Sixth, the Corporation or 
a subsidiary may from time to time after February 4, 1988 (i) purchase, redeem or otherwise acquire shares of Series 2 Serial 
Preferred Stock or of any other Series of Serial Preferred Stock ranking as to dividends or assets equally with or junior to the 
Series 2 Serial Preferred Stock in exchange for shares of Common Stock or of any other class of stock of the Corporation ranking 
as to dividends or assets junior to the Series 2 Serial Preferred Stock (including shares of other Series of Serial Preferred Stock) 
and cash payments in lieu of fractional shares and (ii) make cash payments to the holders of shares of Series 2 Serial Preferred 
Stock ranking as to dividends or assets equally with or junior to the Series 2 Serial Preferred Stock who dissent to the 
amendments to the charter of the Corporation by which this Section (8) and similar Sections applicable to such other Series are 
added to the charter and who become entitled by law to receive payment from the Corporation of the fair value of such shares.  
Any exchanges permitted hereunder may be made pursuant to the conversion provisions applicable to such other Series, in 
voluntary transactions with the holders of any such Series of Serial Preferred Stock or pursuant to an amendment to the charter.
 

PART C-IV — SUBORDINATED SERIAL PREFERRED STOCK, SERIES 3
 

 The third Series of Subordinated Serial Preferred Stock shall be known as “Subordinated Serial Preferred Stock, Series 3” 
(hereinafter referred to as “Series 3 Serial Preferred Stock”), shall consist of 40,449 shares, without nominal or par value, and 
shall have, in addition to the rights and preferences granted by law and by Part C-I of this Article Sixth, the following 
distinguishing characteristics, rights, privileges and immunities:
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 (1) Dividends.  (a)  Dividends shall be payable quarterly on the last days of January, April, July and October on each 
outstanding share of Series 3 Serial Preferred Stock at the annual rate of $4.75.
 
  (b) The Series 3 Serial Preferred Stock shall be subordinate in right to dividends to Series 1 and Series 2 Serial  
Preferred Stock but shall rank prior in right to dividends to any other Series of Serial Preferred Stock; therefore, no dividends 
shall be declared or paid on any outstanding share of any other Series of Serial Preferred Stock, other than Series 1 and Series 2 
Serial Preferred Stock, in respect of any dividend period unless there shall likewise be or have been declared on all shares of 
Series 3 Serial Preferred Stock at the time outstanding full cumulative dividends.
 
  (c) Dividends with respect to shares of Series 3 Serial Preferred Stock shall be cumulative, whether or not earned,
from and after December 1, 1968, so that if, for any previous or then current dividend period, dividends shall not have been paid, 
or declared and set apart for payment, upon all outstanding shares of Series 3 Serial Preferred Stock, the deficiency shall be fully 
paid, or declared and set apart for payment, before any dividends are paid or declared upon any subordinate Series of Serial 
Preferred Stock or upon the Cumulative Preferred Stock, the Employees’ Preferred Stock or the Common Stock.  Accumulated 
dividends shall not bear interest.  Whenever full cumulative dividends on all shares of Series 3 Serial Preferred Stock for all 
previous dividend periods and for any then current period or periods shall have been paid, or declared and set apart for payment, 
the Board of Directors may declare dividends upon any subordinate Series of Serial Preferred Stock, the Cumulative Preferred 
Stock or the Common Stock, payable then or thereafter, and no holder of any shares of Series 3 Serial Preferred Stock shall be 
entitled to share therein by virtue of such holding.
 
 (2) Liquidation.  (a)  The amount payable with respect to shares of Series 3 Serial Preferred Stock upon voluntary or 
involuntary dissolution, liquidation or winding up of the Corporation shall be $100 per share plus an amount equal to all 
accumulated and unpaid dividends, if any, accrued to the date fixed for final distribution to the holders of shares of Series 3 Serial 
Preferred Stock, whether or not earned or declared.
 
  (b) If, in the event of any such dissolution, liquidation or winding up, the assets of the Corporation are not sufficient to 
pay in full to the holders of shares of all Series of Serial Preferred Stock the respective amounts which shall have been fixed and 
determined with respect thereto, no payment shall be made to the holders of Series 3 Serial Preferred Stock unless and until all 
amounts payable to the holders of Series 1 and Series 2 Serial Preferred Stock have been discharged in full, and no payment shall 
be made to the holders of any other Series of Serial Preferred Stock, other than Series 1 and Series 2 Serial Preferred Stock, 
unless and until all amounts payable to the holders of Series 3 Serial Preferred Stock have been discharged in full.  After payment 
in full to the holders of shares of Series 3 Serial Preferred Stock of the amounts set forth in subsection (a) of this Section (2), no 
holder of such shares shall have any right or claim to any of the remaining assets of the Corporation by virtue of such holding, 
and the same shall be distributed among the holders of the Serial Preferred Stock of subordinate Series, the Cumulative Preferred 
Stock, the Employees’ Preferred Stock and the Common Stock according to their respective rights hereunder.
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 (3) Redemption.  The Corporation may, subsequent to October 31, 1973, at the option of the Board of Directors, redeem 
the Series 3 Serial Preferred Stock or, from time to time, any part thereof at the redemption prices hereinafter set forth, plus in 
every case an amount equal to all accumulated and unpaid dividends accrued to the redemption date on the shares redeemed, 
whether or not earned or declared.  The redemption price for each share of Series 3 Serial Preferred Stock redeemed, whether or 
not earned or declared.  The redemption price for each share of Series 3 Serial Preferred Stock redeemed at the option of the 
Board of Directors shall be $105 if redeemed prior to November 1, 1974, $104 if redeemed subsequent to October 31, 1974 and 
prior to November 1, 1975, $103 if redeemed subsequent to October 31, 1975 and prior to November 1, 1976, $102 if redeemed 
subsequent to October 31, 1976 and prior to November 1, 1977, $101 if redeemed subsequent to October 31, 1977 and prior to 
November 1, 1978, and $100 if redeemed subsequent to October 31, 1978.
 
 (4) Conversion.  At the option of the holder thereof, each share of Series 3 Serial Preferred Stock may be converted into 
2.10526 fully paid and nonassessable shares of Common Stock of the Corporation.  Such conversion ratio shall not be subject to 
adjustment except as provided in subsections (b) and (c) of Section (4) of Part C-I of this Article Sixth.
 
 (5) Voting Powers.  Each holder of shares of Series 3 Serial Preferred Stock shall be entitled to two votes on all matters for 
each shares of such stock standing in his name on the books of the Corporation.
 
 (6) Status of Unissued and Reacquired Shares.  Shares of Series 3 Serial Preferred Stock redeemed or converted, or 
purchased or otherwise acquired by the Corporation and cancelled, shall have the status of authorized but unissued shares of such 
Series, but may not be reissued except as follows:  by resolution adopted by the Board of Directors and certified as provided in 
Section (5) of Part C-I of this Article Sixth, such shares, and any other authorized but unissued shares of Series 3 Serial Preferred 
Stock, may be removed from the authorized shares of such Series and be authorized and issued as shares of any junior Series of 
Serial Preferred Stock.
 
 (7) Exchanges for Junior Stock.  Notwithstanding the provisions of Part C-I(3)(f) of this Article Sixth, the Corporation or 
a subsidiary may from time to time after February 4, 1988 (i) purchase, redeem or otherwise acquire shares of Series 3 Serial 
Preferred Stock or of any other Series of Serial Preferred Stock ranking as to dividends or assets equally with or junior to the 
Series 3 Serial Preferred Stock in exchange for shares of Common Stock or of any other class of stock of the Corporation ranking 
as to dividends or assets junior to the Series 3 Serial Preferred Stock (including shares of other Series of Serial Preferred Stock) 
and cash payments in lieu of fractional shares and (ii) make cash payments to the holders of shares of Series 3 Serial Preferred 
Stock and to the holders of shares of other Series of Serial Preferred Stock ranking as to dividends or assets equally with or junior 
to the Series 3 Serial Preferred Stock who dissent to the amendments to the charter of the Corporation by which this Section (7) 
and similar Sections applicable to such other Series are added to the charter and who become entitled by law to receive payment 
from the Corporation of the fair value of such shares.  Any exchanges permitted hereunder may be made pursuant to the 
conversion provisions applicable to the Series 3 Serial Preferred Stock or such other Series, in voluntary transactions with the 
holders of any such Series of Serial Preferred Stock or pursuant to an amendment to the charter.
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PART C-V — SUBORDINATED SERIAL PREFERRED STOCK, SERIES 4
 

 The fourth Series of Subordinated Serial Preferred Stock shall be known as “Subordinated Serial Preferred Stock, Series 4” 
(hereinafter referred to as “Series 4 Serial Preferred Stock”), shall consist of 53,764 shares, without nominal or par value, and 
shall have, in addition to the rights and preferences granted by law and by Part C-I of this Article Sixth, the following 
distinguishing characteristics, rights, privileges and immunities:
 
 (1) Dividends.  (a)  Dividends shall be payable quarterly on the last days of January, April, July and October on each 
outstanding share of Series 4 Serial Preferred Stock at the annual rate of $4.75.
 
  (b) The Series 4 Serial Preferred Stock shall be subordinate in right to dividends to Series 1, Series 2 and Series 3  
Serial Preferred Stock but shall rank prior in right to dividends to any other Series of Serial Preferred Stock; therefore, no 
dividends shall be declared or paid on any outstanding share of any other Series of Serial Preferred Stock, other than Series 1, 
Series 2 and Series 3 Serial Preferred Stock, in respect of any dividend period unless there shall likewise be or have been declared 
on all shares of Series 4 Serial Preferred Stock at the time outstanding full cumulative dividends.
 
  (c) Dividends with respect to shares of Series 4 Serial Preferred Stock shall be cumulative, whether or not earned,
from the date of issuance so that if, for any previous or then current dividend period, dividends shall not have been paid, or 
declared and set apart for payment, upon all outstanding shares of Series 4 Serial Preferred Stock, the deficiency shall be fully 
paid, or declared and set apart for payment, before any dividends are paid or declared upon any subordinate Series of Serial 
Preferred Stock or upon the Cumulative Preferred Stock, the Employees’ Preferred Stock or the Common Stock.  Accumulated 
dividends shall not bear interest.  Whenever full cumulative dividends on all shares of Series 4 Serial Preferred Stock for all 
previous dividend periods and for any then current period or periods shall have been paid, or declared and set apart for payment, 
the Board of Directors may declare dividends upon any subordinate Series of Serial Preferred Stock, the Cumulative Preferred 
Stock or the Common Stock, payable then or thereafter, and no holder of any shares of Series 4 Serial Preferred Stock shall be 
entitled to share therein by virtue of such holding.
 
 (2) Liquidation.  (a)  The amount payable with respect to shares of Series 4 Serial Preferred Stock upon voluntary or 
involuntary dissolution, liquidation or winding up of the Corporation shall be $100 per share plus an amount equal to all 
accumulated and unpaid dividends, if any, accrued to the date fixed for final distribution to the holders of shares of Series 4 Serial 
Preferred Stock, whether or not earned or declared.
 
  (b) If, in the event of any such dissolution, liquidation or winding up, the assets of the Corporation are not sufficient to 
pay in full to the holders of shares of all Series of Serial Preferred Stock the respective amounts which shall have been fixed and 
determined with respect thereto, no payment shall be made to the holders of Series 4 Serial Preferred Stock unless and until all 
amounts payable to the holders of Series 1, Series 2 and Series 3 Serial Preferred Stock have been 
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discharged in full, and no payment shall be made to the holders of any other Series of Serial Preferred Stock, other than Series 1, 
Series 2 and Series 3 Serial Preferred Stock, unless and until all amounts payable to the holders of Series 4 Serial Preferred Stock 
have been discharged in full.  After payment in full to the holders of shares of Series 4 Serial Preferred Stock of the amounts set 
forth in subsection (a) of this Section (2), no holder of such shares shall have any right or claim to any of the remaining assets of 
the Corporation by virtue of such holding, and the same shall be distributed among the holders of the Serial Preferred Stock of 
subordinate Series, the Cumulative Preferred Stock, the Employees’ Preferred Stock and the Common Stock according to their 
respective rights hereunder.
 
 (3) Redemption.  The Corporation may, subsequent to June 30, 1977, at the option of the Board of Directors, redeem the 
Series 4 Serial Preferred Stock or, from time to time, any part thereof at the redemption prices hereinafter set forth, plus in every 
case an amount equal to all accumulated and unpaid dividends accrued to the redemption date on the shares redeemed, whether or 
not earned or declared.  The redemption price for each share of Series 4 Serial Preferred Stock redeemed at the option of the 
Board of Directors shall be $104 if redeemed prior to July 1, 1978, $103 if redeemed subsequent to June 30, 1978 and prior to 
July 1, 1979, $102 if redeemed subsequent to June 30, 1979 and prior to July 1, 1980, $101 if redeemed subsequent to June 30, 
1980 and prior to July 1, 1981, and $100 if redeemed subsequent to June 30, 1981.
 
 (4) Conversion.  At the option of the holder thereof, each share of Series 4 Serial Preferred Stock may be converted into 
1.6667 fully paid and nonassessable shares of Common Stock of the Corporation on or before April 30, 1974, or into 1.5151 fully 
paid and nonassessable shares of Common Stock of the Corporation thereafter.  Such conversion ratios shall not be subject to 
adjustment except as provided in subsections (b) and (c) of Section (4) of Part C-I of this Article Sixth.
 
 (5) Voting Powers.  Each holder of shares of Series 4 Serial Preferred Stock shall be entitled to one vote on all matters for 
each share of such stock standing in his name on the books of the Corporation.
 
 (6) Status of Unissued and Reacquired Shares.  Shares of Series 4 Serial Preferred Stock redeemed or converted, or 
purchased or otherwise acquired by the Corporation and cancelled, shall have the status of authorized but unissued shares of such 
Series, but may not be reissued except as follows:  by resolution adopted by the Board and certified as provided in Section (5) of 
Part C-I of this Article Sixth, such shares, and any other authorized but unissued shares of Series 4 Serial Preferred Stock, may be 
removed from the authorized shares of such Series and be authorized and issued as shares of any junior Series of Serial Preferred 
Stock.
 
 (7) Exchanges for Junior Stock.  Notwithstanding the provisions of Part C-I(3)(f) of this Article Sixth, the Corporation or 
a subsidiary may from time to time after February 4, 1988 (i) purchase, redeem or otherwise acquire shares of Series 4 Serial 
Preferred Stock or of any other Series of Serial Preferred Stock ranking as to dividends or assets equally with or junior to the 
Series 4 Serial Preferred Stock in exchange for shares of Common Stock or of any other class of stock of the Corporation ranking 
as to dividends or assets junior to the Series 4 Serial Preferred Stock (including shares of other Series of Serial Preferred Stock) 
and cash payments in lieu of 
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fractional shares and (ii) make cash payments to the holders of shares of Series 4 Serial Preferred Stock and to the holders of 
shares of other Series of Serial Preferred Stock ranking as to dividends or assets equally with or junior to the Series 4 Serial 
Preferred Stock who dissent to the amendments to the charter of the Corporation by which this Section (7) and similar Sections 
applicable to such other Series are added to the charter and who become entitled by law to receive payment from the Corporation 
of the fair value of such shares.  Any exchanges permitted hereunder may be made pursuant to the conversion provisions 
applicable to the Series 4 Serial Preferred Stock or such other Series, in voluntary transactions with the holders of any such Series 
of Serial Preferred Stock or pursuant to an amendment to the charter.

 
PART C-VI — SUBORDINATED SERIAL PREFERRED STOCK, SERIES 5

 
 The fifth Series of Subordinated Serial Preferred Stock was known as “Subordinated Serial Preferred Stock, Series 5”  
(hereinafter referred to as “Series 5 Serial Preferred Stock”). There were 122,500 authorized shares of Series 5 Serial Preferred 
Stock.  The 122,500 shares of Series 5 Serial Preferred Stock which were reacquired by the Corporation, cancelled and removed 
from the authorized shares of such Series may be authorized and issued as shares of any junior Series of Serial Preferred Stock by 
resolution adopted by the Board of Directors and certified as provided in Section (5) of Part C-I of this Article Sixth.
 

PART C-VII — SUBORDINATED SERIAL PREFERRED STOCK, SERIES 6
 

 The sixth Series of Subordinated Serial Preferred Stock shall be known as “Subordinated Serial Preferred Stock, Series 6” 
(hereinafter referred to as “Series 6 Serial Preferred Stock”), shall consist of 800,000 shares, without nominal or par value, and 
shall have, in addition to the rights and preferences granted by law and by Part C-I of this Article Sixth, the following 
characteristics, rights and preferences:
 
 (1) Dividends.  (a)  Subject to the rights of the holders of any shares of any class or series of Preferred Stock (or any 
similar stock) ranking prior and superior to the Series 6 Serial Preferred Stock with respect to dividends, the holders of shares of 
Series 6 Serial Preferred Stock, in preference to the holders of the Cumulative Preferred Stock, the Employees’ Preferred Stock, 
the Common Stock and of any other junior stock, shall be entitled to receive, when, as and if declared by the Board of Directors 
out of funds legally available for the purpose, quarterly dividends payable in cash on the last days of January, April, July and 
October in each year (each such date being referred to herein as a “Quarterly Dividend Payment Date”), commencing on the first 
Quarterly Dividend Payment Date after the first issuance of a share of Series 6 Serial Preferred Stock, in an amount per share 
(rounded to the nearest cent) equal to the greater of (a) $1.00 or (b) subject to the provision for adjustment hereinafter set forth, 
100 times the aggregate per share amount (payable in kind) of all non-cash dividends or other distributions, other than a dividend 
payable in shares of Common Stock or a subdivision of the outstanding shares of Common Stock (by reclassification or 
otherwise), declared on the Common Stock since the immediately preceding Quarterly Dividend Payment Date or, with respect to 
the first Quarterly Dividend Payment Date, since the first issuance of any share or fraction of a share of Series 6 Serial Preferred 
Stock.  In the event the Corporation shall at any time declare or pay any dividend on the Common Stock payable in shares of 
Common Stock, or effect a subdivision or combination or consolidation of the 
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outstanding shares of Common Stock (by reclassification or otherwise than by payment of a dividend in shares of Common 
Stock) into a greater or lesser number of shares of Common Stock, then in each such case the amount to which holders of shares 
of Series 6 Serial Preferred Stock were entitled immediately prior to such event under clause (b) of the preceding sentence shall 
be adjusted by multiplying such amount by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of shares of Common Stock 
outstanding immediately after such event and the denominator of which is the number of shares of Common Stock that were 
outstanding immediately prior to such event.
 
  (b) The Corporation shall declare a dividend or distribution on the Series 6 Serial Preferred Stock as provided in  
paragraph (a) of this Section (1) immediately after it declares a dividend or distribution on the Common Stock (other than a
dividend payable in shares of Common Stock); provided that, in the event no dividend or distribution shall have been declared on 
the Common Stock during the period between any Quarterly Dividend Payment Date and the next subsequent Quarterly Dividend 
Payment Date, a dividend of $1.00 per share on the Series 6 Serial Preferred Stock shall nevertheless be payable on such 
subsequent Quarterly Dividend Payment Date.
 
  (c) Dividends shall begin to accrue and be cumulative on outstanding shares of Series 6 Serial Preferred Stock from  
the Quarterly Dividend Payment Date next preceding the date of issue of such shares, unless the date of issue of such shares is 
prior to the record date for the first Quarterly Dividend Payment Date, in which case dividends on such shares shall begin to 
accrue from the date of issue of such shares, or unless the date of issue is a Quarterly Dividend Payment Date or is a date after the 
record date for the determination of holders of shares of Series 6 Serial Preferred Stock entitled to receive a quarterly dividend 
and before such Quarterly Dividend Payment Date, in either of which events such dividends shall begin to accrue and be 
cumulative from such Quarterly Dividend Payment Date.  Accrued but unpaid dividends shall not bear interest.  Dividends paid 
on the shares of Series 6 Serial Preferred Stock in an amount less than the total amount of such dividends at the time accrued and 
payable on such shares shall be allocated pro rata on a share-by-share basis among all such shares at the time outstanding.  The 
Board of Directors may fix a record date for the determination of holders of shares of Series 6 Serial Preferred Stock entitled to 
receive payment of a dividend or distribution declared thereon, which record date shall be not more than 60 days prior to the date 
fixed for the payment thereof.
 
 (2) Voting Rights.  The holders of shares of Series 6 Serial Preferred Stock shall have the following voting rights:
 
  (a) Subject to the provision for adjustment hereinafter set forth, each share of Series 6 Serial Preferred Stock shall  
entitle the holder thereof to 100 votes on all matters submitted to a vote of the shareholders of the Corporation.  In the event the 
Corporation shall at any time declare or pay any dividend on the Common Stock payable in shares of Common Stock, or effect a 
subdivision or combination or consolidation of the outstanding shares of Common Stock (by reclassification or otherwise than by 
payment of a dividend in shares of Common Stock) into a greater or lesser number of shares of Common Stock, then in each such 
case the number of votes per share to which holders of shares of Series 6 Serial Preferred Stock were entitled immediately prior 
to such event shall be adjusted (to the nearest whole vote per share) by multiplying such number by a fraction, the numerator of 
which is the number of shares of Common Stock 
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outstanding immediately after such event and the denominator of which is the number of shares of Common Stock that were 
outstanding immediately prior to such event.
 
  (b) Except as otherwise provided herein, in any other Charter Amendment creating a series of preferred stock or any  
similar stock, or by law, the holders of shares of Series 6 Serial Preferred Stock and the holders of shares of Common Stock and 
any other capital stock of the Corporation having general voting rights shall vote together as one class on all matters submitted to 
a vote of shareholders of the Corporation.
 
  (c) Except as set forth herein, or as otherwise provided by law, holders of Series 6 Serial Preferred Stock shall have no 
special voting rights and their consent shall not be required (except to the extent they are entitled to vote with holders of Common 
Stock as set forth herein) for taking any corporate action.
 
 (3) Certain Restrictions.  (a)  Whenever quarterly dividends or other dividends or distributions payable on the Series 6 
Serial Preferred Stock as provided in Section (1) are in arrears, thereafter and until all accrued and unpaid dividends and 
distributions, whether or not declared, on shares of Series 6 Serial Preferred Stock outstanding shall have been paid in full, the 
Corporation shall not:
 
  (i) declare or pay dividends, or make any other distributions, on any shares of stock ranking junior (either as 

to dividends or upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up) to the Series 6 Serial Preferred Stock;
 
  (ii) declare or pay any dividends, or make any other distributions, on any shares of stock ranking on a parity 

(either as to dividends or upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up) with the Series 6 Serial Preferred Stock, 
except dividends paid ratably on the Series 6 Serial Preferred Stock and all such parity stock on which dividends 
are payable or in arrears in proportion to the total amounts to which the holders of all such shares are then 
entitled;

 
  (iii) redeem or purchase or otherwise acquire for consideration shares of any stock ranking junior (either as to 

dividends or upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up) to the Series 6 Serial Preferred Stock, provided that 
the Corporation may at any time redeem, purchase or otherwise acquire shares of any such junior stock in 
exchange for shares of any stock of the Corporation ranking junior (both as to dividends and upon dissolution, 
liquidation or winding up) to the Series 6 Serial Preferred Stock; or

 
  (iv) redeem or purchase or otherwise acquire for consideration any shares of Series 6 Serial Preferred Stock,  

or any shares of stock ranking on a parity with the Series 6 Serial Preferred Stock, except in accordance with a 
purchase offer made in writing or by publication (as determined by the Board of Directors) to all holders of such 
shares upon such terms as the Board of Directors, after consideration of the respective annual dividend rates and 
other relative rights and preferences of the 
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respective series and classes, shall determine in good faith will result in fair and equitable treatment among the 
respective series or classes.

 
  (b) The Corporation shall not permit any subsidiary of the Corporation to purchase or otherwise acquire for  
consideration any shares of stock of the Corporation, unless the Corporation could, under paragraph (a) of this Section (3), 
purchase or otherwise acquire such shares at such time and in such manner.
 
 (4) Reacquired Shares.  Any shares of Series 6 Serial Preferred Stock purchased or otherwise acquired by the Corporation 
in any manner whatsoever shall be retired and cancelled promptly after the acquisition thereof.  All such shares shall upon their 
cancellation become authorized but unissued shares of Subordinated Serial Preferred Stock and may be reissued as part of a new 
series of Subordinated Serial Preferred Stock, subject to the conditions and restrictions on issuance set forth herein, in the Charter 
or in any amendment thereto creating a series of Subordinated Serial Preferred Stock or any similar stock or as otherwise required 
by law.
 
 (5) Liquidation.  Upon any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Corporation, no distribution shall be made (i) to 
the holders of shares of stock ranking junior (either as to dividends or upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up) to the Series 6 
Serial Preferred Stock, unless prior thereto the holders of shares of Series 6 Serial Preferred Stock shall have received $100 per 
share, plus an amount equal to accrued and unpaid dividends and distributions thereon, whether or not declared, to the date of 
such payment, provided that the holders of shares of Series 6 Serial Preferred Stock shall be entitled to receive an aggregate 
amount per share, subject to the provision for adjustment hereinafter set forth, equal to 100 times the aggregate amount to be 
distributed per share to holders of shares of Common Stock, or (ii) to the holders of shares of stock ranking on a parity (either as 
to dividends or upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up) with the Series 6 Serial Preferred Stock, except distributions made 
ratably on the Series 6 Serial Preferred Stock and all such parity stock in proportion to the total amounts to which the holders of 
all such shares are entitled upon such liquidation, dissolution or winding up.  In the event the Corporation shall at any time 
declare or pay any dividend on the Common Stock payable in shares of Common Stock, or effect a subdivision or combination or 
consolidation of the outstanding shares of Common Stock (by reclassification or otherwise than by payment of a dividend in 
shares of Common Stock) into a greater or lesser number of shares of Common Stock, then in each such case the aggregate 
amount per share determined under clause (i) of the preceding sentence immediately prior to such event shall be adjusted by 
multiplying such amount by a fraction the numerator of which is the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding 
immediately after such event and the denominator of which is the number of shares of Common Stock that were outstanding 
immediately prior to such event.
 
 (6) Consolidation, Merger, etc.  In case the Corporation shall enter into any consolidation, merger, share exchange, 
combination or other transaction in which the shares of Common Stock are exchanged for or changed into other stock or 
securities, cash and/or any other property, then in any such case each share of Series 6 Serial Preferred Stock shall at the same 
time be similarly exchanged or changed into shares of such other stock or securities, cash and/or other property having a value 
per share, subject to the provision for adjustment hereinafter set forth, equal to 100 times the aggregate value of stock, securities, 
cash and/or any other property (payable in kind), as 
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the case may be, into which or for which each share of Common Stock is exchanged or changed.  In the event the Corporation 
shall at any time declare or pay any dividend on the Common Stock payable in shares of Common Stock, or effect a subdivision 
or combination or consolidation of the outstanding shares of Common Stock (by reclassification or otherwise than by payment of 
a dividend in shares of Common Stock) into a greater or lesser number of shares of Common Stock, then in each such case the 
number 100 set forth in the preceding sentence (as adjusted, if applicable) shall be adjusted by multiplying such number (or 
adjusted number) by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding immediately after 
such event and the denominator of which is the number of shares of Common Stock that were outstanding immediately prior to 
such event.
 
 (7) No Redemption or Conversion.  The shares of Series 6 Serial Preferred Stock shall not be redeemable or convertible.
 
 (8) Relative Rights and Preferences.  The Series 6 Serial Preferred Stock ranks junior to the Series 1, 3 and 4 Serial 
Preferred Stock and senior to all other series of Serial Preferred Stock, as to dividends and upon liquidation, dissolution or 
winding up.
 

PART D — SUBORDINATED CUMULATIVE PREFERRED STOCK
 

 (1) Dividends.  The holders of shares of Cumulative Preferred Stock shall be entitled, before any dividends are declared or 
paid on the Common Stock, but subject to the prior rights of the Convertible Preferred Stock, the Subordinated Preference Stock 
of each Series and the Serial Preferred Stock of each Series to dividends and to the sinking fund or purchase fund provisions with 
respect thereto, to receive dividends, when and as declared by the Board of Directors, at an annual rate per share equal to 45% of 
the average consolidated earnings per share of the Common Stock of the Corporation for the preceding two fiscal years as shown 
in the annual stockholders report of the Corporation as published in each such year, but in no event less than $1.50 per share per 
annum; provided, however, that in the event that the Corporation shall, after December 1, 1967, (i) issue shares of Common Stock 
as a stock dividend, in a stock split or otherwise subdivide its outstanding shares of Common Stock or (ii) combine its 
outstanding shares of Common Stock into a smaller number of shares, the annual dividend rate per share of Cumulative Preferred 
Stock shall be based upon the consolidated earnings per share of Common Stock of the Corporation which would have been 
outstanding had such subdivision or combination not taken place.  Such dividends shall be payable quarterly commencing on the 
last day of the first quarter of each fiscal year and shall be cumulative from the first day of the fiscal quarter in which issued.
 
  Dividends with respect to Cumulative Preferred Stock shall be cumulative, so that if, for any previous or then current  
dividend period, dividends shall not have been paid, or declared and set apart for payment, upon all outstanding shares of 
Cumulative Preferred Stock at the rate determined as hereinbefore set forth, the deficiency shall be fully paid, or declared and set 
apart for payment, before any dividends are paid or declared upon the Common Stock.  Accumulated dividends shall not bear 
interest.  Whenever full cumulative dividends on the Cumulative Preferred Stock for all previous dividend periods and for any 
then current period or periods shall have been paid, or declared and set apart for payment, the Board of Directors may declare 
dividends upon 
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the Common Stock, payable then or thereafter, and no holder of any shares of Cumulative Preferred Stock, as such, shall be 
entitled to share therein.
 
 (2) Liquidation.  Upon any dissolution, liquidation or winding up of the Corporation, the holders of Cumulative Preferred 
Stock shall be entitled to be paid from the assets (whether capital or surplus) of the Corporation, before any payment or 
distribution shall be made to the holders of the Employees’ Preferred Stock or the Common Stock, but subject to and after prior 
payment of the amounts payable with respect to the Convertible Preferred Stock, the Subordinated Preference Stock and the 
Serial Preferred Stock, an amount per share equal to 88 time the average quarterly per share dividend paid on the Common Stock 
of the Corporation for the previous eight quarters, but in no event less than $30 per share; provided, however, that in the event 
that the Corporation shall, after December 1, 1967 (i) issue shares of Common Stock as a stock dividend, in a stock split, or 
otherwise subdivide its outstanding shares of Common Stock or (ii) combine its outstanding shares of Common Stock into a 
smaller number of shares, the amount payable shall be based upon the aggregate dividends paid on the Common Stock for such 
periods divided by the number of shares of Common Stock which would have been outstanding had such subdivision or 
combination not taken place; plus in every case an amount equal to all accumulated and unpaid dividends accrued to the date 
fixed for the final distribution to such holders, whether or not earned or declared.
 
  After payment in full of all amounts payable to the holders of the Cumulative Preferred Stock, such shareholders, as  
such, shall have no right or claim to any of the remaining assets of the Corporation, and the same shall be distributed among the 
holders of the Employees’ Preferred Stock and the Common Stock in accordance with their respective rights hereunder.
 
 (3) Redemption.  At the option of the Board of Directors, the Corporation, subject to the restrictions set forth in this 
Section (3), may at any time redeem the Cumulative Preferred Stock, or any part thereof, at a price equal to the amount payable 
on liquidation; provided, however, that any redemption hereunder shall be made only on a dividend payment date, and provided 
further that no less than 30 nor more than 60 days prior to the date fixed for redemption, a notice specifying the time and place of 
redemption and the redemption price shall be given to the holders of record of the shares to be redeemed by publication of such 
notice in one newspaper published and of general circulation in the City of Nashville, Tennessee, and in one newspaper published 
and of general circulation in the Borough of Manhattan, City and State of New York, and by mailing such notice to such holders 
at their addresses, if any, as the same appear upon the stock registry books.
 
  If less than all outstanding shares of Cumulative Preferred Stock are to be redeemed, the shares to be redeemed may be 
selected by the Board of Directors by lot or in any other manner which the Board of Directors in its unrestricted discretion may 
determine to be fair, and in such case the notice of redemption mailed as aforesaid shall inform each registered holder of shares 
called for redemption of the total number or proportion of shares registered in his name that have been called for redemption, but 
the notice of redemption to be published as aforesaid need not contain such information.
 
  From and after the redemption date, unless default is made in the payment of the redemption price when due, the shares 
so called for redemption shall cease to be outstanding and 
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the holders thereof shall cease to be stockholders with respect to such shares and shall have no interest in or claim against the 
Corporation with respect to such shares other than to receive the redemption price on and after the date fixed for redemption 
without interest thereon, upon surrender of their certificates with endorsement thereof if required.
 
  At any time after notice of redemption shall have been given as hereinabove provided, the Corporation may deposit or 
cause to be deposited in trust, to be applied to the redemption of the shares of Cumulative Preferred Stock so called for 
redemption, with some bank or trust company organized and doing business under the laws of the United States of America or the 
State of New York and having capital surplus and undivided profits aggregating at least Ten Million Dollars ($10,000,000), and 
having its principal office in the City of Nashville, Tennessee or the Borough of Manhattan, the City and State of New York, the 
aggregate amount to be paid on redemption to the holders of the shares so to be redeemed upon surrender of the certificates for 
such shares.  In case any holder of shares of Cumulative Preferred Stock which shall have been called for redemption shall not, 
within six (6) years after such deposit, have claimed the amount deposited with respect to the redemption thereof, such bank or 
trust company, upon demand, shall pay over to the Corporation such unclaimed amount and shall thereupon be relieved of all 
responsibility in respect thereof to such holder, and such holder shall look only to the Corporation for the payment thereof.  Any 
interest accrued on funds so deposited shall be paid to the Corporation from time to time.
 
  If at any time the Corporation shall have failed to pay dividends in full on all shares of Cumulative Preferred Stock,  
each Series of Subordinated Preference Stock, each Series of Serial Preferred Stock, and Convertible Preferred Stock and each 
other class of stock of the Corporation ranking as to dividends or assets prior to or equally with the Cumulative Preferred Stock, 
or shall be in default in respect of its obligations under any sinking fund or purchase or redemption account for the purchase or 
redemption of any such senior or pari passu stock, then and until all arrearages of such dividends for all preceding dividend 
periods and for any current dividend period or periods shall have been paid, or declared and set apart for payment, and all defaults 
under such sinking funds or purchase or redemption accounts shall have been remedied, neither the Corporation nor any 
subsidiary shall purchase or redeem, or otherwise acquire for value any shares of Cumulative Preferred Stock or any class of 
stock of the Corporation ranking as to dividends or assets equally with or junior to the Cumulative Preferred Stock, and the 
Corporation shall not declare or pay any dividend or make any other distribution on any shares of such junior stock.
 
 (4) Voting Powers.  Each holder of Cumulative Preferred Stock shall be entitled to one vote for each share of such stock 
standing in his name on the books of the Corporation.
 
 (5) Reduction of Capital.  Without limiting the generality of Article Eighth of the Certificate of Incorporation, the Board of 
Directors is expressly authorized from time to time to effect the reduction of the capital of the Corporation by redeeming or 
purchasing and retiring all or any outstanding shares of Cumulative Preferred Stock pursuant to any provisions of this Article 
Sixth or any amendment thereto.
 

-44-



 
PART E — EMPLOYEES’ SUBORDINATED CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK

 
 (1) Dividends.  No holder of shares of Employees’ Preferred Stock shall be entitled to receive dividends by virtue of such 
holding.
 
 (2) Liquidation.  Upon any dissolution, liquidation or winding up of the Corporation, the holders of Employees’ Preferred 
Stock shall be entitled to be paid from the assets (whether capital or surplus) of the Corporation, before any payment or 
distribution shall be made to the holders of the Common Stock, but subject to and after prior payment of the amounts payable 
with respect to the Convertible Preferred Stock, Subordinated Preference Stock of each Series, Serial Preferred Stock of each 
Series and Cumulative Preferred Stock, an amount per share equal to 88 times the average quarterly per share dividend paid on 
the Common Stock of the Corporation for the previous eight quarters, but in no event less than $30 per share; provided, however, 
that in the event that the Corporation shall, after December 1, 1967 (i) issue shares of Common Stock as a stock dividend, in a 
stock split, or otherwise subdivide its outstanding shares of Common Stock; or (ii) combine its outstanding shares of Common 
Stock into a smaller number of shares, the amount payable shall be based upon the aggregate dividends paid on the Common 
Stock divided by the number of shares of Common Stock which would have been outstanding had such subdivision or 
combination not taken place.
 
  After payment in full of all amounts payable to the holders of the Employees’ Preferred Stock, such shareholders, as  
such, shall have no right or claim to any of the remaining assets of the Corporation, and the same shall be distributed among the 
holders of the Common Stock.
 
 (3) Redemption.  No shares of Employees’ Preferred Stock shall be subject to redemption by the Corporation.
 
 (4) Voting Rights.  Each holder of Employees’ Preferred Stock shall be entitled to one vote for each share of such stock 
standing in his name on the books of the Corporation.
 
 (5) Conversion.  (a)  At the option of the holder thereof, each share of Employees’ Preferred Stock may be converted into 
one fully paid and nonassessable share of either (i) the Cumulative Preferred Stock, or (ii) the Common Stock of the Corporation.  
Such option to convert may be exercised at any time, provided, however, that in the event that any share of Employees’ Preferred 
Stock shall be issued partly paid, such share shall not be convertible into either Cumulative Preferred Stock or Common Stock 
until it is fully paid.
 
  (b) No adjustment will be made to the conversion ratio on account of subsequent issuances of securities except that, if 
the Corporation shall, after December 1, 1967 (i) issue shares of Common Stock as a stock dividend, in a stock split, or otherwise 
subdivide its outstanding shares of Common Stock; or (ii) combine its outstanding shares of Common Stock into a smaller 
number of shares, the conversion ratio for Common Stock shall be immediately proportionally adjusted so that the holder of any 
share of Employees’ Preferred Stock thereafter surrendered for conversion into Common Stock in accordance with this Section 
(5) shall be entitled to receive the number of shares of Common Stock which he would have owned or had been entitled to 
receive after the happening of the events described above, had such share of Employees’ Preferred Stock 
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been converted into Common Stock immediately prior to such event.  Such adjustments shall become effective immediately after 
the close of business on the record date of or for any such event.
 
  (c) In the event of any capital reorganization or reclassification of the Cumulative Preferred Stock or the Common  
Stock of the Corporation (except those for which provision is made pursuant to subsection (b)), or the consolidation or merger of 
the Corporation into or with another corporation, or the sale, conveyance, lease or other transfer by the Corporation of all or 
substantially all of its property to any other corporation, pursuant to which the then outstanding shares of Cumulative Preferred 
Stock or of Common Stock become exchangeable for other shares of stock or securities or cash or other property, the holders of 
the Employees’ Preferred Stock shall have the right thereafter to convert such shares into the kind and amount of shares of stock, 
other securities, cash or property receivable upon such reorganization, reclassification, consolidation, merger or transfer by a 
holder of the number of shares of Common Stock or Cumulative Preferred Stock of the Corporation into which such shares might 
have been converted immediately prior to such reorganization, reclassification, consolidation, merger or transfer, at the 
conversion ratio in effect immediately preceding such reorganization, reclassification, consolidation, merger or transfer.  The 
above provisions of this subsection (c) shall similarly apply to successive reorganizations, reclassifications, consolidations, 
mergers or transfers.
 
 (d) Such option to convert may be exercised by surrendering to the Corporation for such purpose at its principal office or at 
its transfer agency, if any, for the Employees’ Preferred Stock in the City of Nashville, Tennessee, or in the Borough of 
Manhattan, City and State of New York, the certificates for the shares of such Employees’ Preferred Stock so to be converted 
properly endorsed in blank or accompanied by proper instruments of assignment.  Upon the conversion of any share of 
Employees’ Preferred Stock into Common Stock, no adjustment shall be made for dividends payable to holders of Common 
Stock of record prior to the date of surrender for conversion.  Shares shall be deemed to have been converted immediately prior to 
the close of business on the day of surrender of said shares for conversion, and the person entitled to receive the Cumulative 
Preferred Stock or the Common Stock (as the case may be) issuable upon such conversion shall be treated for all purposes as the 
record holder of such Cumulative Preferred Stock or Common Stock (as the case may be) at such time.
 
 (e) No fractional shares or scrip representing fractional shares shall be issued upon conversion of any share of Employees’ 
Preferred Stock.  If the conversion of any share of Employees’ Preferred Stock would otherwise result in a fractional share of 
Cumulative Preferred Stock or Common Stock (as the case may be), equitable adjustment will be made, in such manner as may 
be determined by the Board of Directors, in lieu of the issuance thereof. The Corporation shall at all times reserve and keep 
available, free from preemptive rights, out of its authorized but unissued Cumulative Preferred Stock and Common Stock, for the 
purpose of effecting the conversion of the shares of Employees’ Preferred Stock, the full number of shares of Cumulative 
Preferred Stock and Common Stock, respectively, then deliverable upon conversion of all shares of Employees’ Preferred Stock 
then outstanding.  The Corporation covenants that all shares of Cumulative Preferred Stock or of Common Stock issued upon 
conversion of Employees’ Preferred Stock will, upon issue, be legally issued and will be fully paid and nonassessable by the 
Corporation and that the Corporation will take no action which will reduce the conversion price 
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below the then stated value of the Cumulative Preferred Stock or the then par value of the Common Stock.
 
 (f) In case (i) the Corporation shall declare a dividend or other distribution on its Cumulative Preferred Stock or on its  
Common Stock payable otherwise than in cash out of its earned surplus, or (ii) the Corporation shall authorize the granting to the 
holders of its Cumulative Preferred Stock of or its Common Stock of rights to subscribe for or purchase any shares of capital 
stock of any class or of any other rights, or (iii) of any reclassification of the capital stock of the Corporation (other than a 
subdivision or combination of its outstanding shares of Common Stock) or of any consolidation or merger to which the 
Corporation is a party and for which approval of any stockholders of the Corporation is required or of the sale or transfer of the 
property and assets of the Corporation as an entirety or substantially as an entirety, or (iv) of any voluntary or involuntary 
dissolution, liquidation or winding up of the Corporation, then the Corporation shall mail or cause to be mailed to the holders of 
record of the Employees’ Preferred Stock at least twenty days (or ten days in any case specified in clause (i) or clause (ii) above) 
prior to the applicable record date hereinafter specified, a notice stating the date on which a record is to be taken for the purpose 
of such dividend, distribution or rights or, if a record is not to be taken, the date as of which the holders of Cumulative Preferred 
Stock or of Common Stock of record to be entitled to such dividend, distribution or rights are to be determined, or the date on 
which such reclassification, consolidation, merger, sale, transfer, dissolution, liquidation or winding up is expected to become
effective and the date as of which it is expected that holders of Cumulative Preferred Stock or of Common Stock of record shall 
be entitled to exchange their shares of the Cumulative Preferred Stock or of the Common Stock for securities or other property 
deliverable thereupon.
 

PART F — COMMON STOCK
 
 None of the shares of Common Stock shall be entitled to any preference and each share of Common Stock shall be equal to 
every other share of said stock in every respect.
 
 Each holder of Common Stock shall be entitled to one vote for each share of such stock standing in his name on the books of 
the Corporation.
 
 After payment, or declaration and setting aside for payment, of the full cumulative dividends for all prior and then current 
dividend periods on all outstanding shares of Convertible Preferred Stock, Subordinated Preference Stock of each Series, Serial 
Preferred Stock of each Series, and Cumulative Preferred Stock and after setting aside all stock purchase funds or sinking funds 
required to be set aside with respect to the Convertible Preferred Stock, Subordinated Preference Stock of each Series, and Serial 
Preferred Stock of each Series, dividends on the Common Stock may be declared and paid (subject to the provisions of this 
Article Sixth) but only when and as determined by the Board of Directors.
 
 On any dissolution, liquidation or winding up of the Corporation, after there shall have been paid to, or set aside for, the 
holders of all outstanding shares of Convertible Preferred Stock, Subordinated Preference Stock of each Series, Serial Preferred 
Stock of each Series, Cumulative Preferred Stock, and Employees’ Preferred Stock the full preferential amounts to which they are 
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respectively entitled, the holders of the Common Stock shall be entitled to receive, pro rata, all the remaining assets of the 
Corporation available for distribution to the stockholders.
 
 SEVENTH: The Corporation will not commence business until consideration of One Thousand Dollars ($1,000) has been 
received for the issuance of shares.
 
 EIGHTH: The Board of Directors of the Corporation shall be expressly authorized to reduce the capital stock of the  
Corporation within their discretion, from time to time, in such manner as may be provided by law.
 
 NINTH: The shareholder vote required to approve Business Combinations (as hereinafter defined) shall be as set forth in 
this Article Ninth.
 
 (1) Voting Requirement.  In addition to any affirmative vote required by law or any other Article of this charter, and except 
as otherwise expressly provided in Section (2) of this Article Ninth, any Business Combination shall require an affirmative vote 
at least equal to the sum of (i) the votes entitled to be cast by the holders of shares of Voting Stock (as defined herein) which are 
Beneficially Owned (as defined herein) by the Interested Shareholder (as defined herein); plus (ii) sixty-seven percent (67%) of 
the votes entitled to be cast by all other holders of Voting Stock, voting together as a single class at a meeting of shareholders 
called for such purpose.  Such affirmative vote shall be required notwithstanding the fact that a vote would not otherwise be 
required, or that a lesser percentage may be specified, by law or in any agreement with any national securities exchange or 
otherwise.
 
 (2) When Voting Requirement Not Applicable.  The provisions of Section (1) of this Article Ninth shall not be applicable 
to (i) a Business Combination that does not involve cash or other consideration being received by the shareholders of the 
Corporation solely in their capacities as shareholders, if such Business Combination shall have been approved by a majority of 
the Disinterested Directors (as defined herein) or (ii) any other Business Combination, if such Business Combination shall have 
been approved by a majority of the Disinterested Directors or all of the following conditions specified in subsections (2.1), (2.2) 
and (2.3) shall have been met:
 
  (2.1) Fair Prices.  The aggregate amount per share of the cash and the Fair Market Value (as defined herein), as of 
a date not more than forty-five (45) days prior to the consummation of the Business Combination, of the consideration other than 
cash to be received in such Business Combination by holders of shares of the respective classes and series of outstanding capital 
stock of the Corporation shall be at least equal to the highest of the following:
 
  (a) If applicable, the highest per share price (including brokerage commissions, transfer taxes and soliciting dealers’  

fees and adjusted for any subsequent stock dividends, split, combinations, recapitalizations, reclassifications or such 
reorganizations) paid to acquire any shares of such respective classes and series Beneficially Owned by the Interested 
Shareholder during the Pre-announcement Period (as defined herein);

 
  (b) The highest per share price (including brokerage commissions, transfer taxes and soliciting dealers’ fees and  

adjusted for any subsequent stock dividends, splits, 
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combinations, recapitalizations, reclassifications or other such reorganizations) paid to acquire any shares of such 
respective classes and series Beneficially Owned by the Interested Shareholder in the transaction in which the Interested 
Shareholder became an Interested Shareholder;

 
  (c) The Fair Market Value per share of such respective classes and series on the Announcement Date (as defined  

herein);
 
  (d) The Fair Market Value per share of such respective classes and series of the Determination Date (as defined  

herein);
 
  (e) If applicable, the Fair Market Value per share determined pursuant to subsection (2.1)(c) or (2.1)(d), whichever is  

higher, multiplied by the ratio of (i) the highest price per share (including any brokerage commissions, transfer taxes or 
soliciting dealers’ fees and adjusted for any subsequent stock dividends, splits, combinations, recapitalizations, 
reclassifications or other such reorganizations) paid to acquire any shares of such respective classes and series 
Beneficially Owned by the Interested Shareholder within the Pre-announcement Period to (ii) the Fair Market Value per 
share (adjusted for any subsequent stock dividends, splits, combinations, recapitalizations, reclassifications or other such 
reorganizations) of shares of such respective classes and series on the first day in the Pre-announcement Period on which 
such shares Beneficially Owned by the Interested Shareholders were acquired; or

 
  (f) The amount per share of any preferential payment to which holders of shares of such respective classes and series 

are entitled in the event of a liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Corporation.
 
  (2.2) Form of Consideration.  The consideration to be received by holders of each particular class and series of 
outstanding capital stock of the Corporation in a Business Combination shall be (i) in cash or (ii) if the majority of the shares of 
any particular class or series of the capital stock of the Corporation Beneficially Owned by the Interested Shareholder shall have 
been acquired for a consideration in a form other than cash, in the same form of consideration used to acquire the largest number 
of shares of such class or series previously acquired and Beneficially Owned by the Interested Shareholder.
 
  (2.3) Other Requirements.  After such Interested Shareholder has become an Interested Shareholder and prior to 
the consummation of such Business Combination, except as approved by a majority of the Disinterested Directors, there shall 
have been:
 
  (a) No failure to declare and pay in full, when and as due, any dividends on any class or series of Preferred Stock (as 

defined herein) (whether cumulative or not) except on any class or series of Preferred Stock as to which dividends were 
in arrears on the Determination Date;

 
  (b) No reducation in the quarterly rate of any dividends on the Corporation’s Common Stock below the dividends paid 

during the dividend quarter of the Corporation ended 
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immediately prior to the Determination Date, except any reduction in dividends necessary to fairly reflect any stock 
dividend, split, recapitalization, reclassification or other such reorganization;

 
  (c) No failure to increase the quarterly rate of any dividends per share paid on the Corporation’s Common Stock to  

fairly reflect any stock combination, recapitalization, reclassification or such other reorganization which has the effect of 
reducing the number of outstanding shares of Common Stock;

 
  (d) No increase in the number of shares of the capital stock of the Corporation Beneficially Owned by the Interested  

Shareholder, except (i) as a part of the transaction that resulted in the Interested Shareholder becoming an Interested 
Shareholder or (ii) to consummate the Business Combination in compliance with the provisions of this Article Ninth;

 
  (e) No loans, advances, guarantees, pledges or other financial assistance or tax credits or other tax advantages  

provided by the Corporation or its subsidiaries for the benefit, directly or indirectly, of the Interested Shareholder, 
whether in anticipation of or in connection with such Business Combination or otherwise;

 
  (f) No material change in the Corporation’s business or capital structure effected, directly or indirectly, by the  

Interested Shareholder; and
 
  (g) A proxy or information statement mailed at least thirty (30) days prior to the completion of the Business  

Combination to all the holders of Voting Stock (whether or not shareholder approval of the Business Combination is 
required), which proxy or information statement shall (i) describe the Business Combination, (ii) include in a prominent 
place the recommendations, if any, of a majority of the Disinterested Directors as to the advisability or inadvisability of 
the Business Combination, (iii) if deemed advisable by a majority of the Disinterested Directors, include an opinion of a 
reputable investment banking firm or other expert as to the fairness or unfairness of the terms of the Business 
Combination from the point of view of the shareholders other than the Interested Shareholder (such investment banking 
firm to be selected by a majority of the Disinterested Directors and to be paid a reasonable fee for their services by the 
Corporation upon receipt of such opinion), and (iv) be responsive to the pertinent provisions of the Securities Exchange 
Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules and regulations thereunder, or any laws supplementing or superseding such Act, 
rules and regulations, whether or not such proxy or information statement is required by law to be furnished to any 
holders of Voting Stock.

 
 (3) Definitions.  The following definitions shall apply for purposes of this Article Ninth:
 
  (3.1) “Business Combination” means any of the transactions described below:
 
  (a) Any merger or consolidation of the Corporation or any Subsidiary (as defined herein) with (i) any Interested  

Shareholder or (ii) any corporation (whether or not itself an 
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Interested Shareholder) which is, or after such merger or consolidation would be, an Affiliate (as defined herein) of an
Interested Shareholder;

 
  (b) Any sale, lease, exchange, mortgage, pledge, transfer or other disposition, in one transaction or a series of  

transactions, (i) to or with any Interested Shareholder or any Affiliate of any Interested Shareholder of any assets 
(including securities) of the Corporation or any Subsidiary having an aggregate Fair Market Value of $1,000,000 or more 
or (ii) to or with the Corporation or any Subsidiary of any assets (including securities) of any Interested Shareholder or 
any Affiliate of an Interested Shareholder having an aggregate Fair Market Value of $1,000,000 or more;

 
  (c) The issuance or transfer by the Corporation or any Subsidiary in one transaction or a series of transactions, of any 

securities of the Corporation or any Subsidiary to an Interested Shareholder or an Affiliate of any Interested Shareholder 
in exchange for cash, securities or other property, or a combination thereof, having an aggregate Fair Market Value of 
$1,000,000 or more;

 
  (d) The adoption of any plan or proposal for the liquidation or dissolution of the Corporation proposed by or on behalf 

of an Interested Shareholder or any Affiliate of any Interested Shareholder;
 
  (e) Any reclassification of securities or any recapitalization or reorganization of the Corporation, or any merger or  

consolidation of the Corporation with any of its Subsidiaries or any other similar transaction (whether or not with or into 
or otherwise involving an Interested Shareholder) which has the effect, directly or indirectly, of increasing the 
proportionate share of the outstanding shares of any class of equity securities of the Corporation or any Subsidiary 
(including securities convertible into equity securities) which is directly or indirectly owned by any Interested 
Shareholder or any Affiliate of any Interested Shareholder;

 
  (f) Any other transaction or series of transactions that is similar in purpose or effect to those referred to in (a) through 

(e) of this subsection (3.1).
 
  (3.2) “Voting Stock” means the Common Stock and those classes of Preferred Stock which would then be entitled  
to vote in the election of directors.
 
  (3.3) “Beneficially Owned,” with respect to any securities, means the right or power (directly or indirectly through 
any contract, understanding or relationship) (i) to vote or direct the voting of such securities, (ii) to dispose or direct the 
disposition of such securities, or (iii) to acquire such voting or investment power whether such right or power is exercisable 
immediately or only after the passage of time.
 
  (3.4) “Interested Shareholder” means any Person (as herein defined) or member of a Group of Persons (as defined 
herein) who or which, together with any Affiliate or Associate (as herein defined) of such Person or member, Beneficially Owns 
(within the meaning of subsection (3.3) above) ten percent or more of the outstanding Voting Stock of the Corporation.
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  (3.5) “Person” means any individual, firm, corporation, partnership, joint venture or other entity.
 
  (3.6) “Group of Persons” means any two or more Persons who or which are acting or have agreed to act together  
for the purpose of acquiring, holding, voting or disposing of any Voting Stock of the Corporation.
 
  (3.7) “Disinterested Director” means any member of the Board of Directors of the Corporation who is not an  
Affiliate or Associate of the Interested Shareholder and who (i) was a member of the Board of Directors prior to the time the 
Interested Shareholder became an Interested Shareholder or (ii) was elected or recommended to succeed a Disinterested Director 
by a majority of the Disinterested Directors then on the Board of Directors.
 
  (3.8) “Fair Market Value” means:  (i) in the case of stock, the highest closing sale price during the 30-day period  
immediately preceding the date in question of a share of such stock on the Composite Tape for New York Stock Exchange-Listed 
Stocks, or, if such stock is not quoted on the Composite Tape, on the New York Stock Exchange, or, if such stock is not listed on 
such Exchange, on the principal United States securities exchange registered under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 on which 
such stock is listed, or, if such stock is not listed on any such exchange, the highest closing bid quotation with respect to a share 
of such stock during the 30-day period preceding the date in question on the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc., 
Automated Quotations System or any system then in use, or if no such quotations are available, the fair market value on the date
in question of a share of such stock as determined by a majority of the Disinterested Directors in good faith; and (ii) in the case of 
property other than cash or stock, the fair market value of such property on the date in question as determined by a majority of the 
Disinterested Directors in good faith.
 
  (3.9) “Pre-announcement Period” means the two-year period ending at 11:59 p.m., New York City time, on the  
Announcement Date.
 
  (3.10) “Announcement Date” means the date of the first public announcement of the proposal of the Business  
Combination.
 
  (3.11) “Determination Date” means the date on which the Interested Shareholder becomes an Interested  
Shareholder.
 
  (3.12) “Subsidiary” means any corporation of which a majority of any class of equity security is owned, directly or  
indirectly, by the Corporation.
 
  (3.13) “Affiliate,” used to indicate a relationship with a specified Person, means another Person that directly, or  
indirectly through one or more intermediaries, controls, or is controlled by, or is under common control with, such specified 
Person.
 
  (3.14) “Associate,” used to indicate a relationship with a specified Person, means (i) any corporation or other similar 
organization (other than the Corporation or a Subsidiary) of which 
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such specified Person is an officer or partner or is, directly or indirectly, the beneficial owner of ten percent or more of any class 
of equity securities, (ii) any trust or estate in which such specified Person has a substantial beneficial interest or as to which such 
specified Person serves as trustee or in a similar fiduciary capacity, and (iii) any relative or spouse of such specified Person, or 
any relative of such spouse who has the same home as such Person.
 
  (3.15) “Preferred Stock” means all classes or series of the Corporation’s capital stock other than Common Stock.
 
 (4) Powers of Disinterested Directors.  A majority of the Disinterested Directors of the Corporation shall have the power 
and duty to determine, on the basis of information known to them after reasonable inquiry, all facts necessary to determine 
compliance with this Article Ninth, including without limitation (i) whether a Person is an Interested Shareholder, (ii) the number 
of shares of Voting Stock beneficially owned by any Person, (iii) whether a Person is an Affiliate or Associate of another, (iv) 
whether the requirements of Section 2 have been met with respect to any Business Combination, and (v) whether the assets which 
are the subject of any Business Combination have, or the consideration to be received for the issuance or transfer of securities by 
the Corporation or any Subsidiary in any Business Combination has, an aggregate Fair Market Value of $1,000,000 or more.  The 
good faith determination of a majority of the Disinterested Directors on such matters shall be conclusive and binding for all 
purposes of this Article Ninth.
 
 (5) No Effect on Preferential Rights.  The provisions of this Article Ninth shall not affect in any way the amount or form 
of consideration that any holder of shares of the Corporation’s capital stock is entitled to receive upon the liquidation or 
dissolution of the Corporation or any other preferential rights of the holders of such shares.
 
 (6) No Effect on Fiduciary Obligations of Interested Shareholders.  Nothing contained in this Article Ninth shall be
construed to relieve the Board of Directors of the Corporation or any Interested Shareholder from any fiduciary obligation 
imposed by law.
 
 (7) Amendment or Repeal.  In addition to any affirmative vote required by law, an affirmative vote at least equal to the 
sum of (i) the votes entitled to be cast by the holders of shares of Voting Stock which are Beneficially owned by any Interested 
Shareholder plus (ii) sixty-seven percent (67%) of the votes entitled to be cast by all other holders of Voting Stock, voting 
together as a single class at a meeting of shareholders called for such purpose, shall be required to amend or repeal, or adopt any 
charter provisions inconsistent with, this Article Ninth.  Such affirmative vote shall be required notwithstanding the fact that no 
vote may be required, or that a lesser percentage may be specified, by law or in any agreement with any national securities 
exchange or otherwise.
 
 TENTH: No director of the Corporation shall be personally liable to the Corporation or its shareholders for moneta 
damages for breach of fiduciary duty as a director, except to the extent provided by the Tennessee Business Corporation Act as in 
effect from time to time.  This Article shall not eliminate or limit the liability of a director for any act or omission occurring prior 
to the effective date of its adoption.
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  Any repeal or modification of the provisions of this Article Tenth, by the shareholders of the Corporation directly or by 
the adoption of an inconsistent provision of this charter, shall not adversely affect any right or protection of a director of the 
Corporation existing at the time of such repeal or modification.
 
 ELEVENTH: Except as otherwise provided herein, each nominee for director shall be elected by the affirmative vote of a 
majority of the votes cast by the holders of Voting Stock with respect to the director at any meeting of shareholders for the 
election of directors at which a quorum is present, provided that if, as of the record date for a meeting of shareholders at which 
directors are to be elected, the election is contested (as such term is defined in the Corporation’s bylaws, as may be amended, 
restated or modified therein from time to time in accordance with such bylaws), the directors shall be elected by a plurality of the 
votes cast in person or by proxy at the meeting at which a quorum is present. For purposes of this Article Eleventh, a majority of 
the votes cast means that the number of shares voted “for” a nominee exceeds the shares voted “against” that nominee; 
abstentions and broker non-votes shall not be deemed to be votes cast for purposes of tabulating the vote.
 
PART II:
 
 FIRST: The original charter was filed by the Secretary of State on July 7, 1925, and the reincorporation charter was filed 
by the Secretary of State on October 19, 1934.
 
 SECOND: The charter was previously restated by action of the Board of Directors on January 11, 1984 (the “1984 
Restated Charter”).
 
 THIRD: This restated charter incorporates all amendments since the 1984 Restated Charter and makes further amendments 
not requiring shareholder approval.  This restatement was duly adopted at a meeting of the Board of Directors on April 24, 1991.

 Dated:  April 30, 1991
 
 
Genesco Inc.
 
/s/ William C. O’Connor
 
By William C. O’Connor
Secretary
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RESTATED CHARTER OF
GENESCO INC.

 
UNDER SECTION 48-20-107 OF THE TENNESSEE 

BUSINESS CORPORATION ACT
 

Pursuant to the provisions of Section 48-20-17 of the Tennessee Business Corporation Act, the undersigned 
Corporation adopts the following restated charter:

 
PART I:

 
FIRST: The name of the Corporation is Genesco Inc.

 
SECOND: The duration of the Corporation is perpetual.

 
THIRD: The address of the principal office of the Corporation in the State of  Tennessee shall be Genesco

Park, City of Nashville, County of Davidson.
 

FOURTH: The Corporation is for profit.
 

FIFTH: The purpose or purposes for which the Corporation is organized are:
 

(1) to manufacture, buy or otherwise acquire and to hold, sell or otherwise dispose of goods, products, 
merchandise and other personal property of every nature and description, including, but not limited to, boots, shoes 
and other articles of wearing apparel.

 
(2) to buy or otherwise acquire and to hold, sell or otherwise dispose of the stocks, bonds and other 

securities of any corporation, domestic or foreign; to exercise any and all rights, powers and privileges of individual 
ownership or interest in respect of any and all such securities; to manage and to aid in any manner, by loan, guaranty or 
otherwise, any corporation or corporations of which any securities are held by this corporation; and do any acts or 
things necessary, expedient or calculated to protect, preserve or enhance the value of any such securities.

 
SIXTH: The maximum number of shares of stock  which  the  Corporation  is  authorized to have outstanding 

at any time is eighty million (80,000,000) shares of Common Stock of the par value of one dollar ($1.00) per share 
(hereinafter sometimes called “Common Stock”); three thousand seven hundred five (3,705) shares of Cumulative 
Convertible Preferred Stock without nominal or par value (hereinafter sometimes called “Convertible Preferred 
Stock”); four hundred ninety nine thousand six hundred ten (499,610) shares of Subordinated Cumulative Convertible 
Preference Stock without nominal or par value (hereinafter sometimes called “Subordinated Preference Stock”); three 
million (3,000,000) shares of Subordinated Serial

 
 



Preferred Stock without nominal or par value (hereinafter sometimes called “Serial Preferred Stock”); five million (5,000,000) 
shares of Subordinated Cumulative Preferred Stock without nominal or par value (hereinafter sometimes called “Cumulative 
Preferred Stock”); and five million (5,000,000) shares of Employees’ Subordinated Convertible Preferred Stock without 
nominal or par value (hereinafter sometimes called “Employees’ Preferred Stock”). The Subordinated Preference Stock shall 
consist of three separate classes (such separate classes being herein for convenience sometimes referred to as “Series”) 
designated Subordinated Cumulative Convertible Preference Stock, Series A (hereinafter sometimes called “Series A 
Subordinated Preference Stock”) of which sixty eight thousand nine hundred forty three (68,943) shares have been authorized; 
Subordinated Cumulative Convertible Preference Stock, Series B (hereinafter sometimes called “Series B Subordinated 
Preference Stock”) of which one hundred sixty one thousand three hundred seventy six (161,376) shares have been authorized; 
and Subordinated Cumulative Convertible Preference Stock, Series C (hereinafter sometimes called “Series C Subordinated 
Preference Stock”) of which two hundred sixty nine thousand two hundred ninety one (269,291) shares have been authorized. 
The Serial Preferred Stock shall consist of such number of classes (such separate classes being herein for convenience 
sometimes referred to as “Series”) containing such number of shares and having such distinctive designations and provisions 
as the Board of Directors, acting pursuant to the power delegated to them by the stockholders in accordance with Section 48-
16-102 of the Tennessee Business Corporation Act as set forth in Section (5) of Part C-I of this Article Sixth, shall determine.

 
No holder of any class of stock of the Corporation shall be entitled as of right to purchase or subscribe for 

any part of any class of stock of the Corporation now authorized or hereafter authorized by or pursuant to any amendment to 
the charter of the Corporation, or of any bonds, certificates of indebtedness, debentures, or other securities convertible into or 
evidencing rights to purchase or subscribe for any stock of the Corporation; and any stock now authorized or any such 
additional authorized issue of any stock or any securities convertible into or evidencing rights to purchase or subscribe for 
stock may be issued and disposed of by the Board of Directors to such firms, persons, corporations or associations for such 
consideration and upon such terms and in such manner as the Board of Directors may in their discretion determine without 
offering any thereof on the same terms, or on any terms, to the stockholders, or to any class of stockholders. The Board of 
Directors shall have authority to the extent permitted by law to determine that only a part of the consideration which shall be 
received by the Corporation for any of the shares of its stock which it shall issue from time to time shall be capital.

 
The preferences, restrictions and qualifications applicable to the Convertible Preferred Stock, all classes or 

Series of the Subordinated Preference Stock, all classes or Series of the Serial Preferred Stock, the Cumulative Preferred 
Stock, the Employees’ Preferred Stock and Common Stock are as follows:
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PART A — CUMULATIVE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK
 

(1) Dividends. The holders of shares of Convertible Preferred Stock shall be entitled to receive dividends at the 
rate of $4.50 per share per annum, when and as declared by the Board of Directors, before any dividends are paid on the 
Subordinated Preference Stock of any Series, Serial Preferred Stock of any Series, Cumulative Preferred Stock, or the 
Common Stock. Such dividends shall be payable quarterly on the last days of January, April, July and October of each year 
and shall be cumulative from the initial date on which shares are issued.

 
Dividends on the Convertible Preferred Stock shall be cumulative so that if, for any previous or then current 

dividend period, dividends (whether or not earned) shall not have been paid, or declared and set apart for payment, upon all 
outstanding shares of Convertible Preferred Stock, the deficiency shall be fully paid, or declared and set apart for payment, 
before any dividends are paid or declared upon the Subordinated Preference Stock of any Series, Serial Preferred Stock of any 
Series, Cumulative Preferred Stock, or the Common Stock. Accumulated dividends shall not bear interest. Subject to the 
provisions of this Part A, whenever full cumulative dividends on the Convertible Preferred Stock for all previous dividend 
periods and for any then current dividend period shall have been paid, or declared and set apart for payment, the Board of 
Directors may declare, subject to the other provisions of this Article Sixth, dividends upon the Subordinated Preference Stock, 
Serial Preferred Stock, Cumulative Preferred Stock and the Common Stock payable then or thereafter, and no holder of any 
shares of Convertible Preferred Stock, as such, shall be entitled to share therein.

 
(2) Liquidation. Upon any dissolution, liquidation or winding up of the Corporation, whether voluntary or 

involuntary, the holders of the Convertible Preferred Stock shall be entitled to be paid from the assets (whether capital or 
surplus) of the Corporation the following amounts:

 
(i) upon involuntary dissolution, liquidation or winding up, $100 per share,

 
(ii) upon voluntary dissolution, liquidation or winding up, an amount per share equal to the redemption price 
prevailing on the date on which such dissolution shall have become legally effective or such liquidation or winding up 
shall have been authorized,

 
plus, in every case, an amount equal to all accumulated and unpaid dividends accrued to the date fixed for final distribution to 
such holders, whether or not earned or declared, before any payment or distribution shall be made to the holders of the 
Subordinated Preference Stock of any Series, Serial Preferred Stock of any Series, Cumulative Preferred Stock, Employees’ 
Preferred Stock, or the Common Stock. After payment in full of such amounts to the holders of the Convertible Preferred 
Stock, the holders of the Convertible Preferred Stock, as such, shall have no right or claim to any of the remaining assets of the 
Corporation and the same shall be distributed to the holders of the Subordinated Preference Stock, Serial Preferred Stock, 
Cumulative Preferred Stock, Employees’ Preferred Stock, and the Common Stock in accordance with their respective rights 
hereunder.
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(3) Redemption. Subject to the restrictions set forth in this Section (3), the Corporation may at any time redeem 
the Convertible Preferred Stock, or any part thereof, either at the option of the Board of Directors or pursuant to the sinking 
fund provided for in Section (5) of this Part A at the then applicable redemption price plus an amount equal to all accumulated 
and unpaid dividends accrued to the redemption date on the shares redeemed, whether or not earned or declared, provided, 
however that not less than 30 nor more than 60 days prior to the date fixed for redemption, a notice specifying the time and 
place of redemption and the redemption price shall be given to the holders of record of the Shares to be redeemed by 
publication of such notice in one newspaper published and of general circulation in the City of Nashville, Tennessee, and in 
one newspaper published and of general circulation in the Borough of Manhattan, the City of New York, and by mailing such 
notice to such holders at their addresses, if any, as the same appear upon the stock registry books; provided, however, that if all 
shares of Convertible Preferred Stock are to be redeemed, no failure so to mail such notice nor any defect therein or in the 
mailing thereof shall affect the validity of such redemption.

 
The redemption price of shares of Convertible Preferred Stock redeemed at the option of the Board of 

Directors shall be $104.50 per share if redeemed on or prior to January 31, 1968; $103.50 per share if redeemed after January 
31, 1968, but on or prior to January 31, 1973;
$102.50 per share if redeemed after January 31, 1973, but on or prior to January 31, 1978;
$101.50 if redeemed after January 31, 1978, but on or prior to January 31, 1983; and $100.00 per share if redeemed thereafter. 
The redemption price of shares of Convertible Preferred Stock redeemed  pursuant  to  the  Sinking Fund  provided  for  in  
Section (5)  of  this  Part A  shall be
$100.00 per share.

 
If less than all outstanding shares of Convertible Preferred Stock are to be redeemed and except as otherwise 

hereinafter required by the provisions of this Section (3), the shares to be redeemed may be selected by the Board of Directors 
by lot or in any other manner which the Board of Directors in its unrestricted discretion may deem to be fair and, in such case, 
the notice of redemption mailed as aforesaid shall inform each registered holder of shares called for redemption of the total 
number of shares registered in his name that have been called for redemption, but the notice of redemption to be published as 
aforesaid need not contain such information. At any time after notice of redemption shall have been given as hereinabove 
provided, or after the Corporation shall have given to the bank or trust company hereinafter referred to irrevocable 
authorization to give or complete the giving of such notice, the Corporation may deposit authorization to give or complete the 
giving of such notice, the Corporation may deposit or cause to be deposited in trust, to be applied to the redemption of the 
shares of Convertible Preferred Stock so called for redemption, with a bank or trust company organized and doing business 
under the laws of the United States of America or the State of New York and having capital, surplus and undivided profits 
aggregating at least Ten Million Dollars ($10,000,000) and having its principal office in the Borough of Manhattan, the City of 
New York, the aggregate amount to be paid on redemption to the holders of the shares so to be redeemed upon surrender of the 
certificates for such shares; and upon the deposit of such money as aforesaid, or, if no such deposit is made then, from and 
after said redemption date, unless default is made in the payment of the redemption price when due, the shares so called for 
redemption shall cease to be outstanding, and the holders thereof shall cease to be  stockholders
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with respect to such shares and shall have no interest in or claim against the Corporation with respect to such shares other than 
to receive such moneys on or after the date fixed for redemption as aforesaid from the said bank or trust company or from the 
Corporation, as the case may be, without interest thereon, upon surrender of their certificates (with endorsement thereof if 
required). In case any holder of shares of Convertible Preferred Stock which shall have been called for redemption shall not, 
within six (6) years after any such deposit, have claimed the amount deposited with respect to the redemption thereof, such 
bank or trust company, upon demand, shall pay over to the Corporation such unclaimed amount and shall thereupon be 
relieved of all responsibility in respect thereof to such holder, and such holder shall look only to the Corporation for the 
payment thereof. Any interest accrued on funds so deposited shall be  paid to the Corporation from time to time.

 
So long as any shares of Convertible Preferred Stock remain outstanding,  all shares of Convertible Preferred 

Stock redeemed pursuant to the provisions of this Section (3), either at the option of the Board of Directors or pursuant to the 
Sinking Fund provided for in Section (5) of this Part A, or for which credit shall have been taken against such Sinking Fund,  
or surrendered upon conversion pursuant to Section (6) of this Part A and all shares of any other class of stock ranking equally 
as to dividends or assets with the Convertible Preferred Stock purchased or redeemed at the option of the Board of Directors or 
pursuant to the provisions of any sinking fund or purchase or redemption account for the purchase or redemption of such 
shares or for which credit shall have been taken against any such sinking fund, purchase or redemption account, or surrendered 
in exchange for shares of Convertible Preferred Stock, shall be cancelled and shall not thereafter be reissued or sold or 
otherwise disposed of. The Corporation agrees, subject to obtaining any necessary vote of stockholders, from time to time, to 
effect the retirement of all such shares and to reduce the amount of its authorized capital stock accordingly.

 
If at any time the Corporation shall have failed to pay dividends in full on all shares of Convertible Preferred 

Stock and any class of stock of the Corporation ranking as to dividends or assets equally with the Convertible Preferred Stock, 
or shall be in default in respect of its obligations under any sinking fund or purchase or redemption account for the purchase or 
redemption of Convertible Preferred Stock or any such pari passu stock, then, and until all arrearages of such dividends for all 
preceding dividend periods and for any current dividend period or periods shall have been paid or declared and set apart for 
payment and all such defaults under such sinking funds or purchase or redemption accounts shall have been remedied, neither 
the Corporation or any subsidiary shall purchase or redeem, at the option of the Board of Directors or pursuant to the 
provisions of any such sinking fund or purchase or redemption account (except, if all such dividend arrearages shall then have 
been paid or provided for, to the extent required to cure such defaults in such sinking funds or purchase or redemption 
accounts, in amounts proportionate to the amounts due respectively thereunder) or otherwise acquire for value any shares of 
Convertible Preferred Stock or any class of stock of the Corporation ranking as to dividends or assets equally with or junior to 
the Convertible Preferred Stock and the Corporation shall not declare or pay any dividend or make any other distribution on 
any shares of such junior stock.
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(4) Voting Powers. (a) Except as herein or by statute specifically provided, the holders of Convertible Preferred 
Stock shall have no voting powers, nor shall they be entitled to notice of any meeting of stockholders of the Corporation. If at 
any time the Corporation shall be in arrears in dividends on any shares of Convertible Preferred Stock in an amount equal to 
four full quarterly dividends thereon, then, until all arrearages of dividends accumulated on all shares of Convertible Preferred 
Stock for all preceding and the then current dividend periods shall have been paid or declared and set apart for payment, or if 
at any time the Corporation shall be in default with respect to the sinking fund redemption requirements of Section (5) of this 
Part A, then, until such requirement has been complied with, and no longer, the holders of the Convertible Preferred Stock, 
voting separately as a class, shall have the sole right, to  the exclusion of any other class of stock, at all annual and special 
meetings of the stockholders of the Corporation at which directors are to be elected, to vote for and elect two (2) directors. At 
all annual or special meetings for election of directors so long as such right to elect directors shall continue, the holders of the
Convertible Preferred Stock, voting separately as a class, shall vote for and elect the directors which they are entitled to elect 
as aforesaid, and thereafter the holders of the Common Stock and of any other stock of the Corporation having voting powers, 
in accordance with their respective rights, shall vote for and elect the remaining directors. At any meeting of the stockholders 
at which the holders of the Convertible Preferred Stock shall have the right to vote, they shall have one vote for each share. 
The holders of the Convertible Preferred Stock shall be entitled to notice of any meeting of the stockholders called for the 
election of directors at which such holders shall be entitled to vote as in  this  Section (4) provided, and at any such election 
the holders of the shares of Convertible Preferred Stock represented at the meeting shall constitute a quorum for the election of 
the directors whom the holders of shares of Convertible Preferred Stock are entitled to elect, and a plurality of all votes of the 
Convertible Preferred Stock represented at the meeting shall be sufficient to elect such directors.

 
Whenever all arrearages of dividends on the Convertible Preferred Stock as aforesaid shall have been paid or 

declared and set apart for payment, and all redemptions required by the Sinking Fund provided for in Section (5) of this Part A 
have been made or funds sufficient for such purposes have been deposited in accordance with the provisions of Section (3) of 
this Part A, all powers of the holders of the Convertible Preferred Stock to vote for directors shall terminate and the terms of
office of all directors elected by them shall forthwith automatically come to an end.

 
If the date upon which such right of the holders of the Convertible Preferred Stock shall become vested shall 

be more than one hundred twenty days preceding the date of the next ensuing annual meeting of stockholders as fixed by the 
Bylaws of the Corporation, the President of the Corporation shall, as promptly as practicable after delivery to the Corporation 
at its principal office of a request to such effect signed by the holders of at least five percent (5%) of the Convertible Preferred 
Stock then outstanding, call a special meeting of the holders of the stock of the Corporation entitled to vote for the election of
directors, to be held within fifty days after the delivery of such request, for the purpose of electing a new Board of Directors to 
serve until the next annual meeting and until their successors shall be elected and shall qualify. Notice of such meeting shall be 
mailed to each such stockholder not less than ten days prior to the  date
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of such meeting. The term of office of all directors of the Corporation shall terminate at the time of any such meeting held for 
the purpose of electing a new Board of Directors, notwithstanding that the term for which such directors had been elected shall 
not then have expired.

 
Whenever the holders of Convertible Preferred Stock shall be entitled to elect two directors, any holder of 

such Convertible Preferred Stock shall have the right, during regular business hours, in person or by duly authorized 
representative, to examine and to make transcripts of the stock records of the Corporation for the Convertible Preferred Stock 
for the purpose of communicating with other holders of such Convertible Preferred Stock with respect to the exercise of such 
right of election.

 
If, during any interval between annual meetings of stockholders for the election of directors and while the 

holders of the Convertible Preferred Stock shall be entitled to elect two directors, the number of directors in office who have 
been so elected by the holders of the Convertible Preferred Stock or who succeeded a director so elected shall, by reason of 
resignation, death or removal, be less than two, such vacancy shall be filled by vote of the remaining director then in office 
who was elected by vote of the holders of the Convertible Preferred Stock or succeeded a director so elected or, if there be no 
such remaining director then in office or if such vacancy or vacancies be not so filled within forty days after the creation 
thereof, the President of the Corporation shall promptly call a special meeting of the holders of the Convertible Preferred Stock 
and such vacancy or vacancies shall be filled by vote at such special meeting.

 
Any director elected by the holders of the Convertible Preferred Stock or who succeeded a director so elected 

may be removed from office by vote of the holders of a majority of the shares of such stock. A special meeting of the holders 
of shares of such stock may be called by a majority vote of the Board of Directors for the purpose of removing such a director. 
The President of the Corporation shall, as promptly as practicable after delivery to the Corporation at its principal office of a 
request to such effect signed by the holders of at least five percent (5%) of the outstanding shares of Convertible Preferred 
Stock, call a special meeting of the holders of such stock for such purpose to be held within fifty days after the delivery of 
such request.

 
(b) So long as any Convertible Preferred Stock shall be outstanding, the Corporation shall not without 

the affirmative vote of the holders of at least sixty-six and two-thirds percent (66 2/3%) of all shares of Convertible Preferred 
Stock at the time outstanding (but may do so with such vote when so authorized by its Board of Directors and also by vote of 
the holders of any other class of stock which may then be required) (i) authorize or create or increase the authorized amount of 
any stock ranking as to dividends or assets prior to the Convertible Preferred Stock or any security convertible into or 
exchangeable for or carrying rights to purchase any such prior stock, or (ii) otherwise alter, change or cancel any of the 
provisions, preferences, rights or powers of any shares of Convertible Preferred Stock in any manner which will adversely 
affect any shares of Convertible Preferred Stock then outstanding.
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(c) So long as any Convertible Preferred Stock shall be outstanding, the Corporation shall not without 
the affirmative vote of the holders of at least fifty percent (50%) of all shares of Convertible Preferred Stock at the time 
outstanding (but may do so with such vote when so authorized by its Board of Directors and also by vote of the holders of any 
other class of stock which may then be required) (i) authorize or create or increase the authorized amount of any other class of 
stock ranking as to dividends or assets equally with the Convertible Preferred Stock or any security convertible into or 
exchangeable for or carrying rights to purchase any such pari passu stock, or increase the authorized amount of the 
Convertible Preferred Stock or
(ii) merge or consolidate with or into any other corporation or transfer or lease its property and assets as an entirety or 
substantially as an entirety; provided, however, that this restriction shall to apply to, nor shall it operate to prevent, the 
consolidation or merger of the Corporation with or into another corporation if none of the provisions, preferences, rights or 
powers of the Convertible Preferred Stock or the holders thereof will be adversely affected thereby and if the corporation 
resulting from or surviving such consolidation or merger is a corporation organized under the laws of the United States of 
America or any state thereof and operating primarily in the United States of America, and will have authorized and 
outstanding, after such consolidation or merger, no stock of any class or other securities ranking prior to or on a parity with the 
Convertible Preferred Stock (except the same number of shares of stock and the same amount of other securities with the same 
rights and preferences as the stock and securities of the Corporation authorized and outstanding immediately preceding such 
consolidation or merger) and if each holder of Convertible Preferred Stock at the time of such consolidation or merger will 
receive or retain the same number of shares, with the same provisions, preferences, rights and powers, of the resulting or
surviving corporation as he held of the Convertible Preferred Stock.

 
(5) Sinking Fund. (a) On December 31, 1974, and on each December 31 thereafter until all outstanding shares of 

Convertible Preferred Stock have been redeemed, the Corporation will redeem at the Sinking Fund redemption price stated in 
Section (3) of this Part A a number of shares of Convertible Preferred Stock equal to five percent (5%) of the number of shares 
of Convertible Preferred Stock outstanding on December 31, 1973, each such redemption to be made upon the notice and with 
the effect specified in Section (3) of this Part A; provided, however, that the Corporation may at its option and on a cumulative 
basis credit against such required redemption shares of Convertible Preferred Stock which have been (1) converted into shares 
of Common Stock or (2) purchased or redeemed other than pursuant to the Sinking Fund after December 31, 1973, and not 
previously credited against such required redemptions.

 
(b)     The Corporation shall in no event be obligated to apply to the redemption of Convertible Preferred 

Stock any funds not legally available therefor under the laws of the State of Tennessee but any such redemptions so deferred 
shall be made promptly after, and to the full extent that, any funds of the Corporation become legally available for such 
purpose thereafter. If at any time the Corporation shall, for any reason, have failed to effect the redemption pursuant to 
Paragraph (a) of this Section (5) of the total number of shares of Convertible Preferred Stock theretofore required to be 
redeemed by the provisions of such paragraph, the Corporation shall be deemed to be in default in its Sinking Fund obligations 
for the purposes of Sections (3) and (4) of this Part A.
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(6) Conversion. (a) At the option of the holder thereof, each share of Convertible Preferred Stock may be 
converted at any time on or prior to the date fixed for the redemption thereof into a number of fully paid and nonassessable 
shares of Common Stock of the Corporation determined by dividing $100 by the conversion price per share of Common Stock 
in effect at the time of such conversion.

 
(b) The initial conversion price per share of Common Stock for the conversion of shares of the 

Convertible Preferred Stock shall be $40.00. Such conversion price shall be subject to adjustment from time to time as 
follows:

 
(1) Except as provided in Subsection (b)(3) of this Section (6), if the Corporation shall issue or sell any 

shares of Common Stock for a consideration per share less than the conversion price in effect at the time of issue, or without 
consideration, the conversion price shall forthwith be adjusted to a price determined by dividing:

 
(i) an amount equal to the sum of (1) the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding on the 
date of initial issue of shares of Convertible Preferred Stock, multiplied by the initial conversion 
price determined by the Board of Directors as above provided, plus (2) the sum of the consideration, 
if any, received by the Corporation upon such issuance or sale of common stock and the aggregate 
consideration received by the Corporation (computed as herein provided) for all other shares of its 
Common Stock issued after the date of initial issue of shares of Convertible Preferred Stock, up to 
the time of such issuance or sale, minus (3) the aggregate amount of all dividends and other 
distributions paid or made on the Common Stock after the date of initial issue of the Convertible 
Preferred Stock, other than in cash out of the earned surplus of the Corporation or in Common Stock 
or options or rights to subscribe for Common Stock, by

 
(ii) the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding immediately after such issuance or sale 
including shares held in the Corporation’s treasury.

 
Except as provided in Subsection (b)(3) of this Section, upon each such subsequent issue and  sale of shares of Common Stock 
of the Corporation for a consideration per share less than the conversion price in effect at the time of issue, or without 
consideration, then the conversion price as so adjusted shall be forthwith adjusted in the same manner as specified above. 
Adjustments resulting from the issuance of additional shares of Common Stock shall require a change in the conversion price 
only when and each time the accumulative net effect of all such adjustments not theretofore taken into account would cause the 
conversion price then in effect to be reduced by 25 cents per share or more. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, no 
adjustment of the conversion price shall be made if, under the terms thereof, the adjusted conversion price as so computed 
would equal or exceed the conversion price in effect at the time of such issue.
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For the purpose of this subsection, the following provisions shall be applicable:
 

(A) In the case of issuance or sale of shares of Common Stock for cash, the consideration shall be deemed to be the 
cash proceeds received by the Corporation before deducting any usual and customary commissions or other expenses 
incurred in connection therewith.

 
(B) In the case of issuance or sale of shares of Common Stock (otherwise than upon conversion or exchange of 
securities by their terms convertible or exchangeable into Common Stock) for a consideration other than cash, the amount 
of such consideration shall be deemed to be the fair value thereof (as determined by the Board of Directors of the 
Corporation) irrespective of the accounting treatment thereof. In the case of any dividend or distribution on the Common 
Stock, other than in cash or Common Stock or options or rights to subscribe for Common Stock, the amount of such 
dividend or distribution shall be deemed to be the fair value thereof (as determined by the Board of Directors of the 
Corporation) irrespective of the accounting treatment thereof.

 
(C) In the case of issuance of shares of Common Stock as a stock dividend, the shares shall be deemed to have been 
issued without consideration at the close of business on the dividend record date. If no dividend record date is fixed, the 
last business day preceding the first day during which the transfer books of the Corporation shall be closed in connection 
with the dividend shall be treated as the dividend record date. For the purposes of this Section (6), a stock dividend shall 
consist of a distribution of Common Stock of the Corporation in connection with which the Corporation shall capitalize 
earned surplus in an amount approximately equal to the market value of such Common Stock at the date of declaration. 
Any other dividend in Common Stock of the  Corporation shall be considered a subdivision of its outstanding shares of 
Common Stock under subsection (b)(2) and adjustment shall be made under subsection (b)(2) accordingly.

 
(D) If the Corporation shall have outstanding options or rights to subscribe for shares of Common Stock or shall have 
outstanding any securities by their terms convertible into or exchangeable for shares of Common Stock (excluding shares 
which may be issued or sold pursuant to subsection (b)(3) without the reduction of the conversion price);

 
(i) the aggregate number of shares of Common Stock deliverable under such options or rights shall be 
considered to be outstanding and to have been issued or sold at the time such options or rights were issued and the 
maximum number of shares of Common Stock initially deliverable upon conversion of or in exchange for any 
such convertible or exchangeable securities shall be considered to be outstanding and to have been issued or sold 
at the time of issuance or sale of such securities; and the conversion price shall be adjusted upon the issue of any 
such options, rights or securities in accordance with this subsection (b) and in such adjustment and for the 
purposes of all computations under this subsection (b) the
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consideration for any such shares of Common Stock considered to be outstanding shall be considered to be 
(x) in the case of options or rights, the minimum purchase price provided in such options or rights, plus the 
consideration, if any, received by the Corporation for such rights; and (y) in the case of convertible or 
exchangeable securities, the consideration, if any, received for such securities before deducting usual and 
customary commissions and expenses in connection with the sale thereof plus the minimum additional 
consideration receivable by the Corporation upon the conversion or exchange, in each case computing such 
consideration in the manner provided by paragraphs (A) and (B) above; provided, that there shall be excluded 
from any such computation any share of Common Stock so issuable and the consideration so considered to 
have been received therefor where such consideration for such share amounts to more than the conversion 
price immediately prior to the computation;

 
(ii) on the expiration of such options or rights, or the termination of such right to convert or exchange, 
the conversion price shall forthwith be adjusted to reflect the fact that such options or rights are no longer 
outstanding or the termination of such right to convert or exchange; and

 
(iii) in the event that, prior to the expiration of such options or rights or the termination of such right to 
convert or exchange, the consideration payable on the issuance, sale or delivery of the shares of Common 
Stock shall increase or decrease, or the number of shares of Common Stock shall increase or decrease, or the 
number of shares of Common Stock deliverable upon conversion of or in exchange for any such convertible 
or exchangeable security shall increase or decrease, the conversion price shall forthwith be readjusted to such 
conversion price as would have been obtained had the adjustment made upon issuance of such options, rights 
or convertible or exchangeable securities been made upon the basis of such increased or decreased 
consideration payable or increased or decreased number of shares deliverable.

 
(E) In the case of issuance of shares of Common Stock (i) on the exercise of options or rights the consideration 
for such shares shall be considered to be the consideration received by the Corporation for such options or rights plus 
the additional consideration received by the Corporation on exercise and (ii) on conversions of securities of the 
Corporation convertible into shares of Common Stock of the Corporation the consideration for such shares shall be 
considered to be the consideration received by the Corporation for such convertible securities before deducting usual 
and customary commissions and expenses in connection with the sale thereof and the additional consideration, if any, 
received by the Corporation on such conversion; in each case computing such consideration in the manner provided in 
paragraphs (A) and (B) above.

 
(2) If the Corporation shall, after January 7, 1963 (i) subdivide its outstanding shares of Common Stock; 

(ii) combine its outstanding shares of Common Stock into a smaller number of shares, or (iii) issue by reclassification of its 
shares of Common Stock any shares   of
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the Corporation, the conversion price shall be immediately proportionately adjusted and the conversion price recomputed so 
that the holder of any Convertible Preferred Stock thereafter surrendered for conversion shall be entitled to receive the number 
of shares of Common Stock of the Corporation which he would have owned or have been entitled to receive after the 
happening of the events described above, had such Convertible Preferred Stock been converted immediately prior to such 
event. Such adjustments shall become effective immediately after the close of business on the effective or record date of or for 
any such event.

 
(3) For the purpose of subsection (b)(1), the consideration received or to be received on account of the 

issuance
 

(A) of shares of Common Stock on conversion of the Convertible Preferred Stock;
 

(B) of a maximum of 400,000 shares of Common Stock on the exercise of stock options heretofore or hereafter 
issued which constitute Restricted Stock Options for the purpose of Section 421 of the Internal Revenue Code of 
1954 or any substantially similar provisions of the Internal Revenue Code in effect at the time such options are 
granted, or sold to employees under the Corporation’s various employee stock purchase plans at a sale price not less 
than 90% of the average market value during the Calendar month preceding the sale;

 
(C) of a maximum of 161,397 shares of Common Stock in connection with the acquisition of capital stock or 
assets of Flagg-Utica Corporation and The Gidding Company;

 
(D) of shares of Common Stock on conversion of the Corporation’s 4 3/4% Convertible Subordinated Notes due 
July 31, 1982;

 
(E) of shares of Common Stock issued by way of dividend or other distribution on shares of Common Stock 
which may be issued pursuant to the foregoing clauses (A), (B),
(C) and (D) or this clause (E) or on shares of Common Stock resulting from any subdivision or combination of shares 
of Common Stock so issued;

 
and the shares of Common Stock so issued shall be disregarded and not be included in the computation thereunder.

 
(c) In the event of any capital reorganization or classification of the Common Stock of the Corporation 

(except those for which provision is made in subsection (b)(2)), or the consolidation or merger of the Corporation into or with 
another corporation, or the sale, conveyance, lease or other transfer by the Corporation of all or substantially all of its property 
to any other corporation, pursuant to which the then outstanding shares of Common Stock become exchangeable for other 
shares of stock or securities or cash or other property, the holders of Convertible Preferred Stock shall have the right thereafter 
to convert the shares of Convertible Preferred Stock into the kind and amount of shares or stock, other securities, cash or 
property receivable upon such reorganization, reclassification, consolidation, merger or transfer by a
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holder of the number of shares of Common Stock of the Corporation into which such shares might have been converted 
immediately prior to such reorganization, reclassification, consolidation, merger or transfer, at the conversion price in effect 
immediately preceding such reorganization, reclassification, consolidation, merger or transfer. Such right shall be subject to 
further future adjustments of the conversion price which are as nearly equivalent as may be practicable to the adjustment 
provided in subsection (b). The above provisions of this subsection
(c) shall similarly apply to successive reorganizations, reclassifications, consolidations, mergers or transfers.

 
(d) Whenever the conversion price of shares of Common Stock issuable on conversion of the 

Convertible Preferred Stock shall be adjusted pursuant to any of the provisions hereof, the Corporation shall forthwith cause to 
be published at least once in a daily newspaper of general circulation in the Borough of Manhattan, City and State of New 
York and cause to be mailed to the holders of the outstanding shares of Convertible Preferred Stock, at their respective 
addresses appearing on the stock registry books of the Corporation, a notice setting forth the adjustment in such conversion 
price and shall also file with the transfer agency for the Convertible Preferred Stock in said City and in the City of Nashville, 
Tennessee, a copy of such notice and a statement showing in reasonable detail the facts upon which such adjustment is based. 
All calculations under this Section (6) shall be made to the nearest cent or to the nearest one-hundredth of a share, as the case 
may be.

 
(e) Such option to convert may be exercised by surrendering to the Corporation for such purpose at its 

transfer agency for the Convertible Preferred Stock in the City of Nashville, Tennessee or in the Borough of Manhattan, City 
and State of New York (which transfer agency shall be maintained by the Corporation so long as any shares of Convertible 
Preferred Stock are outstanding), the certificates for the shares of Convertible Preferred Stock so to be converted properly 
endorsed in blank or accompanied by proper instruments of assignment. Upon the conversion of any shares of Convertible 
Preferred Stock into Common Stock, no adjustment shall be made for dividends on the Convertible Preferred Stock payable to 
holders of record after the date of surrender of such shares for conversion or for dividends payable to holders of Common 
Stock of record prior to the date of surrender for conversion. Shares shall be deemed to have been converted immediately prior 
to the close of business on the day of surrender of said shares for conversion and the person entitled to receive the Common 
Stock issuable upon such conversion shall be treated for all purposes as the record holder of such Common Stock at such time. 
In case shares of Convertible Preferred Stock are called for redemption, the right to convert such shares shall cease and 
terminate at the close of business on that date fixed for redemption, unless default shall be made in payment of the redemption 
price.

 
(f) No fractional shares or scrip representing fractional shares shall be issued upon conversion of any share of 

Convertible Preferred Stock. If the conversion of any share of Convertible Preferred Stock results in a fractional share of 
Common Stock, an amount equal to such fractional share multiplied by the value of one share of the Common Stock on the 
conversion date shall be paid to the holder in cash. Such value shall be the last sales price, regular way, of the Common Stock 
of the Corporation on the New York Stock Exchange (or
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such other exchange on which such stock shall be listed) on the conversion date or, in case no sale takes place on such date, 
the average of the closing bid and asked prices, regular way, on such exchange on such date or, if such stock shall not then be 
listed on any exchange, the market price per share (as determined by the Board of Directors) at the close of business on the 
conversion date. The Corporation shall at all times reserve and keep available, free from preemptive rights, out of its 
authorized but unissued Common Stock for the purpose of effecting the conversion of the shares of Convertible Preferred 
Stock, the full number of shares of Common Stock then deliverable upon conversion of all shares of Convertible Preferred 
Stock then outstanding. The Corporation covenants that all shares of Common Stock issued upon conversion of Convertible 
Preferred Stock will, upon issue, be legally issued and will be fully paid and nonassessable and that the Corporation will take 
no action which will reduce the conversion price below the then par value of the Common Stock.

 
(g) In case (i) the Corporation shall declare a dividend or other distribution on its Common Stock payable 

otherwise than in cash out of its earned surplus, or (ii) the Corporation shall authorize the granting to the holders of its 
Common Stock of rights to subscribe for or purchase any shares of capital stock of any class or of any other rights, or (iii) of 
any reclassification of the capital stock of the Corporation (other than a subdivision or combination of its outstanding shares of 
Common Stock) or of any consolidation or merger to which the Corporation is a party and for which approval of any 
stockholders of the Corporation is required or of the sale or transfer of the property and assets of the Corporation as an entirety 
or substantially as an entirety, or (iv) of any voluntary or involuntary dissolution, liquidation or winding up of the Corporation, 
then the Corporation shall cause to be mailed by a transfer agency for the Convertible Preferred Stock to the holders of record 
of such stock, at least twenty days (or ten days in any case specified in clause (i) or clause (ii) above) prior to the applicable 
record date hereinafter specified, a notice stating the date on which a record is to be taken for the purpose of such dividend, 
distribution or rights or, if a record is not to be taken, the date as of which the holders of Common Stock of record to be 
entitled to such dividend, distribution or rights are to be determined, or the date on which such reclassification, consolidation, 
merger, sale, transfer, dissolution, liquidation or winding up is expected to become effective and the date as of which it is 
expected that holders of Common Stock of record shall be entitled to exchange their shares of the Common Stock for 
securities or other property deliverable thereupon.

 
(h) For the purposes of this Section (6), the sale by the Corporation of shares of Common Stock held in its 

treasury which were acquired after the date of initial issue of shares of Convertible Preferred Stock shall not be considered an 
issuance or sale of shares of Common Stock and the consideration received on any such sale shall be disregarded.

 
PART B-I — SUBORDINATED CUMULATIVE CONVERTIBLE PREFERENCE STOCK 

— GENERAL PROVISIONS
 

(1) Dividends. The holders of shares of Subordinated Preference  Stock  of  each Series shall be entitled, before 
any dividends are declared or paid on the Serial Preferred Stock of any Series, or on the Cumulative Preferred Stock or on the 
Common Stock, but subject to the prior rights of the Convertible Preferred Stock to dividends and to the sinking fund 
provisions
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with respect thereto, to receive dividends, when and as declared by the Board of Directors, at the respective rates hereinafter 
set forth in Parts B-II, B-III and B-IV of this Article Sixth. Such dividends shall be payable quarterly on the last days of 
January, April, July and October. Dividends with respect to each Series of Subordinated Preference Stock shall be cumulative 
from such date or dates as shall have been fixed with respect to such Series as hereinafter provided.

 
The Series A Subordinated Preference Stock shall be prior in right to dividends to the Series B Subordinated 

Preference Stock and the Series C Subordinated Preference Stock; the Series B Subordinated Preference Stock shall be prior in 
right to dividends to the Series C Subordinated Preference Stock. Thus, no dividends shall be declared on any outstanding 
shares of Series C Subordinated Preference Stock in respect of any dividend period unless there shall likewise be or have been 
declared on all shares of Series A Subordinated Preference Stock and Series B Subordinated Preference Stock at the time 
outstanding full cumulative dividends at the respective annual dividend rates fixed therefor as hereinafter provided; and no 
dividends shall be declared on any outstanding shares of Series B Subordinated Preference Stock in respect of any dividend 
period unless there shall likewise be or have been declared on all shares of Series A Subordinated Preference Stock at the time 
outstanding full cumulative dividends at the annual dividend rate fixed therefor as hereinafter provided, in each case for all 
previous dividend periods and for any then current dividend period.

 
Dividends with respect to each Series of Subordinated Preference Stock shall be cumulative so that if, for any 

previous or then current dividend period, dividends shall not have been paid, or declared and set apart for payment, upon all 
outstanding shares of such Series of Subordinated Preference Stock at the rate per annum fixed and determined for the shares 
of such Series as hereinafter set forth, the deficiency shall be fully paid, or declared and set apart for payment, before any 
dividends are paid or declared upon any subordinate Series of Subordinated Preference Stock or upon any Series of Serial 
Preferred Stock, or upon the Cumulative Preferred Stock or upon the Common Stock. Accumulated dividends shall not bear 
interest.  Whenever  full cumulative dividends on all Series of Subordinated Preference Stock for all previous dividend periods 
and for any then current period or periods shall have been paid, or declared and set apart for payment, the Board of Directors 
may declare dividends upon the Serial Preferred Stock of any Series, the Cumulative Preferred Stock or the Common Stock, 
payable then or thereafter, and no holder of any shares of any Series of Subordinated Preference Stock, as such, shall be 
entitled to share therein.

 
(2) Liquidation. Upon any dissolution, liquidation or winding up of the Corporation, the holders of each Series of 

Subordinated Preference Stock shall be entitled to be paid from the assets (whether capital or surplus) of the Corporation, 
subject to and after prior payment of the amounts payable with respect to the Convertible Preferred Stock, the amounts 
hereinafter set forth in Parts B-II, B-III and B-IV of this Article Sixth, plus in every case an amount equal to all accumulated 
and unpaid dividends accrued to the date fixed for final distribution to such holders, whether or not earned or declared, before 
any payment or distribution shall be made to the holders of the Serial Preferred Stock of any Series, Cumulative Preferred 
Stock, Employees’ Preferred Stock or the Common Stock.
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If, in the event of any such dissolution, liquidation or winding up, the assets of the Corporation are not 
sufficient to pay in full to the holders of shares of all Series of Subordinated Preference Stock the respective amounts which 
shall have been fixed and determined with respect thereto as hereinafter provided, no payment shall be made to the holders of 
the Series C Subordinated Preference Stock unless and until all amounts payable  to  the  holders  of  the Series A Subordinated 
Preference Stock and the Series B Subordinated Preference Stock have been discharged in full, and no payments shall be made 
to the holders of the Series B Subordinated Preference Stock unless and until all amounts payable  to  the  holders  of  the 
Series A Subordinated Preference Stock have been discharged in full. After payment in full of such amounts to the holders of 
each Series of Subordinated Preference Stock, such shareholders, as such, shall have no right or claim to any of the remaining 
assets of the Corporation, and the same shall be distributed among the holders of the Serial Preferred Stock of any Series, the 
Cumulative Preferred Stock, the Employees’ Preferred Stock and the Common Stock in accordance with their respective rights 
hereunder.

 
(3) Redemption. At the option of the Board of Directors, the Corporation, subject to the restrictions set forth in 

this Section (3) and subject to any restrictions hereinafter set forth in Parts B-II, B-III and B-IV of this Article Sixth, may at 
any time redeem the Subordinated Preference Stock, or any Series or part thereof, at the applicable redemption price 
hereinafter set forth in Parts B-II, B-III and B-IV of this Article Sixth, plus in every case an amount equal to all accumulated 
and unpaid dividends accrued to the redemption date on the shares redeemed, whether or not earned or declared; provided, 
however, that no less than 30 nor more than 60 days prior to the date fixed for redemption, a notice specifying the time and 
place of redemption and the redemption price shall be given to the holders of record of the shares to be redeemed by 
publication of such notice in one newspaper published and of general circulation in the City of Nashville, Tennessee, and in 
one newspaper published and of general circulation in the Borough of Manhattan, the City of New York, and by mailing such 
notice to such holders at their addresses, if any, as the same appear upon the stock registry books.

 
If less than all outstanding shares of Subordinated Preference Stock of any Series are to be redeemed, and 

except as otherwise hereinafter required by the  provisions of this Section (3), the shares to be redeemed may be selected by the 
Board of Directors by lot or in any other manner which the Board of Directors in its unrestricted discretion may determine to 
be fair, and in such case the notice of redemption mailed as aforesaid shall inform each registered holder of shares called for 
redemption of the total number or proportion of shares registered in his name that have been called for redemption, but the 
notice of redemption to be published as aforesaid need not contain such information.

 
From and after the redemption date, unless default is made in the payment of the redemption price when due, 

the shares so called for redemption shall cease to be outstanding and the holders thereof shall cease to be stockholders with 
respect to such shares and shall have no interest in or claim against the Corporation with respect to such shares other than to 
receive the redemption price on and after the date fixed for redemption without interest thereon, upon surrender of their 
certificates with endorsement thereof if required.         Shares of Subordinated
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Preference Stock redeemed pursuant to this Section (3) shall be cancelled and shall not thereafter be reissued, sold or otherwise 
disposed of.

 
At any time after notice of redemption shall have been given as hereinabove provided, the Corporation may 

deposit or cause to be deposited in trust, to be applied to the redemption of the shares of Subordinated Preference Stock so 
called for redemption, with some bank or trust company organized and doing business under the laws of the United States of 
America or the State of New York and having capital surplus and undivided profits aggregating at least Ten Million Dollars 
($10,000,000), and having its principal office in the Borough of Manhattan, City and State of New York, the aggregate amount 
to be paid on redemption to the holders of the shares so to be redeemed upon surrender of the certificates for such shares.  In  
case any holder of shares of Subordinated Preference Stock which shall have been called for redemption shall not, within six 
(6) years after such deposit, have claimed the amount deposited with respect to the redemption thereof, such bank or trust 
company, upon demand, shall pay over to the Corporation such unclaimed amount and shall thereupon be relieved of all 
responsibility in respect thereof to such holder, and such holder shall look only to the Corporation for the payment thereof. Any 
interest accrued on funds so deposited shall be paid to the Corporation from time to time.

 
If at any time the Corporation shall have failed to pay dividends in full on all shares of Subordinated 

Preference Stock of any Series outstanding and on all shares of Convertible Preference Stock and each other class of stock of 
the Corporation, including shares of Subordinated Preference Stock of other Series, ranking as to dividends or assets prior to or 
equally with the Subordinated Preference Stock of such Series, or shall be in default in respect of its obligations under any 
sinking fund or purchase or redemption account for the purchase or redemption of such Series of Subordinated Preference 
Stock and any such senior or pari passu stock, then and until all arrearages of such dividends for all preceding dividend 
periods and for any current dividend period or periods shall have been paid, or declared and set apart for payment, and all 
defaults under all such sinking funds or purchase or redemption accounts shall have been remedied, neither the Corporation 
nor any subsidiary shall purchase or redeem, at the option of the Board of Directors or pursuant to the provisions of any such 
sinking fund or purchase or redemption account (except, if all such dividend arrearages shall then have been paid or provided 
for, to the extent required to cure such defaults in such sinking funds or purchase or redemption accounts, in amounts 
proportionate to the amounts due respectively thereunder), or otherwise acquire for value any shares of Subordinated 
Preference Stock of such Series or any class of stock of the Corporation, including shares of Subordinated Preference Stock of 
other Series, ranking as to dividends or assets equally with or junior to the Subordinated Preference Stock of such Series, and 
the Corporation shall not declare or pay any dividend or make any other distribution on any shares of such junior stock.

 
(4) Conversion. (a) At the option of the holder thereof, and at such time or times hereinafter set forth in Parts B-

II, B-III and B-IV of this Article Sixth, each share of Subordinated Preference Stock may be converted into a number of fully 
paid and nonassessable shares of the Common Stock of the Corporation determined by dividing $100 by the conversion price 
per
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share of Common Stock in effect for the Subordinated Preference Stock of such Series at the time of such conversion.
 

(b) The initial conversion price for each series of Subordinated Preference Stock shall be as hereinafter 
set forth in Parts B-II, B-III and B-IV of this Article Sixth. Such conversion price shall be subject from time to time to such 
adjustments as may be occasioned by future issuances of securities of the Corporation to the extent and in the manner 
hereinafter set forth in Parts B-II, B-III and B-IV of this Article Sixth.

 
(c) In the event of any capital reorganization or reclassification of the Common Stock of the Corporation 

(except those for which provision is made pursuant to subsection (b)), or the consolidation or merger of the Corporation into or 
with another corporation, or the sale, conveyance, lease or other transfer by the Corporation of all or substantially all of its 
property to any other corporation, pursuant to which the then outstanding shares of Common Stock become exchangeable for 
other shares of stock or securities or cash or other property, the holders of the Subordinated Preference Stock of each Series 
shall have the right thereafter to convert such shares into the kind and amount of shares of stock, other securities, cash or 
property receivable upon such reorganization, reclassification, consolidation, merger or transfer by a holder of the number of 
shares of Common Stock of the Corporation into which such shares might have been converted immediately prior to such 
reorganization, reclassification, consolidation, merger or transfer, at the conversion price for such Series in  effect immediately 
preceding such reorganization, reclassification, consolidation, merger or transfer. Such right shall be subject to further future 
adjustments of the conversion price for such Series which are as nearly equivalent as may be practicable to the adjustments 
provided pursuant to subsection (b). The above provisions of this subsection (c) shall similarly apply to successive
reorganizations, reclassifications, consolidations, mergers or transfers.

 
(d) Whenever the conversion price of shares of Common Stock issuable on conversion of the 

Subordinated Preference Stock of any Series shall be adjusted pursuant to any of the provisions hereof, the Corporation shall 
forthwith cause to be published at least once in a daily newspaper of general circulation in the Borough of Manhattan, City and 
State of New York, and cause to be mailed to the holders of the outstanding shares of Subordinated Preference Stock of such 
Series, at their respective addresses appearing on the stock registry books of the Corporation, a notice setting forth the 
adjustment in such conversion price and shall also file  with the transfer agency, if any, for the Subordinated Preference Stock 
of such Series in said City and in the City of Nashville, Tennessee, a copy of such notice and a statement showing in 
reasonable detail the facts upon which such adjustment is based. All calculations under this Section (4) shall be made to the 
nearest cent or to the nearest one-hundredth of a share, as the case may be.

 
(e) Such option to convert may be exercised by surrendering to the Corporation for such purpose at its 

principal office or at its transfer agency, if any, for the Subordinated Preference Stock of such Series in the City of Nashville, 
Tennessee or in the Borough of Manhattan, City and State of New York, the certificates for the shares of Subordinated 
Preference Stock so to be converted properly endorsed in blank or accompanied by
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proper instruments of assignment. Upon the conversion of any shares of Subordinated  Preference Stock into Common Stock, 
no adjustment shall be made for dividends on the Subordinated Preference Stock payable to holders of record after the date of 
surrender of such shares for conversion or for dividends payable to holders of Common Stock of record prior to the date of 
surrender for conversion. Shares shall be deemed to have been converted immediately prior to the closing of business on the 
day of surrender of said shares for conversion and the person entitled to receive the Common Stock issuable upon such 
conversion shall be treated for all purposes as the record holder of such Common Stock at such time. In case shares of 
Subordinated Preference Stock are called for redemption, the right to convert such shares shall cease and terminate at the close 
of business on the date fixed for redemption, unless default shall be made in payment of the redemption price.

 
(f) No fractional shares or scrip representing fractional shares shall be issued upon conversion of any 

share of Subordinated Preference Stock. If the conversion of any share of Subordinated Preference Stock results in a fractional 
share of Common Stock, an amount in cash equal to such fraction multiplied by the value of one share of the Common Stock 
on the conversion date shall be paid to the holder. Such value shall be the last sales price, regular way, of the Common Stock 
of the Corporation on the New York Stock Exchange (or such other exchange on which such stock shall be listed) on the 
conversion date or, in case no sale takes place on such date, the average of the closing bid and asked prices, regular way, on 
such exchange on such date or, if such stock shall not then be listed on any exchange, the market price per share (as 
determined by the Board of Directors) at the close of business on the conversion date. The Corporation shall at all times 
reserve and keep available, free from preemptive rights, out of its authorized but unissued Common Stock, for the purpose of 
effecting the conversion of the shares of Subordinated Preference Stock, the full number of shares of Common Stock then 
deliverable upon conversion of all shares of Subordinated Preference Stock of each Series then outstanding. The Corporation 
covenants that all shares of Common Stock issued upon conversion of the Subordinated Preference Stock will, upon issue, be 
legally issued and will be fully paid and nonassessable by the Corporation and that the Corporation will take no action which 
will reduce the conversion price of any Series below the then par value of the Common Stock.

 
(g) In case (i) the Corporation shall declare a dividend or any other distribution on its Common Stock 

payable otherwise than in cash out of its earned surplus, or
(ii) the Corporation shall authorize the granting to the holders of its Common Stock of rights to subscribe for or purchase any 
shares of capital stock of any class or of any other rights, or (iii) of any reclassification of the capital stock of the Corporation 
(other than a subdivision or combination of its outstanding shares of Common Stock) or of any consolidation or merger to 
which the Corporation is a party and for which approval of any stockholders of the Corporation is required or of the sale or 
transfer of the property and assets of the Corporation as an entirety or substantially as an entirety, or (iv) of any voluntary or 
involuntary dissolution, liquidation or winding up of the Corporation, then the Corporation shall mail or cause to be mailed to 
the holders of record of the Subordinated Preference Stock of each Series outstanding at least twenty days (or ten days in any 
case specified in clause (i) or clause (ii) above) prior to the applicable record date hereinafter specified, a notice stating the 
date on which a record is to be taken for the
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purpose of such dividend, distribution or rights or, if a record is not to be taken, the date as of which the holders of Common 
Stock of record to be entitled to such dividend, distribution or rights are to be determined, or the date on which such 
reclassification, consolidation, merger, sale, transfer, dissolution, liquidation or winding up is expected to become effective and 
the date as of which it is expected that holders of Common Stock of record shall be entitled to exchange their shares of the 
Common Stock for securities or other property deliverable thereupon.

 
(h) For the purposes of this Section (4), the sale by the Corporation of shares of Common Stock held in 

its treasury which were acquired after the date of initial issue of shares of Subordinated Preference Stock of any Series shall 
not be considered an issuance or sale of shares of Common Stock and the consideration received on any such sale shall be 
disregarded for purposes of determining the conversion price for such Series.

 
(5) Reduction of Capital. Without limiting the generality of Article Eighth of the Certificate of Incorporation, the 

Board of Directors is expressly authorized from time to time to effect the reduction of the capital of the Corporation by 
redeeming or purchasing and retiring all or any outstanding shares of any Series of Subordinated Preference Stock pursuant to 
any provisions of this Article Sixth or any amendment thereto.

 
PART B-II — SERIES A SUBORDINATED PREFERENCE STOCK

 
The Series A Subordinated Preference Stock, consisting of 68,943 shares without nominal or par value, shall have, in 

addition to the rights and preferences granted by law and by Part B-I of this Article Sixth, the following distinguishing 
characteristics, rights, privileges and immunities:

 
(1) Dividends. Dividends shall be payable as hereafter provided on each outstanding share of Series A 

Subordinated Preference Stock at the rate of $4.25 per annum and shall be cumulative from February 1, 1967 and February 1,
1969 on shares which become convertible on April 15 of such years, respectively, and from May 1, 1968 and May 1, 1970 on 
shares which become convertible on April 15 of such years, respectively. Dividends shall not be payable with respect to any 
dividend period prior to the date that such dividends become cumulative.

 
(2) Redemption. The redemption price of shares of Series A Subordinated  Preference Stock redeemed at the 

option of the Board of Directors shall be $100 per share. Only those shares which have been convertible for at least two years
may be redeemed.

 
(3) Liquidation. The amount payable upon voluntary or involuntary dissolution, liquidation or winding up of the 

Corporation shall be $100 per share.
 

(4) Conversion. Each certificate representing shares of Series A Subordinated Preference Stock shall indicate 
the period during which such shares are convertible into Common Stock. Such periods and the number of such shares of Series 
A Subordinated Preference Stock which are then convertible are as follows:
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(a) April 15, 1969 to April 14, 1972:  34,471 shares.
 

(b) April 15, 1970 to April 14, 1973:  34,472 shares.
 

The initial conversion price per share of Common Stock for the conversion of shares into Series A Subordinated 
Preference Stock shall be $33.33. No adjustment will be made to the conversion price on account of subsequent issuances of 
securities except that, if the Corporation shall, after August 31, 1966, (i) issue shares as a stock dividend, or otherwise 
subdivide its outstanding shares of Common Stock, (ii) combine its outstanding shares of Common Stock into a smaller 
number of shares, or (iii) issue by reclassification of its shares of Common Stock any shares of the Corporation, the conversion 
price shall be immediately proportionately adjusted so that the holder of any Series A Subordinated Preference Stock thereafter 
surrendered for conversion in accordance with this Section (4) shall be entitled to receive the number of shares of the 
Corporation which he would have owned or have been entitled to receive after the happening of the events described above, 
had such Series A Subordinated Preference Stock been converted immediately prior to such event. Such adjustments shall 
become effective immediately after the close of business on the effective or record date of or for any such event.

 
(5) Voting Powers. Each share shall be entitled to three votes on all matters.

 
PART B-III — SERIES B SUBORDINATED PREFERENCE STOCK

 
The Series B Subordinated Preference Stock, consisting of 161,376 shares without nominal or par value, shall have, in 

addition to the rights and preferences granted by law and by Part B-I of this Article Sixth, the following distinguishing 
characteristics, rights, privileges and immunities:

 
(1) Dividends. Dividends shall be payable on each outstanding share of Series B Subordinated Preference Stock 

at the rate of $6.00 per annum and shall be cumulative from the date of issuance thereof.
 

(2) Redemption. The redemption price of each share of Series B Subordinated Preference Stock redeemed at the
option of the Board of Directors or pursuant to the Purchase Fund shall be $105 if redeemed on or after June 1, 1972 and 
before June 1, 1973; $104 before June 1, 1974; $103 before June 1, 1975; $102 before June 1, 1976; $101 before June 1, 1977; 
and $100 thereafter. No shares may be redeemed prior to June 1, 1972.

 
(3) Purchase Fund. (a) On December 31, 1976, and on each  December 31  thereafter on which any shares of 

Series B Subordinated Preference Stock are outstanding, the Corporation will offer to redeem at the then applicable redemption 
price stated in Section (2) of this Part B-III from each holder of Series B Subordinated Preference Stock a number of shares of
Series B Subordinated Preference Stock equal to such stockholder’s pro rata portion of five percent (5%) of the number of 
shares of Series B Subordinated Preference Stock issued by the Corporation, and upon tender by a stockholder of his shares 
and payment by the Corporation of the redemption price, such shares shall cease to be outstanding and shall be cancelled, and   
may
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not thereafter be reissued or sold or otherwise disposed of by the Corporation; provided, however, that the Corporation may at 
its option and on a cumulative basis, credit against the number of shares it would otherwise be required to offer to redeem, 
shares of Series B Subordinated Preference Stock which shall have been (i) converted into shares of Common Stock or (ii) 
purchased, redeemed or otherwise acquired by the Corporation other than pursuant to the Purchase Fund and which have not 
previously been credited against such required redemptions. Such offers will remain open for a period of sixty days.

 
(b)      The Corporation shall in no event be obligated to apply to the redemption of Series B Subordinated 

Preference Stock any funds not legally available therefor under the laws of the State of Tennessee but any such redemptions so 
deferred shall be made promptly after, and to the full extent that, any funds of the Corporation become legally available for 
such purpose thereafter. If at any time the Corporation shall, for any reason, have failed to effect the redemption pursuant to 
subsection (a) of this Section (3) of the total number of shares of Series B Subordinated Preference Stock theretofore required 
to be redeemed by the provisions of such subsection, the Corporation shall be deemed to be in default in its Purchase Fund 
obligations for the purposes of Section (3) of Part B-I.

 
(4) Liquidation. The amount payable upon voluntary or involuntary dissolution, liquidation or winding up of 

the Corporation shall be $100 per share.
 

(5) Conversion. The initial conversion price per share of Common Stock for the conversion of shares of Series 
B Subordinated Preference Stock shall be $41 2/3. No adjustment will be made to the conversion price on account of 
subsequent issuances of securities except  that, if the Corporation shall after January 31, 1967, (i) issue shares as a stock 
dividend, or otherwise subdivide its outstanding shares of Common Stock, (ii) combine its outstanding shares of Common 
Stock into a small number of shares, or (iii) issue by reclassification of its shares of Common Stock any shares of the 
Corporation, the conversion price shall be immediately proportionately adjusted so that the holder of any Series B 
Subordinated Preference Stock thereafter surrendered for conversion in accordance with this Section (5) shall be entitled to 
receive the number of shares of the Corporation which he would have owned or have been entitled to receive after the 
happening of the events described above, had such Series B Subordinated Preference Stock been converted immediately prior 
to such event. Such adjustments shall become effective immediately after the close of business on the effective or record date 
of or for any such event.

 
(6) Voting Powers. Each share shall be entitled to two votes on all matters.

 
PART B-IV — SERIES C SUBORDINATED PREFERENCE STOCK

 
The Series C Subordinated Preference Stock, consisting of not more than 269,291 shares without nominal or par 

value, shall have, in addition to the rights and preferences granted by law and by Part B-I of this Article Sixth, the following 
distinguishing characteristics, rights, privileges and immunities:
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(1) Dividends. Dividends shall be payable on each outstanding share of Series C Subordinated Preference Stock 
at the rate of $6.00 per annum and shall be cumulative from the date of issuance thereof.

 
(2) Redemption. The redemption price of each share of Series C Subordinated Preference Stock redeemed at the 

option of the Board of Directors or pursuant to the Purchase Fund shall be $105 if redeemed on or after December 1, 1972 and 
before December 1, 1973;
$104 before December 1, 1974; $103 before December 1, 1975; $102 before December 1, 1976;
$101 before December 1, 1977; and $100 thereafter, plus in every case accumulated dividend arrears. No shares may be 
redeemed prior to December 1, 1972.

 
(3) Purchase Fund. (a) On June 30, 1977, and on each June 30 thereafter on which any shares of Series C 

Subordinated Preference Stock are outstanding, the Corporation will offer to redeem at the then applicable redemption price 
stated in Section (2) of this Part B-IV from each holder of Series C Subordinated Preference Stock a number of shares of 
Series C Subordinated Preference Stock equal to such stockholder’s pro rata portion of five percent (5%) of the number of 
shares of Series C Subordinated Preference Stock issued by the Corporation, and upon tender by a stockholder of his shares 
and payment by the Corporation of the redemption price, such shares shall cease to be outstanding and shall be cancelled, and 
may not thereafter be reissued or sold or otherwise disposed of by the Corporation; provided, however, that the Corporation 
may at its option and on a cumulative basis, credit against the number of shares it would otherwise be required to offer to 
redeem, shares of Series C Subordinated Preference  Stock  which  shall  have  been  (i) converted  into  shares  of  Common  
Stock      or
(ii) purchased, redeemed or otherwise acquired by the Corporation other than pursuant to the Purchase Fund and which have not 
previously been credited against such required redemptions. Such offers will remain open for a period of sixty days.

 
(b)     The Corporation shall in no event be obligated to apply to the redemption of Series C Subordinated 

Preference Stock any funds not legally available therefor under the laws of the State of Tennessee but any such redemptions so 
deferred shall be made promptly after, and to the full extent that, any funds of the Corporation become legally available for 
such purpose thereafter. If at any time the Corporation shall, for any reason, have failed to effect the redemption pursuant to 
subsection (a) of this Section (3) of the  total  number  of  shares  of Series C Subordinated Preference Stock theretofore 
required to be redeemed by the provisions of such subsection, the Corporation shall be deemed to be in default in its Purchase 
Fund obligations for the purposes of Section (3) of Part B-I.

 
(4) Liquidation. The amount payable upon voluntary or involuntary dissolution, liquidation or winding up of the 

Corporation shall be $100 per share, plus in every case accumulated dividend arrears.
 

(5) Conversion. The initial conversion price per share of Common Stock for the conversion of shares of Series C 
Subordinated Preference Stock shall be $45 5/11. No adjustment will be made to the conversion price on account of subsequent 
issuances of securities except that, if the Corporation shall after August 31, 1967, (i) issue shares as a stock dividend, or
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otherwise subdivide its outstanding shares of Common Stock, (ii) combine its outstanding shares of Common Stock into a 
smaller number of shares, or (iii) issue by reclassification of, or in exchange for, its shares of Common Stock any securities of 
the Corporation, or in case of merger or consolidation, or sale of all the assets of the Corporation or distribution to holders of 
Common Stock by way of dividend or otherwise of property other than cash, then, in any of such events, the holder of any 
Series C Subordinated Preference Stock thereafter surrendered for conversion shall be entitled to receive the kind and amount 
of shares of stock and other securities and property receivable in lieu of Common Stock upon the happening of any such event. 
Such adjustments shall become effective immediately after the close of business on the effective or record date of or for any
such event.

 
(6) Voting Powers. Each share shall be entitled to two votes on all matters.

 
PART C-I — SUBORDINATED SERIAL PREFERRED STOCK— GENERAL PROVISIONS

 
(1) Dividends. If, pursuant to the  authority vested  in  them  by Section (5) of this Part C-I, the Board of 

Directors determines that the holders of shares of any Series of Serial Preferred Stock shall be entitled to receive dividends, 
then such holders shall be entitled, before any dividends are declared or paid on any subordinate Series, if any, of Serial 
Preferred Stock or on the Cumulative Preferred Stock or on the Employees’ Preferred Stock or on the Common Stock, but 
subject to the prior rights of the Convertible Preferred Stock, the Subordinated Preference Stock of each Series and any senior 
Series, if any, of Serial Preferred Stock to dividends and to the sinking fund or purchase fund provisions with respect to such 
classes of Stock, to receive dividends, when and as declared by the Board of Directors, at the rate which shall have been fixed 
and determined by the Board of Directors with respect to such Series.

 
(2) Liquidation. Upon any dissolution, liquidation or winding up of the Corporation, the holders of each Series 

of Serial Preferred Stock shall be entitled to be paid from the assets (whether capital or surplus) of the Corporation, subject to 
and after prior payment of the amounts payable with respect to the Convertible Preferred Stock, the Subordinated Preference 
Stock of each Series and any senior Series, if any, of Serial Preferred Stock, the amounts which shall have been fixed and 
determined with respect to such Series by the Board of Directors pursuant to Section (5) of this Part C-I, before any payment 
or distribution shall be made to the holders of any subordinate Series, if any, of Serial Preferred Stock, the Cumulative 
Preferred Stock, Employees’ Preferred Stock or the Common Stock.

 
(3) Redemption. (a)  If, pursuant to the authority vested in them by Section (5) of  this Part C-I, the Board of 

Directors determines that shares of any Series of Serial Preferred Stock shall be redeemable, then in addition to the terms and 
conditions pertaining to redemption of the shares of such Series as shall be fixed and determined by the Board of Directors 
and to the extent not in conflict with such terms and conditions, the provisions of this Section (3) shall be applicable to the 
redemption of shares of such Series.
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(b) Not less than 30 nor more than 60 days prior to the date fixed for redemption, a notice specifying the 
time and place of redemption and the redemption price shall be given to the holders of record of the shares to be redeemed by 
mailing such notice to such holders as their names and addresses appear in the stock registry books.

 
(c) If less than all outstanding shares of Serial Preferred Stock of such Series are to be redeemed, and 

except as otherwise hereinafter required by the provisions of this Section (3), the shares to be redeemed shall be selected by 
the Board of Directors by such method as the Board of Directors shall deem fair and appropriate, and in such case the notice of 
redemption mailed as aforesaid shall inform each registered holder of shares called for redemption of the total number or 
proportion of shares registered in his name that have been called for redemption, but the notice of redemption to be published 
as aforesaid need not contain such information.

 
(d) From and after the redemption date, unless default is made in the payment of the redemption price 

when due, the shares so called for redemption shall cease to be outstanding, and the holders thereof shall cease to be
stockholders with respect to such shares and shall have no interest in or claim against the Corporation with respect to such 
shares other than to receive the redemption price on and after the date fixed for redemption, without interest thereon, upon 
surrender of their certificates with endorsement thereof if required.

 
(e) At any time after notice of redemption shall have been given as hereinabove provided, the 

Corporation may deposit or cause to be deposited in trust, to be applied to the redemption of the shares of Serial Preferred 
Stock of such Series so called for redemption, with some bank or trust company organized and doing business under the laws
of the United States of America or the State of New York and having capital surplus and undivided profits aggregating at least 
Ten Million Dollars ($10,000,000), and having its principal office in the Borough of Manhattan, City and State of New York, 
the aggregate amount to be paid on redemption to the holders of the shares so to be redeemed upon surrender of the certificates 
for such shares. In case any holder of shares of Serial Preferred Stock of such Series which shall have been called for 
redemption shall not, within six (6) years after such deposit, have claimed the amount deposited with respect to the redemption 
thereof, such bank or trust company, upon demand, shall pay over to the Corporation such unclaimed amount and shall 
thereupon be relieved of all responsibility in respect thereof to such holder, and such holder shall look only to the Corporation 
for the payment thereof. Any interest accrued on funds so deposited shall be paid to the Corporation from time to time as the 
Corporation shall direct.

 
(f) If at any time the Corporation shall have failed to pay dividends in full on all shares of Serial 

Preferred Stock of such Series outstanding, on all shares of Convertible Preferred Stock, Subordinated Preference Stock of 
each Series and each other class of stock of the Corporation, including shares of Serial Preferred Stock of other Series, ranking 
as to dividends or assets prior to or equally with the Serial Preferred Stock of such Series, or shall be in default in respect of its 
obligations under any sinking fund or purchase or redemption account for the purchase or redemption of shares of Serial 
Preferred Stock of such Series and any such senior or pari passu stock, then and until all arrearages of such dividends for all 
preceding
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dividend periods and for any current dividend period or periods shall have been paid, or declared and set apart for payment, 
and all defaults under all such sinking funds or purchase or redemption accounts shall have been remedied, neither the 
Corporation nor any subsidiary shall purchase or redeem, at the option of the Board of Directors or pursuant to the provisions 
of any such sinking fund or purchase or redemption account (except, if all such dividend arrearages shall then have been paid 
or provided for, to the extent required to cure such defaults in such sinking funds or purchase or redemption accounts, in 
amounts proportionate to the amounts due respectively thereunder), or otherwise acquire for value any shares of Serial 
Preferred Stock of such Series or any class of stock of the Corporation, including shares of Serial Preferred Stock of other
Series, ranking as to dividends or assets equally with or junior to the Serial Preferred Stock of such Series, and the Corporation 
shall not declare or pay any dividend or make any other distribution on any shares of such junior stock.

 
(4) Conversion. (a) If, pursuant to the authority vested in them by Section (5) of this Part C-I, the Board of 

Directors determines that shares of a Series of Serial Preferred Stock shall be convertible, then in addition to the terms and 
conditions pertaining to conversion of shares of such Series fixed and determined by the Board of Directors, and to the extent 
not in conflict with such terms and conditions, the provisions of this Section (4) shall be applicable to the conversion of shares 
of such Series.

 
(b) If the Corporation shall, after the effective date of certification to the Secretary of State of Tennessee 

of the resolution referred to in Section (5) of this Part C-I relating to the distinguishing characteristics of such Series (i) issue 
shares of the capital stock of the Corporation into which the shares of Serial Preferred Stock of such Series are then convertible 
(the “Conversion Stock”) as a stock dividend or in a stock split, or otherwise subdivide its outstanding shares of Conversion 
Stock; or (ii) combine its outstanding shares of Conversion Stock into a smaller number of shares, the conversion price or ratio 
shall be proportionately adjusted so that the holder of any share of Serial Preferred Stock of such Series thereafter surrendered 
for conversion into the Conversion Stock in accordance  with  this  Section (4) shall be entitled to receive the number of shares 
of Conversion Stock which he would have owned or been entitled to receive after the happening of the events described above, 
had such share of Serial Preferred Stock of such Series been converted into Conversion Stock immediately prior to such event. 
Such adjustment shall become effective immediately after the close of business on the record date of or for any such event.

 
(c) In the event of any capital reorganization or reclassification of the Conversion Stock (except those 

for which provision is made pursuant to subsection (b)), or the consolidation or merger of the Corporation into or with another 
corporation, or the sale, conveyance, lease or other transfer by the Corporation of all or substantially all of its property to any 
other corporation, pursuant to which the then outstanding shares of the Conversion Stock become exchangeable for other 
shares of stock or securities or cash or other property, the holders of the Serial Preferred Stock of such Series shall have the 
privilege thereafter to convert such shares into the kind and amount of shares of stock, other securities, cash or property 
receivable upon such reorganization, reclassification, consolidation, merger or transfer by a holder of the number of shares of 
the Conversion Stock of the Corporation into which such shares might have
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been converted immediately prior to such reorganization, reclassification, consolidation, merger or transfer, at the conversion 
price or ratio for such Series in effect immediately preceding such reorganization, reclassification, consolidation, merger or 
transfer. Such privilege shall be subject to further future adjustments of the conversion price or ratio for such Series which are 
as nearly equivalent as may be practicable to the adjustments provided pursuant to subsection (b). The above provisions of this 
subsection (c) shall similarly apply to successive reorganizations, reclassifications, consolidations, mergers or transfers.

 
(d) Whenever the conversion price or ratio for shares of the Serial Preferred Stock of such Series shall 

be adjusted pursuant to any of the provisions hereof, the Corporation shall forthwith cause to be published at least once in a 
daily newspaper of general circulation in the Borough of Manhattan, City and State of New York, and cause to be mailed to the 
holders of the outstanding shares of Serial Preferred Stock of such Series, as their names and addresses appear in the stock 
registry books of the Corporation, a notice setting forth the adjustment in such conversion price or ratio and shall also file with 
the transfer agency, if any, for the Serial Preferred Stock of such Series in said City and in the City of Nashville, Tennessee, a 
copy of such notice and a statement showing in reasonable detail the facts upon which such adjustment is based. All 
calculations under this Section (4) shall be made to the nearest cent or to the nearest one-hundredth of a share, as the case may 
be.

 
(e) Such privilege to convert may be exercised by surrendering to the Corporation for such purpose at its 

principal office or at its transfer agency, if any, for the Serial Preferred Stock of such Series in the City of Nashville, Tennessee 
or in the Borough of Manhattan, City and State of New York, the certificates for the shares of the Serial Preferred Stock of 
such Series so to be converted properly endorsed in blank or accompanied by proper instruments of assignment. Upon the 
conversion of shares of Serial Preferred Stock of such Series into the Conversion Stock, no adjustment shall be made for 
dividends on the Serial Preferred Stock of such Series payable to holders of record after the date of surrender of such shares 
for conversion or for dividends payable to holders of the Conversion Stock of record prior to the date of surrender for 
conversion. Shares shall be deemed to have been converted immediately prior to the close of business on the day of surrender
of such shares for conversion and the person entitled to receive the Conversion Stock issuable upon such conversion shall be 
treated for all purposes as the record holder of such Conversion Stock at such time. In case shares of Serial Preferred Stock of 
such Series are called for redemption, the privilege to convert such shares shall cease and terminate at the close of business on 
the second business day prior to the date fixed for redemption.

 
(f) No fractional shares or scrip representing fractional shares shall be issued upon conversion of any 

share of Serial Preferred Stock of such Series. If the conversion of any share of Serial Preferred Stock of such Series results in 
a fractional share of Conversion Stock, an amount in cash equal to such fraction multiplied by the value of one share of the 
Conversion Stock on the conversion date shall be paid to the holder. Such value shall be the last sales price, regular way, of the 
Conversion Stock of the Corporation on the New York Stock Exchange (or such other exchange on which such stock shall be 
listed) on the conversion date or, in case no sale takes place on such date, the average of the closing bid and asked prices, 
regular way, on
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such exchange on such date or, if such stock shall not then be listed on any exchange, the market price per share (as 
determined by the Board of Directors) at the close of business on the conversion date. The Corporation shall at all times 
reserve and keep available, free from preemptive rights, out of its authorized but unissued Common Stock, for the purpose of 
effecting the conversion of the shares of Serial Preferred Stock of such Series, the full number of shares of Conversion Stock 
then deliverable upon conversion of all shares of Serial Preferred Stock of such Series then outstanding. The Corporation 
covenants that all shares of Conversion Stock issued upon conversion of Serial Preferred Stock of such Series will, upon issue, 
be legally issued and will be fully paid and nonassessable by the Corporation.

 
(g) In case (i) the Corporation shall declare a dividend or other distribution on its Conversion Stock 

payable otherwise than in cash out of its earned surplus, or (ii) the Corporation shall authorize the granting to the holders of its 
Conversion Stock of rights to subscribe for or purchase any shares of capital stock of any class or of any other rights, or (iii) of 
any reclassification of the capital stock of the Corporation (other than a subdivision or combination of its outstanding shares of 
Conversion Stock) or of any consolidation or merger to which the Corporation is a party and for which approval of any 
stockholders of the Corporation is required or of the sale or transfer of the property and assets of the Corporation as an entirety 
or substantially as an entirety, or (iv) of any voluntary or involuntary dissolution, liquidation or winding up of the Corporation, 
then the Corporation shall mail or cause to be mailed to the holders of the outstanding shares of Serial Preferred Stock of such 
Series at least twenty days (or ten days in any case specified in clause (i) or clause (ii) above) prior to the applicable record 
date hereinafter specified, a notice stating the date on which a record is to be taken for the purpose of such dividend, 
distribution or rights or, if a record is not to be taken, the date as of which the holders of Conversion Stock of record to be 
entitled to such dividend, distribution or rights are to be determined, or the date on which such reclassification, consolidation, 
merger, sale, transfer, dissolution, liquidation or winding up is expected to become effective and the date as of which it is 
expected that holders of Conversion Stock of record shall be entitled to exchange their shares of the Conversion Stock for 
securities or other property deliverable thereupon.

 
(5) Distinguishing Characteristics of the Series. The Serial Preferred Stock may be issued, from time to time, 

in one or more Series each of which shall constitute a separate class. The Board of Directors shall, by resolution adopted and 
certified to the Secretary of State pursuant to Section 48-16-102 of the Tennessee Business Corporation Act, fix and determine 
the distinguishing characteristics and rights, privileges and immunities of each Series of Serial Preferred Stock prior to the 
issuance of any shares of such Series. The authority of the Board of Directors with respect to each Series shall include, but 
shall not be limited to, the determination or fixing of the following:

 
(a) the number of shares constituting such Series and the distinctive designation of such Series;

 
(b) the amounts, rates and kind of dividends, if any, to be paid on the shares of such Series, the dates on 

which such dividends shall be payable, whether or not dividends shall be cumulative and, if so, in what manner and from what 
date or dates;
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(c) whether or not the shares of such Series shall have voting rights and, if so, the terms of such voting 
rights;

 
(d) whether or not the shares of such Series shall have conversion privileges and, if so, the terms and 

conditions of such conversion privileges, including provisions for adjustment of the conversion price or ratio in certain events;
 

(e) whether or not the shares of such Series shall be redeemable and, if so, the terms and conditions of 
such redemption, including the date or dates upon or after which such shares shall be redeemable, and the amount per share 
payable in case of redemption, which amount may vary under different conditions and at different redemption dates;

 
(f) the rights of the shares of such Series in the event of voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution 

or winding up of the Corporation;
 

(g) whether or not shares of such Series shall be entitled to the benefit of a sinking or purchase fund for 
the purchase or redemption of such shares and, if so, the amount of such fund and the manner of its application;

 
(h) the relative rights and preferences among different Series of Serial Preferred Stock; and

 
(i) whether or not the shares of such Series which have been redeemed or converted, or purchased or 

otherwise acquired by the Corporation and cancelled, may be reissued as shares of the same or any other Series of Serial 
Preferred Stock.

 
Each resolution adopted by the Board of Directors pursuant to the powers expressly delegated to it in this 

Section (5) of Part C-I of Article Sixth and pursuant to said Section 48-16-102 shall be certified to and filed with the Secretary 
of State of the State of Tennessee as an amendment to this Article Sixth.

 
No such resolution adopted by the Board of Directors and certified to the Secretary of State as aforesaid may 

thereafter be amended, modified or rescinded by the Board of Directors except that, unless otherwise provided by the 
resolution creating such Series, authorized but unissued shares of a Series may, by resolution similarly adopted and certified, 
be removed from the authorized shares of such Series and may be authorized as shares of any other junior or pari passu Series; 
and no such resolution may alter or change any of the rights, privileges and immunities of any class of stock then outstanding 
so as adversely to affect such class.

 
(6) Reduction of Capital. Without limiting the generality of Article Eighth of the Charter, the Board of Directors 

is expressly authorized from time to time to effect the reduction of the capital of the Corporation by redeeming or purchasing 
and retiring all or any  outstanding
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shares of any Series of Serial Preferred Stock pursuant to any provisions of this Article Sixth or any amendment thereto.
 

PART C-II — SUBORDINATED SERIAL PREFERRED STOCK, SERIES 1
 

The first Series of Subordinated Serial Preferred Stock shall be known as “Subordinated Serial Preferred Stock, 
Series 1” (hereinafter referred to as “Series 1 Serial Preferred Stock”), shall consist of 64,368 shares, without nominal or par 
value, and shall have, in addition to the rights and preferences granted by law and by Part C-I of this Article Sixth, the 
following distinguishing characteristics, rights, privileges and immunities:

 
(1) Dividends. (a) Dividends shall be payable quarterly on the last days of January, April, July and October on 

each outstanding share of Series 1 Serial Preferred Stock at the annual rate of $2.30.
 

(b) The Series 1 Serial Preferred Stock shall rank equally in right to dividends with Series 2 Serial 
Preferred Stock but shall rank prior in right to dividends to any other Series of Serial Preferred Stock; therefore, no dividends 
shall be declared or paid on any outstanding share of any other Series of Serial Preferred Stock, other than Series 2 Serial
Preferred Stock, in respect of any dividend period unless there shall likewise be or have been declared on all shares of Series 1 
Serial Preferred Stock at the time outstanding full cumulative dividends, and no dividends shall be declared or paid on any 
outstanding share of Series 2 Serial Preferred Stock unless there shall likewise be or have been declared on all shares of Series 
1 Serial Preferred Stock at the time outstanding a ratable dividend based upon the respective dividend rates of Series 1 and 
Series 2 Serial Preferred Stock at the time in effect.

 
(c) Dividends with respect to shares of Series 1 Serial Preferred Stock shall be cumulative, whether or 

not earned, from the date of issuance thereof, so that if, for any previous or then current dividend period, dividends shall not 
have been paid, or declared and set apart for payment, upon all outstanding shares of Series 1 Serial Preferred Stock, the 
deficiency shall be fully paid, or declared and set apart for payment, before any dividends are paid or declared upon any 
subordinate Series of Serial Preferred Stock or upon the Cumulative Preferred Stock, the Employees’ Preferred Stock or the 
Common Stock. Accumulated dividends shall not bear interest. Whenever full cumulative dividends on all shares of Series 1 
Serial Preferred Stock for all previous dividend periods and for any then current period or periods shall have been paid or 
declared and set apart for payment, the Board of Directors may declare dividends upon any subordinate Series of Serial 
Preferred Stock, the Cumulative Preferred Stock or the Common Stock, payable then or thereafter, and no holder of any shares 
of Series 1 Serial Preferred Stock shall be entitled to share therein by virtue of such holding.

 
(2) Liquidation. (a) The amount payable with respect to shares of Series 1 Serial Preferred Stock upon 

voluntary or involuntary dissolution, liquidation or winding up of the Corporation prior to November 1, 1973, shall be $40 per 
share and thereafter shall be the then prevailing redemption price for shares of such Series, plus in every case an amount equal 
to   all
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accumulated and unpaid dividends, if any, accrued to the date fixed for final distribution to the holders of shares of Series 1 
Serial Preferred Stock, whether or not earned or declared.

 
(b) If, in the event of any such dissolution, liquidation or winding up, the assets of the Corporation are not 

sufficient to pay in full to the holders of shares of all Series of Serial Preferred Stock the respective amounts which shall have 
been fixed and determined with respect thereto, no payment shall be made to the holders of any other Series of Serial Preferred 
Stock, other than Series 2 Serial Preferred Stock, unless and until all amounts payable to the holders of Series 1 Serial 
Preferred Stock have been discharged in full. In the event the assets of the Corporation are not sufficient to pay in full to the 
holders of shares of both Series 1 and Series 2 Serial Preferred Stock the respective amounts to which they are entitled, then 
the shares of both Series 1 and Series 2 shall share ratably according to their respective liquidation values. After payment in 
full to the holders of shares of Series 1 Serial Preferred Stock of the amounts set forth in subsection (a) of this Section (2), no 
holder of such shares shall have any right or claim to any of the remaining assets of the Corporation by virtue of such holding, 
and the same shall be distributed among the holders of the Serial Preferred Stock of subordinate Series, the Cumulative 
Preferred Stock, the Employees’ Preferred Stock and the Common Stock according to their respective rights hereunder.

 
(3) Redemption. The Corporation may, subsequent to October 31, 1973,  at  the option of the Board of Directors, 

redeem the Series 1 Serial Preferred Stock or, from time to time, any part thereof at the redemption prices hereinafter set forth, 
plus in every case an amount equal to all accumulated and unpaid dividends accrued to the redemption date on the shares 
redeemed, whether or not earned or declared. The redemption price for each share of Series 1 Serial Preferred Stock redeemed 
at the option of the Board of Directors shall be $42.00 if redeemed prior to November 1, 1974, $41.60 if redeemed subsequent 
to October 31, 1974 and prior to November 1, 1975, $41.20 if redeemed subsequent to October 31, 1975 and prior to 
November 1, 1976, $40.80 if redeemed subsequent to October 31, 1976 and  prior  to  November 1, 1977, $40.40 if redeemed 
subsequent to October 31, 1977 and  prior  to  November 1, 1978, and $40.00 if redeemed subsequent to October 31, 1978.

 
(4) Conversion. At the option of the holder thereof, each share of Series 1 Serial Preferred Stock may be 

converted into five-sixths (0.8333) of one fully paid and nonassessable share of Common Stock of the Corporation. Such 
conversion ratio shall not be subject to adjustment except as provided in subsections (b) and (c) of Section (4) of Part C-I of 
this Article Sixth.

 
(5) Voting Powers. Each holder of shares of Series 1 Serial Preferred Stock shall be entitled to one vote on all 

matters for each shares of such stock standing in his name on the books of the Corporation.
 

(6) Status of Unissued and Reacquired Shares. Shares of Series 1 Serial Preferred Stock redeemed or 
converted, purchased or otherwise acquired by the Corporation and cancelled, shall have the status of authorized but unissued 
shares of such Series, but may not be reissued except as follows:  by resolution adopted by the Board of Directors and certified 
as provided  in
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Section (5) of Part C-I of this Article Sixth, such shares, and any other authorized but unissued shares of Series 1 Serial 
Preferred Stock, may be removed from the authorized shares of such Series and be authorized and issued as shares of any 
junior Series of Serial Preferred Stock.

 
(7) Exchanges for Junior Stock. Notwithstanding the provisions of Part C-I(3)(f) of this Article Sixth, the 

Corporation or a subsidiary may from time to time after February 4,  1988
(i) purchase, redeem or otherwise acquire shares of Series 1 Serial Preferred Stock or of any other Series of Serial Preferred 
Stock ranking as to dividends or assets equally with or junior to the Series 1 Serial Preferred Stock in exchange for shares of 
Common Stock or of any other class of stock of the Corporation ranking as to dividends or assets junior to the Series 1 Serial 
Preferred Stock (including shares of other Series of Serial Preferred Stock) and cash payments in lieu of fractional shares and 
(ii) make cash payments to the holders of shares of Series 1 Serial Preferred Stock and to the holders of shares of other Series 
of Serial Preferred Stock ranking as to dividends or assets equally with or junior to the Series 1 Serial Preferred Stock who 
dissent to the amendments to the charter of the Corporation by which this Section (7) and similar Sections applicable to such 
other Series are added to the charter and who become entitled by law to receive payment from the Corporation of the fair value 
of such shares. Any exchanges permitted hereunder may be made pursuant to the conversion provisions applicable to the 
Series 1 Serial Preferred Stock or such other Series, in voluntary transactions with the holders of any such Series of Serial 
Preferred Stock or pursuant to an amendment to the charter.

 
PART C-III — SUBORDINATED SERIAL PREFERRED STOCK, SERIES 2

 
The second Series of Subordinated Serial Preferred Stock shall be known as “Subordinated Serial Preferred Stock, 

Series 2” (hereinafter referred to as “Series 2 Serial Preferred Stock”), shall consist of 119,742 shares, without nominal or par 
value, and shall have, in addition to the rights and preferences granted by law and by Part C-I of this Article Sixth, the 
following distinguishing characteristics, rights, privileges and immunities:

 
(1) Dividends. (a) Prior to November 1, 1973, dividends shall be payable on each outstanding share of Series 2 

Serial Preferred Stock at the annual rate of $2.40 and thereafter at an annual rate equal to six percent (6%) of the then 
prevailing redemption price as specified in Section (3) of this Part C-III, and shall be payable quarterly on the last days of 
January, April, July and October.

 
(b) The Series 2 Serial Preferred Stock shall rank equally in right to dividends with Series 1 Serial 

Preferred Stock but shall rank prior in right to dividends to any other Series of Serial Preferred Stock; therefore, no dividends 
shall be declared or paid on any outstanding share of any other Series of Serial Preferred Stock, other than Series 1 Serial
Preferred Stock, in respect of any dividend period unless there shall likewise be or have been declared on all shares of Series 2 
Serial Preferred Stock at the time outstanding full cumulative dividends, and no dividends shall be declared or paid on any 
outstanding share of Series 1 Serial Preferred Stock unless there shall likewise be or have been declared on all shares of Series 
2 Serial Preferred Stock at the time outstanding a ratable dividend based upon the respective dividend rates of Series 2 and 
Series 1 Serial Preferred Stock at the time in effect.
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(c) Dividends with respect to shares of Series 2 Serial Preferred Stock shall be cumulative, whether or 
not earned, from the date of issuance thereof, so that if, for any previous or then current dividend period, dividends shall not 
have been paid, or declared and set apart for payment, upon all outstanding shares of Series 2 Serial Preferred Stock, the 
deficiency shall be fully paid, or declared and set apart for payment, before any dividends are declared or paid upon any 
subordinate Series of Serial Preferred Stock or upon the Cumulative Preferred Stock, the Employees’ Preferred Stock or the 
Common Stock. Accumulated dividends shall not bear interest. Whenever full cumulative dividends on all shares of Series 2 
Serial Preferred Stock for all previous dividend periods and for any then current period or periods shall have been paid or 
declared and set apart for payment, the Board of Directors may declare dividends upon any subordinate Series of Serial 
Preferred Stock, the Cumulative Preferred Stock or the Common Stock, payable then or thereafter, and no holder of any shares 
of Series 2 Serial Preferred Stock shall be entitled to share therein by virtue of such holding.

 
(2) Liquidation. (a) The amount payable with respect to shares of Series 2 Serial Preferred Stock upon voluntary 

or involuntary dissolution, liquidation or winding up of the Corporation prior to November 1, 1973, shall be $40 per share and 
thereafter shall be the then prevailing redemption price for shares of such Series, plus in every case an amount equal to all 
accumulated and unpaid dividends, if any, accrued to the date fixed for final distribution to holders of shares of Series 2 Serial 
Preferred Stock, whether or not earned or declared.

 
(b) If, in the event of any such dissolution, liquidation or winding up, the assets of the Corporation are not 

sufficient to pay in full to the holders of shares of all Series of Serial Preferred Stock the respective amounts which shall have 
been fixed and determined with respect thereto, no payment shall be made to the holders of any other Series of Serial 
Preferred Stock, other than Series 1 Serial Preferred Stock, unless and until all amounts payable to the holders of Series 2 
Serial Preferred Stock have been discharged in full. In the event the assets of the Corporation are not sufficient to pay in full to 
the holders of shares of both Series 2 and Series 1 Serial Preferred Stock the respective amounts to which they are entitled, 
then the shares of both Series 2 and Series 1 shall share ratably according to their respective liquidation values. After payment 
in full to the holders of shares of Series 2 Serial Preferred Stock of the amounts set forth in subsection (a) of this Section (2), 
no holder of such shares shall have any right or claim to any of the remaining assets of the Corporation by virtue of such 
holding, and the same shall be distributed among the holders of the Serial Preferred Stock of subordinate Series, the 
Cumulative Preferred Stock, the Employees’ Preferred Stock and the Common Stock according to their respective rights 
hereunder.

 
(3) Redemption. The Corporation may, subsequent to October 31, 1973,  at  the option of the Board of Directors, 

redeem the Series 2 Serial Preferred Stock or, from time to time, any part thereof at the redemption prices hereinafter set forth, 
plus in every case an amount equal to all accumulated and unpaid dividends accrued to the redemption date on the shares 
redeemed, whether or not earned or declared. The redemption price for each share of Series 2 Serial Preferred Stock redeemed 
at the option of the Board of Directors or pursuant to the
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Sinking Fund shall be $40 if redeemed prior to January 1, 1974, $45 if redeemed in the calendar year 1974 and shall increase 
by $2 per annum for each calendar year thereafter.

 
(4) Sinking Fund. (a) So long as any shares of Series 2 Serial Preferred Stock shall be outstanding, and as and 

for a sinking fund for the redemption of shares of Series 2 Serial Preferred Stock, the Corporation shall, on or before January 
1, 1974, and each January 1 thereafter, deposit or cause to be deposited in trust with some bank or trust company organized 
and doing business under the laws of the United States of America or the State of New York and having capital surplus and 
undivided profits aggregating at least Ten Million Dollars ($10,000,000) and having its principal office in the Borough of 
Manhattan, The City of New York, an amount of money sufficient to redeem 20% of the shares of Series 2 Serial Preferred
Stock originally issued or outstanding on the sinking fund payment date, whichever is greater, at the redemption price stated in 
Section (3) of this Part C-III prevailing during the calendar year in which such sinking fund payment is required to be made.

 
(b) Moneys deposited in the sinking fund shall be applied on a pro rata basis to the redemption of shares 

of Series 2 Serial Preferred Stock during the calendar year in which such sinking fund payment is required to be made. Until 
so applied such moneys may, at the option of the Corporation, be invested in obligations issued or guaranteed by the United 
States Government.

 
(c) Any interest earned on moneys deposited in the sinking fund shall be paid to the Corporation free of 

any trust.
 

(5) Conversion. The shares of Series 2 Serial Preferred Stock shall not be convertible.
 

(6) Voting Powers. Each holder of shares of Series 2 Serial Preferred Stock shall be entitled to one vote on all 
matters for each share of such stock standing in his name on the books of the Corporation.

 
(7) Status of Unissued and Reacquired Shares. Shares of Series 2 Serial Preferred Stock redeemed or purchased 

or otherwise acquired by the Corporation and cancelled, shall have the status of authorized but unissued shares of such Series, 
but may not be reissued except as follows: by resolution adopted by the Board of Directors and certified as provided in Section 
(5) of Part C-I of this Article Sixth, such shares, and any other authorized but unissued shares of Series 2 Serial Preferred 
Stock, may be removed from the authorized shares of such Series and be authorized and issued as shares of any junior Series 
of Serial Preferred Stock.

 
(8) Exchanges for Junior Stock. Notwithstanding the provisions of Part C-I(3)(f) of this Article Sixth, the 

Corporation or a subsidiary may from time to time after February 4,  1988
(i) purchase, redeem or otherwise acquire shares of Series 2 Serial Preferred Stock or of any other Series of Serial Preferred 
Stock ranking as to dividends or assets equally with or junior to the Series 2 Serial Preferred Stock in exchange for shares of 
Common Stock or of any other class of stock of the Corporation ranking as to dividends or assets junior to the Series 2 Serial
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Preferred Stock (including shares of other Series of Serial Preferred Stock) and cash payments in lieu of fractional shares and 
(ii) make cash payments to the holders of shares of Series 2 Serial Preferred Stock ranking as to dividends or assets equally 
with or junior to the Series 2 Serial Preferred Stock who dissent to the amendments to the charter of the Corporation by which 
this Section (8) and similar Sections applicable to such other Series are added to the charter and who become entitled by law 
to receive payment from the Corporation of the fair value of such shares. Any exchanges permitted hereunder may be made 
pursuant to the conversion provisions applicable to such other Series, in voluntary transactions with the holders of any such 
Series of Serial Preferred Stock or pursuant to an amendment to the charter.

 
PART C-IV — SUBORDINATED SERIAL PREFERRED STOCK, SERIES 3

 
The third Series of Subordinated Serial Preferred Stock shall be known as “Subordinated Serial Preferred Stock, 

Series 3” (hereinafter referred to as “Series 3 Serial Preferred Stock”), shall consist of 40,449 shares, without nominal or par 
value, and shall have, in addition to the rights and preferences granted by law and by Part C-I of this Article Sixth, the 
following distinguishing characteristics, rights, privileges and immunities:

 
(1) Dividends. (a) Dividends shall be payable quarterly on the last days of January, April, July and October on 

each outstanding share of Series 3 Serial Preferred Stock at the annual rate of $4.75.
 

(b) The Series 3 Serial Preferred Stock shall be subordinate in right to dividends to Series 1 and Series 2 
Serial Preferred Stock but shall rank prior in right to dividends to any other Series of Serial Preferred Stock; therefore, no 
dividends shall be declared or paid on any outstanding share of any other Series of Serial Preferred Stock, other than Series 1 
and Series 2 Serial Preferred Stock, in respect of any dividend period unless there shall likewise be or have been declared on 
all shares of Series 3 Serial Preferred Stock at the time outstanding full cumulative dividends.

 
(c) Dividends with respect to shares of Series 3 Serial Preferred Stock shall be cumulative, whether or 

not earned, from and after December 1, 1968, so that if, for any previous or then current dividend period, dividends shall not 
have been paid, or declared and set apart for payment, upon all outstanding shares of Series 3 Serial Preferred Stock, the 
deficiency shall be fully paid, or declared and set apart for payment, before any dividends are paid or declared upon any 
subordinate Series of Serial Preferred Stock or upon the Cumulative Preferred Stock, the Employees’ Preferred Stock or the 
Common Stock. Accumulated dividends shall not bear interest. Whenever full cumulative dividends on all shares of Series 3 
Serial Preferred Stock for all previous dividend periods and for any then current period or periods shall have been paid, or 
declared and set apart for payment, the Board of Directors may declare dividends upon any subordinate Series of Serial 
Preferred Stock, the Cumulative Preferred Stock or the Common Stock, payable then or thereafter, and no holder of any shares 
of Series 3 Serial Preferred Stock shall be entitled to share therein by virtue of such holding.
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(2) Liquidation. (a) The amount payable with respect to shares of Series 3 Serial Preferred Stock upon voluntary 
or involuntary dissolution, liquidation or winding up of the Corporation shall be $100 per share plus an amount equal to all 
accumulated and unpaid dividends, if any, accrued to the date fixed for final distribution to the holders of shares of  Series 3 
Serial Preferred Stock, whether or not earned or declared.

 
(b) If, in the event of any such dissolution, liquidation or winding up, the assets of the Corporation are not 

sufficient to pay in full to the holders of shares of all Series of Serial Preferred Stock the respective amounts which shall have 
been fixed and determined with respect thereto, no payment shall be made to the holders of Series 3 Serial Preferred Stock 
unless and until all amounts payable to the holders of Series 1 and Series 2 Serial Preferred Stock have been discharged in full, 
and no payment shall be made to the holders of any other Series of Serial Preferred Stock, other than Series 1 and Series 2 
Serial Preferred Stock, unless and until all amounts payable to the holders of Series 3 Serial Preferred Stock have been 
discharged in full. After payment in full to the holders of shares of Series 3 Serial Preferred Stock of the amounts set forth in 
subsection (a) of this Section (2), no holder of such shares shall have any right or claim to any of the remaining assets of the 
Corporation by virtue of such holding, and the same shall be distributed among the holders of the Serial Preferred Stock of 
subordinate Series, the Cumulative Preferred Stock, the Employees’ Preferred Stock and the Common Stock according to their 
respective rights hereunder.

 
(3) Redemption. The Corporation may, subsequent to October 31,  1973,  at  the option of the Board of Directors, 

redeem the Series 3 Serial Preferred Stock or, from time to time, any part thereof at the redemption prices hereinafter set forth, 
plus in every case an amount equal to all accumulated and unpaid dividends accrued to the redemption date on the shares 
redeemed, whether or not earned or declared. The redemption price for each share of Series 3 Serial Preferred Stock redeemed, 
whether or not earned or declared. The redemption price for each share of Series 3 Serial Preferred Stock redeemed at the 
option of the Board of Directors shall be $105 if redeemed prior to November 1, 1974, $104  if  redeemed  subsequent  to  
October 31, 1974 and prior to November 1, 1975, $103 if redeemed subsequent to October 31, 1975 and prior to November 1, 
1976, $102 if redeemed subsequent to October 31, 1976 and prior to November 1, 1977, $101 if redeemed subsequent to 
October 31, 1977 and  prior  to  November 1, 1978, and $100 if redeemed subsequent to October 31, 1978.

 
(4) Conversion. At the option of the holder thereof, each share of Series 3 Serial Preferred Stock may be 

converted into 2.10526 fully paid and nonassessable shares of Common Stock of the Corporation. Such conversion ratio shall 
not be subject to adjustment except as provided in subsections (b) and (c) of Section (4) of Part C-I of this Article Sixth.

 
(5) Voting Powers. Each holder of shares of Series 3 Serial Preferred Stock shall be entitled to two votes on all

matters for each shares of such stock standing in his name on the books of the Corporation.
 

(6) Status of Unissued and Reacquired Shares. Shares of Series 3 Serial Preferred Stock  redeemed  or  
converted,  or  purchased  or  otherwise  acquired  by  the  Corporation and
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cancelled, shall have the status of authorized but unissued shares of such Series, but may not be reissued except as follows: by 
resolution adopted by the Board of Directors and certified as provided in Section (5) of Part C-I of this Article Sixth, such 
shares, and any other authorized but unissued shares of Series 3 Serial Preferred Stock, may be removed from the authorized 
shares of such Series and be authorized and issued as shares of any junior Series of Serial Preferred Stock.

 
(7) Exchanges for Junior Stock. Notwithstanding the provisions of Part C-I(3)(f) of this Article Sixth, the 

Corporation or a subsidiary may from time to time after February 4,  1988
(i) purchase, redeem or otherwise acquire shares of Series 3 Serial Preferred Stock or of any other Series of Serial Preferred 
Stock ranking as to dividends or assets equally with or junior to the Series 3 Serial Preferred Stock in exchange for shares of 
Common Stock or of any other class of stock of the Corporation ranking as to dividends or assets junior to the Series 3 Serial 
Preferred Stock (including shares of other Series of Serial Preferred Stock) and cash payments in lieu of fractional shares and 
(ii) make cash payments to the holders of shares of Series 3 Serial Preferred Stock and to the holders of shares of other Series 
of Serial Preferred Stock ranking as to dividends or assets equally with or junior to the Series 3 Serial Preferred Stock who 
dissent to the amendments to the charter of the Corporation by which this Section (7) and similar Sections applicable to such 
other Series are added to the charter and who become entitled by law to receive payment from the Corporation of the fair value 
of such shares. Any exchanges permitted hereunder may be made pursuant to the conversion provisions applicable to the 
Series 3 Serial Preferred Stock or such other Series, in voluntary transactions with the holders of any such Series of Serial 
Preferred Stock or pursuant to an amendment to the charter.

 
PART C-V — SUBORDINATED SERIAL PREFERRED STOCK, SERIES 4

 
The fourth Series of Subordinated Serial Preferred Stock shall be known  as “Subordinated Serial Preferred Stock, 

Series 4” (hereinafter referred to as “Series 4 Serial Preferred Stock”), shall consist of 53,764 shares, without nominal or par 
value, and shall have, in addition to the rights and preferences granted by law and by Part C-I of this Article Sixth, the 
following distinguishing characteristics, rights, privileges and immunities:

 
(1) Dividends. (a) Dividends shall be payable quarterly on the last days of January, April, July and October on 

each outstanding share of Series 4 Serial Preferred Stock at the annual rate of $4.75.
 

(b) The Series 4 Serial Preferred Stock shall be subordinate in right to dividends to Series 1, Series 2 
and Series 3 Serial Preferred Stock but shall rank prior in right to dividends to any other Series of Serial Preferred Stock; 
therefore, no dividends shall be declared or paid on any outstanding share of any other Series of Serial Preferred Stock, other 
than Series 1, Series 2 and Series 3 Serial Preferred Stock, in respect of any dividend period unless there shall likewise be or 
have been declared on all shares of Series 4 Serial Preferred Stock at the time outstanding full cumulative dividends.

 
(c) Dividends with respect to shares of Series 4 Serial Preferred Stock shall be cumulative, whether or 

not earned, from the date of issuance so that if, for any previous or  then
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current dividend period, dividends shall not have been paid, or declared and set apart for payment, upon all outstanding shares 
of Series 4 Serial Preferred Stock, the deficiency shall be fully paid, or declared and set apart for payment, before any 
dividends are paid or declared upon any subordinate Series of Serial Preferred Stock or upon the Cumulative Preferred Stock, 
the Employees’ Preferred Stock or the Common Stock. Accumulated dividends shall not bear interest. Whenever full 
cumulative dividends on all shares of Series 4 Serial Preferred Stock for all previous dividend periods and for any then current 
period or periods shall have been paid, or declared and set apart for payment, the Board of Directors may declare dividends 
upon any subordinate Series of Serial Preferred Stock, the Cumulative Preferred Stock or the Common Stock, payable then or 
thereafter, and no holder of any shares of Series 4 Serial Preferred Stock shall be entitled to share therein by virtue of such 
holding.

 
(2) Liquidation. (a) The amount payable with respect to shares of Series 4 Serial Preferred Stock upon voluntary 

or involuntary dissolution, liquidation or winding up of the Corporation shall be $100 per share plus an amount equal to all 
accumulated and unpaid dividends, if any, accrued to the date fixed for final distribution to the holders of shares of  Series 4 
Serial Preferred Stock, whether or not earned or declared.

 
(b)   If,  in the event of any such dissolution, liquidation or winding up, the    assets of the Corporation are not 

sufficient to pay in full to the holders of shares of all Series of Serial Preferred Stock the respective amounts which shall have 
been fixed and determined with respect thereto, no payment shall be made to the holders of Series 4 Serial Preferred Stock 
unless and until all amounts payable to the holders of Series 1, Series 2 and Series 3 Serial Preferred Stock have been 
discharged in full, and no payment shall be made to the holders of any other Series of Serial Preferred Stock, other than Series 
1, Series 2 and Series 3 Serial Preferred Stock, unless and until all amounts payable to the holders of Series 4 Serial Preferred 
Stock have been discharged in full. After payment in full to the holders of shares of Series 4 Serial Preferred Stock of the 
amounts set forth in subsection (a) of this Section (2), no holder of such shares shall have any right or claim to any of the 
remaining assets of the Corporation by virtue of such holding, and the same shall be distributed among the holders of the Serial 
Preferred Stock of subordinate Series, the Cumulative Preferred Stock, the Employees’ Preferred Stock and the Common 
Stock according to their respective rights hereunder.

 
(3) Redemption. The Corporation may, subsequent to June 30, 1977, at the option of the Board of Directors, 

redeem the Series 4 Serial Preferred Stock or, from time to time, any part thereof at the redemption prices hereinafter set forth, 
plus in every case an amount equal to all accumulated and unpaid dividends accrued to the redemption date on the shares 
redeemed, whether or not earned or declared. The redemption price for each share of Series 4 Serial Preferred Stock redeemed 
at the option of the Board of Directors shall be $104 if redeemed prior to July 1, 1978, $103 if redeemed subsequent to June 
30, 1978 and prior to July 1, 1979, $102 if redeemed subsequent to June 30, 1979 and prior to July 1, 1980, $101 if redeemed 
subsequent to June 30, 1980 and prior to July 1, 1981, and $100 if redeemed subsequent to June 30, 1981.

 
(4) Conversion. At the option of the holder thereof, each share of Series 4 Serial Preferred Stock may be 

converted into 1.6667 fully paid and nonassessable shares of   Common
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Stock of the Corporation on or before April 30, 1974, or into 1.5151 fully paid and nonassessable shares of Common Stock of 
the Corporation thereafter. Such conversion ratios shall not be subject to adjustment except as provided in subsections (b) and 
(c) of Section (4) of Part C-I of this Article Sixth.

 
(5) Voting Powers. Each holder of shares of Series 4 Serial Preferred Stock shall be entitled to one vote on all 

matters for each share of such stock standing in his name on the books of the Corporation.
 

(6) Status of Unissued and Reacquired Shares. Shares of Series 4 Serial Preferred Stock redeemed or 
converted, or purchased or otherwise acquired by the Corporation and cancelled, shall have the status of authorized but 
unissued shares of such Series, but may not be reissued except as follows: by resolution adopted by the Board and certified as 
provided in Section (5) of Part C-I of this Article Sixth, such shares, and any other authorized but unissued shares of Series 4 
Serial Preferred Stock, may be removed from the authorized shares of such Series and be authorized and issued as shares of 
any junior Series of Serial Preferred Stock.

 
(7) Exchanges for Junior Stock. Notwithstanding the provisions of Part C-I(3)(f) of this Article Sixth, the 

Corporation or a subsidiary may from time to time after February 4,  1988
(i) purchase, redeem or otherwise acquire shares of Series 4 Serial Preferred Stock or of any other Series of Serial Preferred 
Stock ranking as to dividends or assets equally with or junior to the Series 4 Serial Preferred Stock in exchange for shares of 
Common Stock or of any other class of stock of the Corporation ranking as to dividends or assets junior to the Series 4 Serial 
Preferred Stock (including shares of other Series of Serial Preferred Stock) and cash payments in lieu of fractional shares and 
(ii) make cash payments to the holders of shares of Series 4 Serial Preferred Stock and to the holders of shares of other Series 
of Serial Preferred Stock ranking as to dividends or assets equally with or junior to the Series 4 Serial Preferred Stock who 
dissent to the amendments to the charter of the Corporation by which this Section (7) and similar Sections applicable to such 
other Series are added to the charter and who become entitled by law to receive payment from the Corporation of the fair value 
of such shares. Any exchanges permitted hereunder may be made pursuant to the conversion provisions applicable to the 
Series 4 Serial Preferred Stock or such other Series, in voluntary transactions with the holders of any such Series of Serial 
Preferred Stock or pursuant to an amendment to the charter.

 
PART C-VI — SUBORDINATED SERIAL PREFERRED STOCK, SERIES 5

 
The fifth Series of Subordinated Serial Preferred Stock was known as “Subordinated Serial Preferred Stock, Series 5” 

(hereinafter referred to as “Series 5 Serial Preferred Stock”). There were 122,500 authorized shares of Series 5 Serial Preferred 
Stock. The 122,500 shares of Series 5 Serial Preferred Stock which were reacquired by the Corporation, cancelled and 
removed from the authorized shares of such Series may be authorized and issued as shares of any junior Series of Serial 
Preferred Stock by resolution adopted by the Board of Directors and certified as provided in Section (5) of Part C-I of this 
Article Sixth.
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PART C-VII — SUBORDINATED SERIAL PREFERRED STOCK, SERIES 6
 

The sixth Series of Subordinated Serial Preferred Stock shall be known as “Subordinated Serial Preferred Stock, 
Series 6” (hereinafter referred to as “Series 6 Serial Preferred Stock”), shall consist of 800,000 shares, without nominal or par 
value, and shall have, in addition to the rights and preferences granted by law and by Part C-I of this Article Sixth, the 
following characteristics, rights and preferences:

 
(1) Dividends. (a) Subject to the rights of the holders of any shares of any class or series of Preferred Stock (or 

any similar stock) ranking prior and superior to the Series 6 Serial Preferred Stock with respect to dividends, the holders of 
shares of Series 6 Serial Preferred Stock, in preference to the holders of the Cumulative Preferred Stock, the Employees’ 
Preferred Stock, the Common Stock and of any other junior stock, shall be entitled to receive, when, as and if declared by the 
Board of Directors out of funds legally available for the purpose, quarterly dividends payable in cash on the last days of 
January, April, July and October in each year (each such date being referred to herein as a “Quarterly Dividend Payment 
Date”), commencing on the first Quarterly Dividend Payment Date after the first issuance of a share of Series 6 Serial 
Preferred  Stock,  in  an  amount  per share (rounded  to  the nearest cent) equal to the greater of
(a) $1.00 or (b) subject to the provision for adjustment hereinafter set forth, 100 times the aggregate per share amount 
(payable in kind) of all non-cash dividends or other distributions, other than a dividend payable in shares of Common Stock or 
a subdivision of the outstanding shares of Common Stock (by reclassification or otherwise), declared on the Common Stock 
since the immediately preceding Quarterly Dividend Payment Date or, with respect to the first Quarterly Dividend Payment 
Date, since the first issuance of any share or fraction of a share of Series 6 Serial Preferred Stock. In the event the Corporation 
shall at any time declare or pay any dividend on the Common Stock payable in shares of Common Stock, or effect a 
subdivision or combination or consolidation of the outstanding shares of Common Stock (by reclassification or otherwise than
by payment of a dividend in shares of Common Stock) into a greater or lesser number of shares of Common Stock, then in 
each such case the amount to which holders of shares of Series 6 Serial Preferred Stock were entitled immediately prior to such 
event under clause (b) of the preceding sentence shall be adjusted by multiplying such amount by a fraction, the numerator of 
which is the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding immediately after such event and the denominator of which is the 
number of shares of Common Stock that were outstanding immediately prior to such event.

 
(b) The Corporation shall declare a dividend or distribution on the Series 6 Serial Preferred Stock as 

provided in paragraph (a) of this Section (1) immediately after it declares a dividend or distribution on the Common Stock 
(other than a dividend payable in  shares of Common Stock); provided that, in the event no dividend or distribution shall have 
been declared on the Common Stock during the period between any Quarterly Dividend Payment Date and the next 
subsequent Quarterly Dividend Payment Date, a dividend of $1.00 per share on the Series 6 Serial Preferred Stock shall 
nevertheless be payable on such subsequent Quarterly Dividend Payment Date.
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(c) Dividends shall begin to accrue and be cumulative on outstanding shares of Series 6 Serial Preferred 
Stock from the Quarterly Dividend Payment Date next preceding the date of issue of such shares, unless the date of issue of 
such shares is prior to the record date for the first Quarterly Dividend Payment Date, in which case dividends on such shares 
shall begin to accrue from the date of issue of such shares, or unless the date of issue is a Quarterly Dividend Payment Date or 
is a date after the record date for the determination of holders of shares of Series 6 Serial Preferred Stock entitled to receive a 
quarterly dividend and before such Quarterly Dividend Payment Date, in either of which events such dividends shall begin to 
accrue and be cumulative from such Quarterly Dividend Payment Date. Accrued but unpaid dividends shall not bear interest. 
Dividends paid on the shares of Series 6 Serial Preferred Stock in an amount less than the total amount of such dividends at 
the time accrued and payable on such shares shall be allocated pro rata on a share-by-share basis among all such shares at the 
time outstanding.  The Board of Directors may fix  a record date for the determination of holders of shares of  Series 6 Serial 
Preferred Stock entitled to receive payment of a dividend or distribution declared thereon, which record date shall be not more 
than 60 days prior to the date fixed for the payment thereof.

 
(2) Voting Rights. The holders of shares of Series 6 Serial Preferred Stock shall have the following voting rights:

 
(a) Subject to the provision for adjustment hereinafter set forth, each share of Series 6 Serial Preferred 

Stock shall entitle the holder thereof to 100 votes on all matters submitted to a vote of the shareholders of the Corporation. In 
the event the Corporation shall at any time declare or pay any dividend on the Common Stock payable in shares of Common 
Stock, or effect a subdivision or combination or consolidation of the outstanding shares of Common Stock (by reclassification 
or otherwise than by payment of a dividend in shares of Common Stock) into a greater or lesser number of shares of Common 
Stock, then in each such case the number of votes per share to which holders of shares of Series 6 Serial Preferred Stock were 
entitled immediately prior to such event shall be adjusted (to the nearest whole vote per share) by multiplying such number by 
a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding immediately after such event and the 
denominator of which is the number of shares of Common Stock that were outstanding immediately prior to such event.

 
(b) Except as otherwise provided herein, in any other Charter Amendment creating a series of preferred 

stock or any similar stock, or by law, the holders of shares of Series 6 Serial Preferred Stock and the holders of shares of 
Common Stock and any other capital stock of the Corporation having general voting rights shall vote together as one class on 
all matters submitted to a vote of shareholders of the Corporation.

 
(c) Except as set forth herein, or as otherwise provided by law, holders of Series 6 Serial Preferred Stock 

shall have no special voting rights and their consent shall not be required (except to the extent they are entitled to vote with 
holders of Common Stock as set forth herein) for taking any corporate action.
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(3) Certain Restrictions. (a) Whenever quarterly dividends or other dividends or distributions payable on the 
Series 6 Serial Preferred Stock as provided in Section (1) are in arrears, thereafter and until all accrued and unpaid dividends 
and distributions, whether or not declared, on shares of Series 6 Serial Preferred Stock outstanding shall have been paid in full, 
the Corporation shall not:

 
(i) declare or pay dividends, or make any other distributions, on any shares of stock ranking junior
(either as to dividends or upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up) to the Series 6 Serial Preferred Stock;

 
(ii) declare or pay any dividends, or make any other distributions, on any shares of stock ranking on a
parity (either as to dividends or upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up) with the Series 6 Serial Preferred 
Stock, except dividends paid ratably on the Series 6 Serial Preferred Stock and all such parity stock on which 
dividends are payable or in arrears in proportion to the total amounts to which the holders of all such shares 
are then entitled;

 
(iii) redeem or purchase or otherwise acquire for consideration shares of any stock ranking junior (either 
as to dividends or upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up) to the Series 6 Serial Preferred Stock, 
provided that the Corporation may at any time redeem, purchase or otherwise acquire shares of any such 
junior stock in exchange for shares of any stock of the Corporation ranking junior (both as to dividends and 
upon dissolution, liquidation or winding up) to the Series 6 Serial Preferred Stock; or

 
(iv) redeem or purchase or otherwise acquire for consideration any shares of Series 6 Serial Preferred 
Stock, or any shares of stock ranking on a parity with the Series 6 Serial Preferred Stock, except in 
accordance with a purchase offer made in writing or by publication (as determined by the Board of Directors) 
to all holders of such shares upon such terms as the Board of Directors, after consideration of the respective 
annual dividend rates and other relative rights and preferences of the respective series and classes, shall 
determine in good faith will result in fair and equitable treatment among the respective series or classes.

 
(b) The Corporation shall not permit any subsidiary of the Corporation to purchase or otherwise acquire for 

consideration any shares of stock of the Corporation, unless the Corporation could, under paragraph (a) of this Section (3), 
purchase or otherwise acquire such shares at such time and in such manner.

 
(4) Reacquired Shares. Any shares of Series 6 Serial Preferred Stock purchased or otherwise acquired by the 

Corporation in any manner whatsoever shall be retired and cancelled promptly after the acquisition thereof. All such shares 
shall upon their cancellation become authorized but unissued shares of Subordinated Serial Preferred Stock and may be 
reissued as part of a new series of Subordinated Serial Preferred Stock, subject to the conditions and restrictions on issuance 
set forth herein, in the Charter or in any amendment thereto creating a
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series of Subordinated Serial Preferred Stock or any similar stock or as otherwise required by law.
 

(5) Liquidation. Upon any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Corporation, no distribution shall be 
made (i) to the holders of shares of stock ranking junior (either as to dividends or upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up) 
to the Series 6 Serial Preferred Stock, unless prior thereto the holders of shares of Series 6 Serial Preferred Stock shall have   
received
$100 per share, plus an amount equal to accrued and unpaid dividends and distributions thereon, whether or not declared, to 
the date of such payment, provided that the holders of shares of Series 6 Serial Preferred Stock shall be entitled to receive an 
aggregate amount per share, subject to the provision for adjustment hereinafter set forth, equal to 100 times the aggregate 
amount to be distributed per share to holders of shares of Common Stock, or (ii) to the holders of shares of stock ranking on a 
parity (either as to dividends or upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up) with the Series 6 Serial Preferred Stock, except 
distributions made ratably on the Series 6 Serial Preferred Stock and all such parity stock in proportion to the total amounts to 
which the holders of all such shares are entitled upon such liquidation, dissolution or winding up. In the event the Corporation 
shall at any time declare or pay any dividend on the Common Stock payable in shares of Common Stock, or effect a 
subdivision or combination or consolidation of the outstanding shares of Common Stock (by reclassification or otherwise than 
by payment of a dividend in shares of Common Stock) into a greater or lesser number of shares of Common Stock, then in 
each such case the aggregate amount per share determined under clause (i) of the preceding sentence immediately prior to such 
event shall be adjusted by multiplying such amount by a fraction the numerator of which is the number of shares of Common 
Stock outstanding immediately after such event and the denominator of which is the number of shares of Common Stock that 
were outstanding immediately prior to such event.

 
(6) Consolidation, Merger, etc. In case the Corporation shall enter into any consolidation, merger, share 

exchange, combination or other transaction in which the shares of Common Stock are exchanged for or changed into other 
stock or securities, cash and/or any other property, then in any such case each share of Series 6 Serial Preferred Stock shall at 
the same time be similarly exchanged or changed into shares of such other stock or securities, cash and/or other property 
having a value per share, subject to the provision for adjustment hereinafter set forth, equal to 100 times the aggregate value of 
stock, securities, cash and/or any other property (payable in kind), as the case may be, into which or for which each share of 
Common Stock is exchanged or changed. In the event the Corporation shall at any time declare  or  pay any dividend on the 
Common Stock payable in shares of Common Stock, or effect a subdivision or combination or consolidation of the outstanding 
shares of Common Stock (by reclassification or otherwise than by payment of a dividend in shares of Common Stock) into a 
greater or lesser number of shares of Common Stock, then in each such case the number 100 set forth in the preceding sentence 
(as adjusted, if applicable) shall be adjusted by multiplying such number (or adjusted number) by a fraction, the numerator of 
which is the number of shares of Common Stock outstanding immediately after such event and the denominator of which is the 
number of shares of Common Stock that were outstanding immediately prior to such event.
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(7) No Redemption or Conversion. The shares of Series 6 Serial Preferred Stock shall not be redeemable or 
convertible.

 
(8) Relative Rights and Preferences. The Series 6 Serial Preferred Stock  ranks junior to the Series 1, 3 and 4 

Serial Preferred Stock and senior to all other series of Serial Preferred Stock, as to dividends and upon liquidation, dissolution 
or winding up.

 
PART D — SUBORDINATED CUMULATIVE PREFERRED STOCK

 
(1) Dividends. The holders of shares of Cumulative Preferred Stock shall be entitled, before any dividends are 

declared or paid on the Common Stock, but subject to the prior rights of the Convertible Preferred Stock, the Subordinated 
Preference Stock of each Series and the Serial Preferred Stock of each Series to dividends and to the sinking fund or purchase 
fund provisions with respect thereto, to receive dividends, when and as declared by the Board of Directors, at an annual rate 
per share equal to 45% of the average consolidated earnings per share of the Common Stock of the Corporation for the
preceding two fiscal years as shown in the annual stockholders report of the Corporation as published in each such year, but in 
no event less   than
$1.50 per share per annum; provided, however, that in the event that the Corporation shall, after December 1, 1967, (i) issue
shares of Common Stock as a stock dividend, in a stock split or otherwise subdivide its outstanding shares of Common Stock 
or (ii) combine its outstanding shares of Common Stock into a smaller number of shares, the annual dividend rate per share of 
Cumulative Preferred Stock shall be based upon the consolidated earnings per share of Common Stock of the Corporation 
which would have been outstanding had such subdivision or combination not taken place. Such dividends shall be payable 
quarterly commencing on the last day of the first quarter of each fiscal year and shall be cumulative from the first day of the 
fiscal quarter in which issued.

 
Dividends with respect to Cumulative Preferred Stock shall be cumulative, so that if, for any previous or then 

current dividend period, dividends shall not have been paid, or declared and set apart for payment, upon all outstanding shares 
of Cumulative Preferred Stock at the rate determined as hereinbefore set forth, the deficiency shall be fully paid, or declared 
and set apart for payment, before any dividends are paid or declared upon the Common Stock. Accumulated  dividends  shall  
not bear interest. Whenever  full  cumulative  dividends on the Cumulative Preferred Stock for all previous dividend periods 
and for any then current period or periods shall have been paid, or declared and set apart for payment, the Board of Directors 
may declare dividends upon the Common Stock, payable then or thereafter, and no holder of any shares of Cumulative 
Preferred Stock, as such, shall be entitled to share therein.

 
(2) Liquidation. Upon any dissolution, liquidation or winding up of the Corporation, the holders of Cumulative 

Preferred Stock shall be entitled to be paid from the assets (whether capital or surplus) of the Corporation, before any payment 
or distribution shall be made to the holders of the Employees’ Preferred Stock or the Common Stock, but subject to and after 
prior payment of the amounts payable with respect to the Convertible Preferred Stock, the Subordinated Preference Stock and 
the Serial Preferred Stock, an amount per share equal to 88 time the average quarterly per share dividend paid on the Common 
Stock of the Corporation for
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the previous eight quarters, but in no event less than $30 per share; provided, however, that in  the event that the Corporation 
shall, after December 1, 1967 (i) issue shares of Common Stock as a stock dividend, in a stock split, or otherwise subdivide its 
outstanding shares of Common Stock or (ii) combine its outstanding shares of Common Stock into a smaller number of shares, 
the amount payable shall be based upon the aggregate dividends paid on the Common Stock for such periods divided by the 
number of shares of Common Stock which would have been outstanding had such subdivision or combination not taken place; 
plus in every case an amount equal to all accumulated and unpaid dividends accrued to the date fixed for the final distribution 
to such holders, whether or not earned or declared.

 
After payment in full of all amounts payable to the holders of the Cumulative Preferred Stock, such

shareholders, as such, shall have no right or claim to any of the remaining assets of the Corporation, and the same shall be 
distributed among the holders of the Employees’ Preferred Stock and the Common Stock in accordance with their respective 
rights hereunder.

 
(3) Redemption. At the option of the Board of Directors, the Corporation, subject to the restrictions set forth in 

this Section (3), may at any time redeem the Cumulative Preferred Stock, or any part thereof, at a price equal to the amount 
payable on liquidation; provided, however, that any redemption hereunder shall be made only on a dividend payment date, and 
provided further that no less than 30 nor more than 60 days prior to the date fixed for redemption, a notice specifying the time 
and place of redemption and the redemption price shall be given to the holders of record of the shares to be redeemed by 
publication of such notice in one newspaper published and of general circulation in the City of Nashville, Tennessee, and in 
one newspaper published and of general circulation in the Borough of Manhattan, City and State of New York, and by mailing 
such notice to such holders at their addresses, if any, as the same appear upon the stock registry books.

 
If less than all outstanding shares of Cumulative Preferred Stock are to be redeemed, the shares to be 

redeemed may be selected by the Board of Directors by lot or in any other manner which the Board of Directors in its 
unrestricted discretion may determine to be fair, and in such case the notice of redemption mailed as aforesaid shall inform 
each registered holder of shares called for redemption of the total number or proportion of shares registered in his name that 
have been called for redemption, but the notice of redemption to be published as aforesaid need not contain such information.

 
From and after the redemption date, unless default is made in the payment of the redemption price when due, 

the shares so called for redemption shall cease to be outstanding and the holders thereof shall cease to be stockholders with 
respect to such shares and shall have no interest in or claim against the Corporation with respect to such shares other than to 
receive the redemption price on and after the date fixed for redemption without interest thereon, upon surrender of their 
certificates with endorsement thereof if required.

 
At any time after notice of redemption shall have been given as hereinabove provided, the Corporation may 

deposit or cause to be deposited in trust, to be applied to the redemption of the shares of Cumulative Preferred Stock so called 
for redemption, with some
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bank or trust company organized and doing business under the laws of the United States of America or the State of New York 
and having capital surplus and undivided profits aggregating at least Ten Million Dollars ($10,000,000), and having its 
principal office in the City of Nashville, Tennessee or the Borough of Manhattan, the City and State of New York, the 
aggregate amount to be paid on redemption to the holders of the shares so to be redeemed upon surrender of the certificates 
for such shares. In case any holder of shares of  Cumulative Preferred Stock which shall have been called for redemption shall 
not, within six (6) years after such deposit, have claimed the amount deposited with respect to the redemption thereof, such 
bank or trust company, upon demand, shall pay over to the Corporation such unclaimed amount and shall thereupon be 
relieved of all responsibility in respect thereof to such holder, and such holder shall look only to the Corporation for the 
payment thereof. Any interest accrued on funds so deposited shall be paid to the Corporation from time to time.

 
If at any time the Corporation shall have failed to pay dividends in full on all shares of Cumulative Preferred 

Stock, each Series of Subordinated Preference Stock, each Series of Serial Preferred Stock, and Convertible Preferred Stock 
and each other class of stock of the Corporation ranking as to dividends or assets prior to or equally with the Cumulative 
Preferred Stock, or shall be in default in respect of its obligations under any sinking fund or purchase or redemption account 
for the purchase or redemption of any such senior or pari passu stock, then and until all arrearages of such dividends for all 
preceding dividend periods and for any current dividend period or periods shall have been paid, or declared and set apart for 
payment, and all defaults under such sinking funds or purchase or redemption accounts shall have been remedied, neither the 
Corporation nor any subsidiary shall purchase or redeem, or otherwise acquire for value any shares of Cumulative Preferred 
Stock or any class of stock of the Corporation ranking as to dividends or assets equally with or junior to the Cumulative 
Preferred Stock, and the Corporation shall not declare or pay any dividend or make any other distribution on any shares of 
such junior stock.

 
(4) Voting Powers. Each holder of Cumulative Preferred Stock shall be entitled to one vote for each share of 

such stock standing in his name on the books of the Corporation.
 

(5) Reduction of Capital. Without limiting the generality of Article Eighth of the Certificate of Incorporation, 
the Board of Directors is expressly authorized from time to time to effect the reduction of the capital of the Corporation by 
redeeming or purchasing and retiring all or any outstanding shares of Cumulative Preferred Stock pursuant to any provisions 
of this Article Sixth or any amendment thereto.

 
PART E — EMPLOYEES’ SUBORDINATED CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK

 
(1) Dividends. No holder of shares of Employees’ Preferred Stock shall be entitled to receive dividends by virtue 

of such holding.
 

(2) Liquidation. Upon any dissolution, liquidation or winding up of the Corporation, the holders of Employees’ 
Preferred Stock shall be entitled to be paid from the assets (whether capital or surplus) of the Corporation, before any payment 
or distribution shall be made to the
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holders of the Common Stock, but subject to and after prior payment of the amounts payable with respect to the Convertible 
Preferred Stock, Subordinated Preference Stock of each Series, Serial Preferred Stock of each Series and Cumulative Preferred 
Stock, an amount per share equal to 88 times the average quarterly per share dividend paid on the Common Stock of the 
Corporation for the previous eight quarters, but in no event less than $30 per share; provided, however, that in the event that the 
Corporation shall, after December 1, 1967 (i) issue shares of Common Stock as a stock dividend, in a stock split, or otherwise 
subdivide its outstanding shares of Common Stock; or (ii) combine its outstanding shares of Common Stock into a smaller 
number of shares, the amount payable shall be based upon the aggregate dividends paid on the Common Stock divided by the 
number of shares of Common Stock which would have been outstanding had such subdivision or combination not taken place.

 
After payment in full of all amounts payable to the holders of the Employees’ Preferred Stock, such 

shareholders, as such, shall have no right or claim to any of the remaining assets of the Corporation, and the same shall be 
distributed among the holders of the Common Stock.

 
(3) Redemption. No shares of Employees’ Preferred Stock shall be subject to redemption by the Corporation.

 
(4) Voting Rights. Each holder of Employees’ Preferred Stock shall be entitled to one vote for each share of 

such stock standing in his name on the books of the Corporation.
 

(5) Conversion. (a) At the option of the holder thereof, each share of Employees’ Preferred Stock may be 
converted into one fully paid and nonassessable share of either (i) the Cumulative Preferred Stock, or (ii) the Common Stock 
of the Corporation. Such option to convert may be exercised at any time, provided, however, that in the event that any share of 
Employees’ Preferred Stock shall be issued partly paid, such share shall not be convertible into either Cumulative Preferred 
Stock or Common Stock until it is fully paid.

 
(b) No adjustment will be made to the conversion ratio on account of subsequent issuances of securities 

except that, if the Corporation shall, after December 1,   1967
(i) issue shares of Common Stock as a stock dividend, in a stock split, or otherwise subdivide its outstanding shares of
Common Stock; or (ii) combine its outstanding shares of Common Stock into a smaller number of shares, the conversion ratio 
for Common Stock shall be immediately proportionally adjusted so that the holder of any share of Employees’ Preferred Stock 
thereafter surrendered for conversion into Common Stock in accordance with this Section (5) shall be entitled to receive the 
number of shares of Common Stock which he would have owned or had been entitled to receive after the happening of the 
events described above, had such share of Employees’ Preferred Stock been converted into Common Stock immediately prior 
to such event. Such adjustments shall become effective immediately after the close of business on the record date of or for any 
such event.

 
(c) In the event of any capital reorganization or reclassification of the Cumulative Preferred Stock or the 

Common Stock of the Corporation (except those for which
 
 
-47-



provision is made pursuant to subsection (b)), or the consolidation or merger of the Corporation into or with another 
corporation, or the sale, conveyance, lease or other transfer by the Corporation of all or substantially all of its property to any 
other corporation, pursuant to which the then outstanding shares of Cumulative Preferred Stock or of Common Stock become 
exchangeable for other shares of stock or securities or cash or other property, the holders of the Employees’ Preferred Stock 
shall have the right thereafter to convert such shares into the kind and amount of shares of stock, other securities, cash or 
property receivable upon such reorganization, reclassification, consolidation, merger or transfer by a holder of the number of 
shares of Common Stock or Cumulative Preferred Stock of the Corporation into which such shares might have been converted 
immediately prior to such reorganization, reclassification, consolidation, merger or transfer, at the conversion ratio in effect 
immediately preceding such reorganization, reclassification, consolidation, merger or transfer. The above provisions of this 
subsection (c) shall similarly apply to successive reorganizations, reclassifications, consolidations, mergers or transfers.

 
(d) Such option to convert may be exercised by surrendering to the Corporation for such purpose at its principal 

office or at its transfer agency, if any, for the Employees’ Preferred Stock in the City of Nashville, Tennessee, or in the 
Borough of Manhattan, City and State of New York, the certificates for the shares of such Employees’ Preferred Stock so to be 
converted properly endorsed in blank or accompanied by proper instruments of assignment. Upon the conversion of any share 
of Employees’ Preferred Stock into Common Stock, no adjustment shall be made for dividends payable to holders of Common 
Stock of record prior to the date of surrender for conversion. Shares shall be deemed to have been converted immediately prior 
to the close of business on the day of surrender of said shares for conversion, and the person entitled to receive the Cumulative 
Preferred Stock or the Common Stock (as the case may be) issuable upon such conversion shall be treated for all purposes as 
the record holder of such Cumulative Preferred Stock or Common Stock (as the case may be) at such time.

 
(e) No fractional shares or scrip representing fractional shares shall be issued upon conversion of any share of 

Employees’ Preferred Stock. If the conversion of any share of Employees’ Preferred Stock would otherwise result in a 
fractional share of Cumulative Preferred Stock or Common Stock (as the case may be), equitable adjustment will be made, in 
such manner as may be determined by the Board of Directors, in lieu of the issuance thereof. The Corporation shall at all times 
reserve and keep available, free from preemptive rights, out of its authorized but unissued Cumulative Preferred Stock and 
Common Stock, for the purpose of effecting the conversion of the shares of Employees’ Preferred Stock, the full number of 
shares of Cumulative Preferred Stock and Common Stock, respectively, then deliverable upon conversion of all shares of
Employees’ Preferred Stock then outstanding. The Corporation covenants that all shares of Cumulative Preferred Stock or of 
Common Stock issued upon conversion of Employees’ Preferred Stock will, upon issue, be legally issued and will be fully 
paid and nonassessable by the Corporation and that the Corporation will take no action which will reduce the conversion price 
below the then stated value of the Cumulative Preferred Stock or the then par value of the Common Stock.
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(f) In case (i) the Corporation shall declare a dividend or other distribution on its Cumulative Preferred Stock or 
on its Common Stock payable otherwise than in cash out of its earned surplus, or (ii) the Corporation shall authorize the 
granting to the holders of its Cumulative Preferred Stock of or its Common Stock of rights to subscribe for or purchase any 
shares of capital stock of any class or of any other rights, or (iii) of any reclassification of the capital stock of the Corporation 
(other than a subdivision or combination of its outstanding shares of Common Stock) or of any consolidation or merger to 
which the Corporation is a party and for which approval of any stockholders of the Corporation is required or of the sale or 
transfer of the property and assets of the Corporation as an entirety or substantially as an entirety, or (iv) of any voluntary or 
involuntary dissolution, liquidation or winding up of the Corporation, then the Corporation shall mail or cause to be mailed to 
the holders of record of the Employees’ Preferred Stock at least twenty days (or ten days in any case specified in clause (i) or 
clause (ii) above) prior to the applicable record date hereinafter specified, a notice stating the date on which a record is to be 
taken for the purpose of such dividend, distribution or rights or, if a record is not to be taken, the date as of which the holders of 
Cumulative Preferred Stock or of Common Stock of record to be entitled to such dividend, distribution or rights are to be 
determined, or the date on which such reclassification, consolidation, merger, sale, transfer, dissolution, liquidation or winding 
up is expected to become effective and the date as of which it is expected that holders of Cumulative Preferred Stock or of 
Common Stock of record shall be entitled to exchange their shares of the Cumulative Preferred Stock or of the Common Stock 
for securities or other property deliverable thereupon.

 
PART F — COMMON STOCK

 
None of the shares of Common Stock shall be entitled to any preference and each share of Common Stock shall be 

equal to every other share of said stock in every respect.
 

Each holder of Common Stock shall be entitled to one vote for each share of such stock standing in his name on the 
books of the Corporation.

 
After payment, or declaration and setting aside for payment, of the full cumulative dividends for all prior and then 

current dividend periods on all outstanding shares of Convertible Preferred Stock, Subordinated Preference Stock of each 
Series, Serial Preferred Stock of each Series, and Cumulative Preferred Stock and after setting aside all stock purchase funds 
or sinking funds required to be set aside with respect to the Convertible Preferred Stock, Subordinated Preference Stock of 
each Series, and Serial Preferred Stock of each Series, dividends on the Common Stock may be declared and paid (subject to 
the provisions of this Article Sixth) but only when and as determined by the Board of Directors.

 
On any dissolution, liquidation or winding up of the Corporation, after there shall have been paid to, or set aside for, 

the holders of all outstanding shares of Convertible Preferred Stock, Subordinated Preference Stock of each Series, Serial 
Preferred Stock of each Series, Cumulative Preferred Stock, and Employees’ Preferred Stock the full preferential amounts to 
which  they are  respectively entitled,  the  holders  of  the  Common  Stock  shall  be  entitled to
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receive, pro rata, all the remaining assets of the Corporation available for distribution to the stockholders.
 

SEVENTH: The Corporation will not commence business until consideration of One Thousand Dollars ($1,000) has 
been received for the issuance of shares.

 
EIGHTH: The Board of Directors of the Corporation shall be expressly authorized to reduce the capital stock of the 

Corporation within their discretion, from time to time, in such manner as may be provided by law.
 

NINTH: The shareholder vote required to approve Business Combinations (as hereinafter defined) shall be as set 
forth in this Article Ninth.

 
(1) Voting Requirement. In addition to any affirmative vote required by law or any other Article of this charter, 

and except as otherwise expressly provided in Section (2) of this Article Ninth, any Business Combination shall require an 
affirmative vote at least equal to the sum of (i) the votes entitled to be cast by the holders of shares of Voting Stock (as defined 
herein) which are Beneficially Owned (as defined herein) by the Interested Shareholder (as defined herein); plus (ii) sixty-
seven percent (67%) of the votes entitled to be cast by all other holders of Voting Stock, voting together as a single class at a 
meeting of shareholders called for such purpose. Such affirmative vote shall be required notwithstanding the fact that a vote 
would not otherwise be required, or that a lesser percentage may be specified, by law or in any agreement with any national 
securities exchange or otherwise.

 
(2) When Voting Requirement Not Applicable. The provisions of Section (1) of this Article Ninth shall not be 

applicable to (i) a Business Combination that does not involve cash or other consideration being received by the shareholders 
of the Corporation solely in their capacities as shareholders, if such Business Combination shall have been approved by a 

majority of the Disinterested Directors (as defined herein) or (ii) any other Business Combination, if such Business 
Combination shall have been approved by a majority of the Disinterested Directors or all of the following conditions specified 

in subsections (2.1), (2.2) and (2.3) shall have been met:
 

(2.1) Fair Prices. The aggregate amount per share of the cash and the Fair  Market Value (as defined herein), 
as of a date not more than forty-five (45) days prior to the consummation of the Business Combination, of the consideration 
other than cash to be received in such Business Combination by holders of shares of the respective classes and series of 
outstanding capital stock of the Corporation shall be at least equal to the highest of the following:

 
(a) If applicable, the highest per share price (including brokerage commissions, transfer taxes and soliciting
dealers’ fees and adjusted for any subsequent stock dividends, split, combinations, recapitalizations, reclassifications 
or such reorganizations) paid to acquire any shares of such respective classes and series Beneficially Owned by the 
Interested Shareholder during the Pre-announcement Period (as defined herein);
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(b) The highest per share price (including brokerage commissions, transfer taxes and soliciting dealers’ fees and 
adjusted for any subsequent stock dividends, splits, combinations, recapitalizations, reclassifications or other such 
reorganizations) paid to acquire any shares of such respective classes and series Beneficially Owned by the Interested 
Shareholder in the transaction in which the Interested Shareholder became an Interested Shareholder;

 
(c) The Fair Market Value per share of such respective classes and series on the Announcement Date (as defined 
herein);

 
(d) The Fair Market Value per share of such respective classes and series of the Determination Date (as defined 
herein);

 
(e) If applicable, the Fair Market Value per share determined pursuant to subsection (2.1)(c) or (2.1)(d), 
whichever is higher, multiplied by the ratio of (i) the highest price per share (including any brokerage commissions, 
transfer taxes or soliciting dealers’ fees and adjusted for any subsequent stock dividends, splits, combinations, 
recapitalizations, reclassifications or other such reorganizations) paid to acquire any shares of such respective classes 
and series Beneficially Owned by the Interested Shareholder within the Pre-announcement Period to (ii) the Fair 
Market Value per share (adjusted for any subsequent stock dividends, splits, combinations, recapitalizations, 
reclassifications or other such reorganizations) of shares of such respective classes and series on the first day in the 
Pre-announcement Period on which such shares Beneficially Owned by the Interested Shareholders were acquired; or

 
(f) The amount per share of any preferential payment to which holders of shares of such respective classes and 
series are entitled in the event of a liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Corporation.

 
(2.2) Form of Consideration. The consideration to be received by holders of  each particular class and series 

of outstanding capital stock of the Corporation in a Business Combination shall be (i) in cash or (ii) if the majority of the 
shares of any particular class or series of the capital stock of the Corporation Beneficially Owned by the Interested 
Shareholder shall have been acquired for a consideration in a form other than cash, in the same form of consideration used to 
acquire the largest number of shares of such class or series previously acquired and Beneficially Owned by the Interested 
Shareholder.

 
(2.3) Other Requirements. After such Interested Shareholder has become an Interested Shareholder and prior 

to the consummation of such Business Combination, except as approved by a majority of the Disinterested Directors, there 
shall have been:

 
(a) No failure to declare and pay in full, when and as due, any dividends on any class or series of Preferred Stock 
(as defined herein) (whether cumulative or not) except on any class or series of Preferred Stock as to which dividends 
were in arrears on the Determination Date;
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(b) No reducation in the quarterly rate of any dividends on the Corporation’s Common Stock below the dividends 
paid during the dividend quarter of the Corporation ended immediately prior to the Determination Date, except any 
reduction in dividends necessary to fairly reflect any stock dividend, split, recapitalization, reclassification or other 
such reorganization;

 
(c) No failure to increase the quarterly rate of any dividends per share paid on the Corporation’s Common Stock 
to fairly reflect any stock combination, recapitalization, reclassification or such other reorganization which has the 
effect of reducing the number of outstanding shares of Common Stock;

 
(d) No increase in the number of shares of the capital stock of the Corporation Beneficially Owned by the 
Interested Shareholder, except (i) as a part of the transaction that resulted in the Interested Shareholder becoming an 
Interested Shareholder or (ii) to consummate the Business Combination in compliance with the provisions of this 
Article Ninth;

 
(e) No loans, advances, guarantees, pledges or other financial assistance or tax credits or other tax advantages 
provided by the Corporation or its subsidiaries for the benefit, directly or indirectly, of the Interested Shareholder, 
whether in anticipation of or in connection with such Business Combination or otherwise;

 
(f) No material change in the Corporation’s business or capital structure effected, directly or indirectly, by the 
Interested Shareholder; and

 
(g) A proxy or information statement mailed at least thirty (30) days prior to the completion of the Business 
Combination to all the holders of Voting Stock (whether or not shareholder approval of the Business Combination is 
required), which proxy or information statement shall (i) describe the Business Combination, (ii) include in a 
prominent place the recommendations, if any, of a majority of the Disinterested Directors as to the advisability or 
inadvisability of the Business Combination, (iii) if deemed advisable by a majority of the Disinterested Directors, 
include an opinion of a reputable investment banking firm or other expert as to the fairness or unfairness of the terms 
of the Business Combination from the point of view of the shareholders other than the Interested Shareholder (such 
investment banking firm to be selected by a majority of the Disinterested Directors and to be paid a reasonable fee for 
their services by the Corporation upon receipt of such opinion), and (iv) be responsive to the pertinent provisions of 
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules and regulations thereunder, or any laws supplementing 
or superseding such Act, rules and regulations, whether or not such proxy or information statement is required by law 
to be furnished to any holders of Voting Stock.

 

(3) Definitions.   The  following definitions  shall  apply for  purposes  of this Article
Ninth:
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(3.1) “Business Combination” means any of the transactions described below:
 

(a) Any merger or consolidation of the Corporation or any Subsidiary (as defined herein) with (i) any Interested 
Shareholder or (ii) any corporation (whether or not itself an Interested Shareholder) which is, or after such merger or 
consolidation would be, an Affiliate (as defined herein) of an Interested Shareholder;

 
(b) Any sale, lease, exchange, mortgage, pledge, transfer or other disposition, in one transaction or a series of 
transactions, (i) to or with any Interested Shareholder or any Affiliate of any Interested Shareholder of any assets 
(including securities) of the Corporation or any Subsidiary having an aggregate Fair Market Value of $1,000,000 or 
more or (ii) to or with the Corporation or any Subsidiary of any assets (including securities) of any Interested 
Shareholder or any Affiliate of an Interested Shareholder having an aggregate Fair Market Value of $1,000,000 or 
more;

 
(c) The issuance or transfer by the Corporation or any Subsidiary in one transaction or a series of transactions, of 
any securities of the Corporation or any Subsidiary to an Interested Shareholder or an Affiliate of any Interested 
Shareholder in exchange for cash, securities or other property, or a combination thereof, having an aggregate Fair 
Market Value of $1,000,000 or more;

 
(d) The adoption of any plan or proposal for the liquidation or dissolution of the Corporation proposed by or on 
behalf of an Interested Shareholder or any Affiliate of any Interested Shareholder;

 
(e) Any reclassification of securities or any recapitalization or reorganization of the Corporation, or any merger 
or consolidation of the Corporation with any of its Subsidiaries or any other similar transaction (whether or not with 
or into or otherwise involving an Interested Shareholder) which has the effect, directly or indirectly, of increasing the 
proportionate share of the outstanding shares of any class of equity securities of the Corporation or any Subsidiary 
(including securities convertible into equity securities) which is directly or indirectly owned by any Interested 
Shareholder or any Affiliate of any Interested Shareholder;

 
(f) Any other transaction or series of transactions that is similar in purpose or effect to those referred to in (a) 
through (e) of this subsection (3.1).

 
(3.2) “Voting Stock” means the Common Stock and those classes of Preferred Stock which would then be 

entitled to vote in the election of directors.
 

(3.3) “Beneficially Owned,” with respect to any securities, means the right or power (directly or indirectly 
through any contract, understanding or relationship) (i) to vote or direct the voting of such securities, (ii) to dispose or direct
the disposition of such securities,   or
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(iii) to acquire such voting or investment power whether such right or power is exercisable immediately or only after the 
passage of time.

 
(3.4)  “Interested Shareholder” means any Person (as herein defined) or member of a Group of Persons (as 

defined herein) who or which, together with any Affiliate or Associate (as herein defined) of such Person or member, 
Beneficially Owns (within the meaning of subsection (3.3) above) ten percent or more of the outstanding Voting Stock of the 
Corporation.

 
(3.5) “Person” means any individual, firm, corporation, partnership,  joint  venture or other entity.

 
(3.6) “Group of Persons” means any two or more Persons who or which are acting or have agreed to act 

together for the purpose of acquiring, holding, voting or disposing of any Voting Stock of the Corporation.
 

(3.7) “Disinterested Director” means any member of the Board of Directors of the Corporation who is not an 
Affiliate or Associate of the Interested Shareholder and who
(i) was a member of the Board of Directors prior to the time the Interested Shareholder became an Interested Shareholder or 
(ii) was elected or recommended to succeed a Disinterested Director by a majority of the Disinterested Directors then on the 
Board of Directors.

 
(3.8) “Fair Market Value” means:  (i) in the case of stock, the highest closing  sale price during the 30-day 

period immediately preceding the date in question of a share of such stock on the Composite Tape for New York Stock 
Exchange-Listed Stocks, or, if such stock is not quoted on the Composite Tape, on the New York Stock Exchange, or, if such 
stock is not listed on such Exchange, on the principal United States securities exchange registered under the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934 on which such stock is listed, or, if such stock is not listed on any such exchange, the highest closing 
bid quotation with respect to a share of such stock during the 30-day period preceding the date in question on the National 
Association of Securities Dealers, Inc., Automated Quotations System or any system then in use, or if no such quotations are 
available, the fair market value on the date in question of a share of such stock as determined by a majority of the 
Disinterested Directors in good faith; and (ii) in the case of property other than cash or stock, the fair market value of such 
property on the date in question as determined by a majority of the Disinterested Directors in good faith.

 
(3.9)  “Pre-announcement  Period”  means  the  two-year  period  ending   at 11:59 p.m., New York City time, 

on the Announcement Date.
 

(3.10) “Announcement Date” means the date of the first public announcement of the proposal of the Business 
Combination.

 
(3.11) “Determination Date” means the date on which the Interested Shareholder becomes an Interested 

Shareholder.
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(3.12) “Subsidiary” means any corporation of which a majority of any class of equity security is owned, 
directly or indirectly, by the Corporation.

 
(3.13) “Affiliate,” used to indicate a relationship with a specified Person, means another Person that directly, 

or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, controls, or is controlled by, or is under common control with, such specified 
Person.

 
(3.14) “Associate,” used to indicate a relationship with a specified Person, means

(i) any corporation or other similar organization (other than the Corporation or a Subsidiary) of which such specified 
Person is an officer or partner or is, directly or indirectly, the beneficial owner of ten percent or more of any class of equity 
securities, (ii) any trust or estate in which such specified Person has a substantial beneficial interest or as to which such 
specified Person serves as trustee or in a similar fiduciary capacity, and (iii) any relative or spouse of such specified Person, or 
any relative of such spouse who has the same home as such Person.

 
(3.15) “Preferred Stock” means all classes or series of the Corporation’s capital stock other than Common 

Stock.
 

(4) Powers of Disinterested Directors. A majority of the Disinterested Directors of the Corporation shall have 
the power and duty to determine, on the basis of information known to them after reasonable inquiry, all facts necessary to 
determine compliance with this Article Ninth, including without limitation (i) whether a Person is an Interested Shareholder, 
(ii) the number of shares of Voting Stock beneficially owned by any Person, (iii) whether a Person is an Affiliate or Associate 
of another, (iv) whether the requirements of Section 2 have been met with respect to any Business Combination, and (v) 
whether the assets which are the subject of any Business Combination have, or the consideration to be received for the 
issuance or transfer of securities by the Corporation or any Subsidiary in any Business Combination has, an aggregate Fair 
Market Value of $1,000,000 or more. The good faith determination of a majority of the Disinterested Directors on such matters 
shall be conclusive and binding for all purposes of this Article Ninth.

 
(5) No Effect on Preferential Rights. The provisions of this Article Ninth shall not affect in any way the amount 

or form of consideration that any holder of shares of the Corporation’s capital stock is entitled to receive upon the liquidation 
or dissolution of the Corporation or any other preferential rights of the holders of such shares.

 
(6) No Effect on Fiduciary Obligations of Interested Shareholders. Nothing contained in this Article Ninth 

shall be construed to relieve the Board of Directors of the Corporation or any Interested Shareholder from any fiduciary 
obligation imposed by law.

 
(7) Amendment or Repeal. In addition to any affirmative vote required by law, an affirmative vote at least equal 

to the sum of (i) the votes entitled to be cast by the holders of shares  of  Voting  Stock  which  are  Beneficially  owned  by  
any  Interested  Shareholder plus
(ii) sixty-seven percent (67%) of the votes entitled to be  cast  by all other holders of Voting Stock, voting together as a 
single class at a meeting of shareholders called for such purpose, shall
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be required to amend or repeal, or adopt any charter provisions inconsistent with, this Article Ninth. Such affirmative 
vote shall be required notwithstanding the fact that no vote may be required, or that a lesser percentage may be 
specified, by law or in any agreement with any national securities exchange or otherwise.

 
TENTH: No director of  the  Corporation  shall  be  personally  liable  to  the Corporation or its shareholders 

for monetary damages for breach of fiduciary duty as a director, except to the extent provided by the Tennessee 
Business Corporation Act as in effect from time to time. This Article shall not eliminate or limit the liability of a 
director for any act or omission occurring prior to the effective date of its adoption.

 
Any repeal or modification of the provisions of this Article Tenth, by the shareholders of the 

Corporation directly or by the adoption of an inconsistent provision of this charter, shall not adversely affect any right 
or protection of a director of the Corporation existing at the time of such repeal or modification.

 
ELEVENTH: Except as otherwise provided herein, each nominee for director shall be elected by the 

affirmative vote of a majority of the votes cast by the holders of Voting Stock with respect to the director at any 
meeting of shareholders for the election of directors at which a quorum is present, provided that if, as of the record date 
for a meeting of shareholders at which directors are to be elected, the election is contested (as such term is defined in 
the Corporation’s bylaws, as may be amended, restated or modified therein from time to time in accordance with such 
bylaws), the directors shall be elected by a plurality of the votes cast in person or by proxy at the meeting at which a 
quorum is present. For purposes of this Article Eleventh, a majority of the votes cast means that the number of shares 
voted “for” a nominee exceeds the shares voted “against” that nominee; abstentions and broker non-votes shall not be 
deemed to be votes cast for purposes of tabulating the vote.

 

PART II:
 

FIRST: The original    charter was filed by the Secretary of State on July 7, 1925, and the reincorporation 
charter was filed by the Secretary of State on October 19, 1934.

 
SECOND: The charter was previously restated by action of the Board of Directors on January 11, 1984 (the 

“1984 Restated Charter”).
 

THIRD: This restated charter incorporates all amendments since the 1984 Restated Charter and makes further 
amendments not requiring shareholder approval. This restatement was duly adopted at a meeting of the Board of 
Directors on April 24, 1991.

 
Dated: April 30, 1991

 
 

Genesco Inc.
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/s/ William C. O’Connor
 
By William C. O’Connor Secretary
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Exhibit 31.1
 

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Mimi E. Vaughn, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Genesco Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the 
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the 
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in 
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for 
the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to 
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, 
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our 
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes 
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the 
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent 
fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the 
registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the 
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably 
likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control 
over financial reporting.

Date: December 8, 2022
 

/s/ Mimi E. Vaughn
Mimi E. Vaughn
Chief Executive Officer

 



Exhibit 31.2
 

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Thomas A. George, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Genesco Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the 
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the 
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in 
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for 
the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to 
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, 
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our 
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes 
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the 
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent 
fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the 
registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the 
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably 
likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control 
over financial reporting.

Date: December 8, 2022
 

/s/ Thomas A. George
Thomas A. George
Senior Vice President - Finance and Chief Financial Officer

 



 
Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Genesco Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ending October 29, 2022, as filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Mimi E. Vaughn, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 
18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 

/s/ Mimi E. Vaughn
Mimi E. Vaughn
Chief Executive Officer
December 8, 2022

 



 
Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Genesco Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ending October 29, 2022 as filed with the Securities 
and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Thomas A. George, Senior Vice President - Finance and Chief Financial Officer of the 
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 

/s/ Thomas A. George
Thomas A. George
Senior Vice President - Finance and Chief Financial Officer
December 8, 2022

 




